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LUMINEX CORPORATION
12212 Technology Boulevard
Austin, Texas 78727

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
To Be Held May 25, 2006

Luminex Corporation (the “Company’”) will hold its 2006 annual meeting of stockholders (the “Meeting™)
on Thursday, May 25, 2006, at 12:00 p.m., local time, at the Hilton Austin Airport Hotel, 9515 New Airport Drive,
Austin, Texas 78719. At the Meeting, stockholders will act on the following matters:

(1) election of four members to the Board of Directors to serve for three-year terms as Class 111 Directors
(designated as Proposal 1 in the accompanying proxy statement);

(2) approval of the Company’s 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (designated as Proposal 2 in the accompanying
proxy statermnent);

(3) approval of the Company’s 2006 Management Stock Purchase Plan (designated as Proposal 3 in the
accompanying proxy statement);

(4) ratification of the appointment by the Company’s Audit Committee of Emnst & Young LLP as the
Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal 2006 (designated as Proposal 4 in
the accompanying proxy statement); and

(5) such other business as may properly come before the Meeting or any adjournment or postponement
thereof.

The Board of Directors has fixed the close of business on April 6, 2006, as the record date for the
determination of stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at the Meeting or any adjournment or postponement
thereof. A complete list of such stockholders will be available for examination at our offices in Austin, Texas,
during normal business hours for a period of ten days prior to the Meeting.

Your attention is directed to the proxy statement accompanying this notice for a more complete statement
regarding the matters to be acted upon at the Meeting. Our annual report to stockholders is being mailed with this
notice and proxy statement, but it is not part of the proxy solicitation materials. All stockholders are cordially
invited to attend the Meeting. However, stockholders are urged, whether or not they plan to attend the
Meeting, to either sign, date and mail the enclosed proxy in the postage-paid envelope provided, or to vote by
telephone or electronically pursuant to the instructions included with the proxy.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

QaslBlts

David S. Reiter
Vice President, General
Counsel and Corporate Secretary

Austin, Texas
April 24, 2006




LUMINEX CORPORATION
12212 Technology Boulevard
Austm Texas 78727

PROXY STATEMENT

For Annual Meetmg of Stockholders
To Be Held May 25 2006

This proxy statement is bemg fumrshed to the stockho]ders of Luminex Corporatron (the “Company,”
“Luminex,” “we” or “us”) in connection with the solicitation by the Board of Directors of proxies for use at the 2006
annual meeting of stockhol‘ders (the “Meeting”) to be held at the time'and place and for the purposes set forth in the
accompanying notice, and at any and all adjournments or postponemients theréof. The approximate date of mailing

of this proxy statement and the accompanymg proxy card 18 Aprr] 24 2006
Votmg Procedures General lnformatlon

Proposa]s 1, 2 3-and 4 will be presented by management at the Meetmg With regard to Proposal 1, the
form of proxy permits votes for or withholding of votes'as to all nominees for director or for withholding votes for
any specific nominee, and permits-votes for, against, or-abstention with regard to Proposal 2, 3 and 4. If the
enclosed form of proxy is properly executed, returned, and not revoked, it will be voted in accordance with the
specifications, if any; made by the stockholder and, if specifications are not made, will be voted FOR the nominees
named in this proxy statement to the Company’s Board of Directors; FOR the approval of the Company’s 2006
Equity Incentive Plan, FOR the approval of the:Company’s Management Stock Purchase Plan and FOR the
ratification of the appointment of Emst & Yourg LLP as the Company S mdependent regrstered public accountmg '
firm for fiscal 2006.

If your shares are held by your broker or other nomiriee, often réferred to'as in “street name;” you will
receive a form from your broker seeking instructions as to how your shares should be voted. If you are a registered
stockholder you may vote by telephone or electronically through the:Internet by following the instructions included
with your proxy card. If your shares are held in street name, you should contact your broker or nominee to
determine whether you will be able to vote by telephone or electromcally If your shares are held in street name and
you do not issue instructions to your broker, your broker, under the rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market, may vote
your shares in its discretion on “routine” matters, but may not vote your shares on “non-routine” matters. The
election of directors and the ratification of Emst & Young LLP a5 our independent registered public accounting firm
for fiscal 2006 (Proposals 1 and 4) are deemed routine matters. Therefore, your broker has discretionary authority to
vote your shares on such matters absent specific instructions from you. If your broker turns in a proxy card
expressly stating that the broker is not voting on a non-routine matter “(Proposa]s 2 or 3) as a result of your failure to
prov1de specrﬁc instructions, such action is referred toasa “broker non-vote.”

It is not expected that any matter not referred to herein will be presented for action at the Meeting. If any
other matters are properly brought before the Meeting, including, wlthout limitation, a motion to adjourn the
Meeting to another time-and/or place for the purpose of, among other things, permmmg dissemination of
information regarding material developrients relating to any-of the Proposals, or sollcrtmg additional proxies in’
favor of the approval of any of the Proposals, the persons named on the accompanying proxy card will vote the
shares represented by such proxy upon such matters in their discretion. Should the Meeting be reconvened, all
proxies will be voted in the same manner as such proxies would have been voted when the Meetmg was originally
convened, except for the prOXICS effectrvely revoked or wrthdrawn prior to the time proxres are voted at such
reconvened meeting. :

Any stockholder giving a proxy may revoke it at any time before it is voted by communicating such
revocation in writing to our Corporate Secretary at the address indicated above, by executing and delivering a later-
dated proxy or by voting in person at the Meeting,.




Quorum; Required Votes and Recommendations

Our only outstanding voting security is our common stock. Holders of record of common stock at the close
of business on April 6, 2006, the record date for the Meeting, are entitled to notice of and to vote at the Meeting. On
the record date for the Meeting, there were 31,946,185 shares of common stock outstanding and entitled to vote at

the Meeting. In deciding all matters, a holder of common stock on the record date shall be entitled to cast one vote
for each share of common stock then registered in such holder’s name. .

The holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock as of the record date
must be present in person, or be represented by proxy to constitute a quorum and act upon the proposed business.
Failure of a quorum to be. repreSPnted at the Meeting will necessitate an adjournment or postponement and will
subject the Company to additional expense.. Votes withheld from any nominee for director, abstentions and broker
non-votes are counted as present or represented for purposes of determining the presence or absence of a quorum.

Proposal 1 discussed in this Proxy Statement requires the affirmative vote of a plurality of the votes cast at
the Meeting. Accordingly, the four nominees receiving.the highest number of affirmative votes of the shares present
or represented and entitled to vote at the Meeting shall be elected as directors. Proposals 2, 3 and 4 require the
affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares represented at the Meeting and entitled to vote
thereon. Votes will be counted by the Company s transfer agent. Under Delaware law, neither abstentions nor
broker non-votes are counted as voting “for” or “against” a particular matter. However, while abstentions and
broker non-votes are included in the number of shares present or represented at the Meeting, broker non-votes are
not considered entitled to vote: Accordingly, for purposes of Proposals 2, 3 and 4, broker fion-votes have the effect
of reducmg the number of affirmative votes required to achieve a majority of the shares present and entitled to vote
for such matter by reducing the total number-of shares from which such majority is calculated. On the other hand,
abstentions will have the same effect as a vote cast against Proposal 2, 3 or 4. Abstentions, withhold votes and
broker non-votes will have no effect on the outcome of Proposal 1.

The Board.of Directors recommends that you vote:

¢ FOR the Class III Director nominees named in this proxy statement;
* FOR the approval of the Company s 2006 Eqmty Incentive Plan;
 FOR the approval of the Company’s Management Stock Purchase Plan; and

¢ FORthe ratlﬁcatlon of the appomtment of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s independent
registered public accounting firm for fiscal 2006.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

We believe that effective corporate governance is critical to our long-term health and ability to create value
for our stockholders. During 2005, we continued to review our corporate governance policies and practices, as well
as related provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, current and proposed rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission, and the corporate governance requirements of The Nasdaq Stock Market. Based on this assessment,
we recently adopted comprehensive corporate governance guidelines, including meaningful stock ownership and
retention guidelines, that can be viewed at the “Investor Relations” section of our website at www.luminexcorp.com.
Our Board of Directors believes that we have in place appropriate charters, policies, procedures and contrals which
promote and enhance corporate governance, accountability and responsibility with respect to the Company and a
culture of honesty and integrity. We will continue to monitor emerging developments and best practices in
corporate governance and augment these charters, policies, procedures and controls when required or when our
Board determines it would benefit the Company and our stockholders.




Director Independence

The Board of Directors has determined that each of the following directors is an “independent director”
under the applicable rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market, and that such persons do not otherwise have any
relationship that, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, would interfere with the exercise of such person’s
independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director:

Robert J. Cresci Jim D. Kever
Fred C. Goad, Jr. Jay B. Johnston
Gerard Vaillant Kevin M. McNamara

J. Stark Thompsen

Director Qualifications

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee may consider whatever factors it deems
appropriate in its assessment of a candidate for board membership; however candidates nominated to serve as
directors will, at a minimum, in the committee’s judgment:

* be able to represent the interests of the Company and all of its stockholders and not be disposed by
affiliation or interest to favor any individual, group or class of stockholders or other constituency; and

e possess the background and demonstrated ability to contribute to the Board’s performance of its collective
responsibilities, through senior executive management experience, relevant professional or academic
distinction, and/or a record of relevant civic and community leadership.

The consideration of a candidate for director will include the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee’s assessment of the individual’s background, skills and abilities, and whether such characteristics fulfill
the needs of the Board of Directors at that time. As part of the Nommatmg and Corporate Governance Committee’s
consideration of a candidate, the committee also believes that the candidate must:

»  be of high ethical character and share the core values of Luminex as reflected in our Code of Compliance;

»  have a reputation, both personal and professional, consistent with the image and reputation of Luminex;

e behighly accomphshed in the candldate s field;

be an active or former chief executive officer of a public company or a blotechnology company Or an active
or former leader of another complex organization;

e otherwise have relevant expertise and experience, and be able to offer advice and guidance to the chief
executive officer based on that expertise and experience; or

¢ have the ability to exercise sound business judgment.

Process for Identifying Candidates

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee may utilize a variety of methods for identifying
nominees for director. Candidates may come to the attention of the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee through current Board members, professional search firms, stockholders or other persons. The
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee considers nominees proposed by the Company’s stockholders in
accordance with the provisions contained in our bylaws. Pursuant to the our bylaws, any stockholder may nominate
a person for election to our Board of Directors, provided that the nomination is received by the Secretary of the
Company not less than 30 days nor more than 90 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s Meeting.
Each nomination submitted in this manner shall include the name and address of the nominee(s) and all other
information with respect to the nominee as required to be disclosed in the proxy statement for the election of
directors under applicable rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, including the nominee’s consent to
being named as a nominee and to serving as a director, if elected. Additionally, the nominating stockholder must

provide his or her name and address as it appears in the stock records of the Company and the number of shares of
common stock beneficially owned by the stockholder.




Evaluation of Candidates

The chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will preliminarily asséess a candtdate ]
qualifications and suitability, working with' management support and seeking board input, and report such
assessment to the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee mémbers: When feasible, the chair'of the *
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will interview candidates whom the chair believes are likely to
meet the critenia for board membership as part of the preliminary assessment process. The report may be made to
the Nominating and Corporate Governance Commlttee at a meeting of the committee or informally to each
committee member between meetings.

If it is the consensus of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee that a candidate is likely to
meet the criteria for board membership, the chair of the committee will advise the candidate of the committee’s
preliminary inferest and, if the candidate expresses sufficient interest, with the assistance of the Corporate
Secretary’s office, will arrange interviews of the candidate with one or more members of the committee, and request
such additional information from the candidate as the committee deems appropriate. The Nominatin.g’and Corporate
Govemance Committee will consider the candidate’s qualifications, background; skills and abilities, and whether .
such characteristics fulfill the needs of the board at that time, and conferand reach a collective assessment as to thé:
qualifications and suitability of the candidate for board membership. .

If the Nomiriating and Corporate Governance Committee determines that the candidate is suitable and
meets the criteria for beard membership, the candidate will be invited to:meet with senior management of the
Company and other members of the Board of Directors, both to allow the candidate to obtain further information
about the Company and to give management and the other directors a basis for input to the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee regarding the candidate. On the basis of its assessment, and taking into
consideration input from other Board members and senior management the Nommatmg and Corporate Governance
Committee will formally cons;der whether to recommend the cand:date s nommatlon for election to the Board of
Directors. :

Corporate Governance Guidelines

The Company has recently adopted corporate governance guidelines, the current version of which may be
viewed at the Investor Relations section of our website at www.luminexcorp.com. These guidelines reflect our
commitment to a system of govemance which enhances corporate responsnblhty and accountabxhty

kCode of Comphance

We have a Code of Comphance that apphes to all of the Company s employees, officers and directors. The
purpose of our Code of Compliance is to provide written standards that are reasonably designed to deter wrongdoing
and to promote honest and ethical conduct; full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclesure in reports and
documents that the Company files with the Securities and Exchange Commission and other public communications
by the Company; compliance with applicable governmental {aws, rules and regulations; prompt internal reporting of
violations of the Code of Compliance; and accountability for adherence to the Code of Compliance. Each director,
officer and employee is required to read and certify that he or she has read, understands and will comply with the
Code of Compliance. . .

Under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the Securities and Exchange Commission’s related rules, the-
Company is required to disclose whether it has adopted a code of ethics that applies to the Company’s principal
executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller or persons performing similar
functions. The Nasdaq Stock Market rules require the Company to adopt a “code of conduct” applicable to the
Company’s directors, officers and employees that meets the Securities and Exchange Commission’s definition of
“code of ethics.” Our Code of Compliance meets the Securities and Exchange Commission’s definition of “code of
ethics.” The Company’s employees, including our Chief Executive Officer and senior financial officers, are bound
by our Code of Compliance. ‘ .

A copy of our Code of Compliance can be obtained from the Investor Relations section of our website at
www.luminexcorp.com. We intend to disclose amendments to, or waivers from, the Code of Compliance (to the
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extent applicable to our directors, Chief Executive Officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or
persons performing similar functions) on.our website.

Communications with Members of the Board

Our Board of Directors has established procedures for the Company’s stockholders to communicate with
members of the Board of Directors. Stockholders may communicate with any of the Company’s directors, including
the.chairperson of any of the committees of the Board of Directors or the presiding director, if any, by writing to a
director care of Corporate Secretary, Luminex Corporation, 12212 Technology Boulevard, Austin, Texas 78727.
Appropriate communications will be forwarded to such director(s) by the Corporate Secretary.

Communications expressing concerns or complaints relating to accounting matters, internal disclosure
controls or controls over financial reporting, or auditing matters are handled in accordance with procedures
established by the Audit Committee, inchuding, without limitation, a dedicated hot line and émail address. Under’
those procedures, concerns having to do with accounting matters, internal disclosure controls or controls over
financial reporting, or auditing matters are presented by the Company’s compliance officer to the Audit Committee
for consideration and, if appropriate, corrective action. The Company’s compliance officer maintains a log of
correspondence addressed to directors and provides periodic summary reports thereof for the Audit Committee.

Board Member Attendance at Annual Meeting of Stockholders

The Company strongly encourages each member of the Board of Directors to attend each annual meeting of
stockholders. Accordingly, we expect most, if not all, of the Company’s directors to be in attendance at the
Meeting, All of our directors attended the 2005 annual meetmg of stockholders.

Meetings and Committees of the Board of Directors

. The Board of Directors and its committees meet periodically during the ‘year as deemed appropriate.
During 2003, the Board of Directors met five times. No director attended fewer than 75% of all the 2005 meetmgs
of the Board of Directors and its committees on which he served.

The Board of Directors currently has four standing committees: Audit Committee, Compensation
Committee, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and Executive Committee. It is the policy of the -~
Board and each committee to periodically review its performance and the effectiveness of its charter and pohmes as
applicable.

The Audit Committee, which met nine times in 2005, currently consists of Mr. Kever, who serves as
Chairman, Mr. Cresci and Mr. Johnston. The Board of Directors has determined that each member of the Audit-
Committee meets the heightened independence requirements of the applicable rules of the The Nasdaq Stock Market
and has a basic understanding of finance and accounting and is able to read and understand fundamental financial -
statements. The Board of Directors has further determined that Jim D. Kever is an “audit committee-financial
expert” as such term is defined in-Item401(h) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the Securities and Exchange
Commission. The Audit Committee’s primary duties and responsibilities are to oversee the Company’ s":'ic'counting
and financial reporting processes and audits of the Company’s financial statements; oversee the integrity of the
Company’s systems of internal controls regarding finance, accounting and legal compliance, including the oversxght
of the Company’s internal audit function; oversee the independence and performance of the Company’s independent
registered public accounting firm; pre-approve all audit and permitted non-aundit services to be performed by such
firm; and provide an averue of free and open communication among the independent registered public accountants,
management and the Board of Directors. It is the function of the Audit Committee to help ensure the Company’s
financial statements accurately reflect the Company’s financial position and results of operations. In addition, the
Audit Committee, following its review of the audited financial statements, is charged with recommending the
audited financial statements to the Board of Directors for inclusion in the Company’s annual reports. The Audit
Committee operates pursuant to the terms of a Charter adopted by the Board of Directors (as amended to date, the
“Restated Audit Committee Charter™). A copy of the Restated Audit Committee Charter. is available on.the Investor
Relations section of the Company’s website at www. ]ummexcorp com. Additional information regarding the
purpose and functions OfIhC'Alldlt Committee is set forth in the “Report of the Audit Committee” provided below.




The Compensation Committee, which met four times in 2005, currently consists of Mr. Goad, who serves
as Chairman, Mr. Kever and Mr. Vaillant. The Board of Directors has determined that each member of the
Compensation Committee 1s independent for purposes of the applicable rules of the The Nasdaq Stock Market, the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the Intemal Revenue Service. The Compensation Committee’s function
is to establish and apply our compensation policies to assure that the executive officers, directors and other officers
and key employees are compensated in a manner consistent with the compensation policies adopted by the
Compensation Committee, competitive practice and the requirements of the appropriate regulatory bodiés. The - -
Compensation Committee also administers our equity incentive plans. A copy of the Charter of the Compensation
Commuttee is available on the Investor Relations section of the Company’s website at www.luminexcorp.com.
Additional information regarding the functions performed by the Compensation Committee and the determination of
management compensation is included in the “Report of the Compensation Committee” provided below.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, which met four times in 2005, currently consists
of Mr. Cresci, who serves as Chairman, and Mr. Kever. The Board of Directors has determined that each member of
the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is independent as that term is.defined by the applicable rules
of the The Nasdaq Stock Market. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee provides assistance to the
Board of Directors in identifying and recommending individuals qualified to serve as directors of the Company,
reviews the composition of the Board of Directors, periodically evaluates the performance of the Board of Directors
and its committees, and reviews and recommends corporate governance policies for the Company. A copy of the
Charter of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is available on the Investor Relations section of
the Company’s website at www.luminexcorp.com.

The Executive Committee, which met four times in 2005, currently consists of Mr. Erickson, who serves as
Chairman, Mr. Loewenbaum and Mr. Balthrop. The Executive Committee’s function is to act on behalf of the
Board of Directors as a whole, to the extent delegated to the committee and otherwise permitted by law.

Generally, an executive session of non-employee directors 1s held in conjunction with each regularty
scheduled Board meeting and other times as deemed appropriate. The executive sessions are generaily led by Mr.
Loewenbaum or the presiding director. At least two meetings per year are also held by solely our independent
directors, led by the presiding director. The presiding director is the then chair of the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee (currently Mr. Cresci), as further described in our corporate governance guidelines.

Scientific Advisory Board

The Scientific Advisory Board (the “Advisory Board”) was created in 2005 to, among other
responsibilities, provide strategic advice regarding the Company’s research and development efforts and to evaluate
and provide new scientific and technological perspectives relating to the current and future application of the
Company’s technologies. Our former director, Dr. C. Thomas Caskey, was the initial member of the Advisory
Board and the Advisory Board also includes Dr. Ronald Bowsher, Dr. Andrea Ferreira-Gonzalez, Dr. Thomas Joos
and Dr. Gary Procop. Dr. James Jacobson also serves on the Advisory Board as a management representative. It is
expected that each member of our Advisory Board will be qualified and experienced in the markets and/or industries
in which our products are or may be utilized and, with the exception of Dr. Jacobson or a successor management
representative, are neither employees nor directors of our Company. Additionally, the Company may invite
members of our Board of Directors to serve on the Advisory Board in their capacity as members of our Board of
Directors in order to help oversee and direct the Advisory Board and help communicate the Advisory Board’s
conclusions and recommendations to our Board of Directors. The Advisory Board operates at the discretion of the
Board of Directors.

Compensation of Directors

The compensation policy for our non-employee directors for 2005 was as follows:

Each non-employee board member (other than the Chairman of the Board) serving on the Board of
Directors after the 2005 annual stockholder meeting was paid an annual retainer of $18,000 (payable quarterly in
arrears). -Each member of the Audit Committee (other than the Chair) received an additional annual retainer of
$10,000 (payable quarterly in arrears). The Chairman of the Board of Directors was paid a monthly retainer of
$10,000. The Chairs of the Audit Committee and Executive Committee of the Board of Directors were paid an
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additional annual retainer of $20,000 (payable quarterly in arrears). The Chairs of the Compensation and
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees of the Board of Directors were paid an additional annual
retainer of $10,000 (payable quarterly in arrears).

Each non-employee board member additionally received the following fees for attendance at Board and
committee meetings, as applicable: (i) $2,000 for each board meeting attended in person or via telephone; (ii) $500
for each committee mecting (other than an Audit Committee or Executive Committee meeting) attended in person or
via telephone, to the extent not held in conjunction with a full Board meeting; and (i1i) $1,000 for each Audit
Committee meeting attended n person or via telephone, to the extent not held in conjunction with a full Board
meeting.

Non-employee board members received annual restricted stock grants as follows. Each Board member
(other than the Chairman of the Board, the Audit Committee members and the Chair of the Executive Committee)
received an annual grant of 4,500 shares of restricted common stock. The Chairman of the Board received an annual
grant of 18,000 shares of restricted common stock. Each Audit Committee Member (other than the Chair) received
an annual grant of 6,500 shares of restricted common stock. The Chair of the Audit Committee received an annual
grant of 8,500 shares of restricted common stock. The Chair of the Executive Committee received an annual grant
of 8,500 shares of restricted common stock. The restricted shares were issued pursuant and subject to the terms of
the Company’s 2000 Long-Term Incentive Plan arid the form of award agreement previously filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission and vest one year from the date of grant. Messrs. Johnston and Vaillant each
also received, prior to the adoption of our 2005 non-employee director compensation policy and in accordance with
our 2004 policy, an initial option grant of 15,000 shares upon their initial election to the Board in February 2005,
which options vested over the one year period from the date of grant.

Qur directors who are also employees received no additional compensation for their services as a director
for 2005. The foregoing compensation for our non-employee directors will continue to apply for 2006.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During 2005, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors consisted of Mr. Goad, who serves as
Chairman, Mr. Kever and Mr. Vaillant, none of whom has ever been an officer or employee of the Company or its
subsidiaries. No interlocking relationship exists between any officer, member of our Board of Directors or the
Compensation Committee and any officer, member of the Board of Directors or compensation commlttee of any
other company, nor has such an mterlockmg relationship existed in the past.

PROPOSAL 1 - ELECTION OF CLASS 111 DIRECTORS

The number of directors on our Board of Directors is currently fixed at ten. Our certificate of incorporation
divides our Board of Directors intd three classes which serve staggered three-year terms: The terms of the Class |,
Class II and Class 111 directors will expire upon the election and qualification of directors at the annual meeting of
staockholders to be held in 2007, 2008 and 2006, respectively.

Currently, our Board of Directors is composed of three Class I directors (consisting of Robert J. Cresci,
Thomas W. Erickson and Gerard Vaillant), three Class 11 directors (consisting of Fred C. Goad, Jr., Jim D. Kever
and Jay B. Johnston) and four Class III directors (consisting of Patrick J. Balthrop, Sr., G. Walter Loewenbaum 11, J.
Stark Thompson, and Kevin M. McNamara). The Company’s Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee,
in conjunction with management and the full Board of Directors, intends to evaluate new independent candidates
from time to time in accordance with its established procedures and policies.’

" At the Meeting, the stockholders will elect four Class I1I*'directors. Each of these directors is to serve a
three-year term until the 2009 annual meeting of stockholders and until a successor is elected and qualified or until
the director’s earlier resignation or removal. The Board of Directors and its Nominating and Corporate Governance
Commiittee, pursuant to and consistent with the nomination procedures described below, have nominated Messrs.
Balthrop, Loewenbaum, McNamara and Thompson for election as Class 111 directors. 't is the intention of the
persons named in the proxy to vote the proxies for the election of the aforementioned nominees. Proxies may not be
voted for persons other than those, or for more persons than, named in the proxy. If any nominee shouid be



unwilling or become unavailable to serve as a director for any réason, the persons narned as proxies reserve full
discretion to vote for such other person or-persons as may be properly nominated. The Board of Directors has no
reason to believe that any of the nominees will be unable or unwilling to serve-as a director if elected.

. Certain information about the nominees for the Board of Dlrectors and those dlrectors whose terms do not
explre at the Meeting, is fumlshed below

Class Il[ Director Nominees

Patrick J. Baithrop, Sr., age 49. Mr. Balthrop has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer
since May 2004 and has served as a member of the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee since
September 2004. Prior to joining us, he was employed by Fisher Sc1ent1ﬁc International Inc. where, since 2002, he
served as President of Fisher Healthcare, a Fisher Scientific company. Prior to Fisher Scientific Intematlonal

‘Balthrop served in a number of leadership positions for over 20 years with Abbott Laboratories, primarily in

Abbott's Diagnostics Division. Balthrop's most recent positions at Abbott were as head of worldwide commercral
diagnostics operations and as head of Abbott Vascular. His experience at Abbott and Fischer included sales,, . .
marketing, manufacturing operations, international expérience, research and development and senior management
Balthrop holds an MBA from the Kellogg Graduate School of Management of Northwestern University, and a B.S.
in B1ology from Sprmg Hill College '

G. Walter Loewenbaum II, age 61. Mr. Loewenbaum has served as a member of the Board of Dlrectors
since May 1995 and as Chairman of the Board of Directors since September 2002. He served as Vice Chairman of
the Board of Directors from April 1998 until January 2000. Since mid-2001, Mr. Loewenbaum has provided advice
and assistance to our senior management team on a regular basis with respect to financial and strategic. matters and
general business operations of the Company Mr. Loewenbaum currently serves as President and Chief Executive-
Officer of Finetooth Corp. Additionally, since July 1999, he has served as a Member of LeCorgne Loewenbaum &
Co., LLC, an investment banking firm. From April 1990 uatil June 1999, he served as the President, Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of Loewenbaum & Company, Inc., an investment management company.

. Mr. Loewenbaum also has served as Chairman of the Board of Directors of 3D Systems. Corporanon since

September 1999. He received a B.A. from the University of North Carolina.

Kevin M. McNamara age 50. Mr McNamara has served :as a member of the Board of Directors since May
2003. In addition, he provided financial and strategic consulting services to the Company from October 2001
through December 2002. Mr. McNamara has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
HealthSpring, Inc., a managed care company focused on Medicare Advantage, since April 2005. Mr. McNamara
also served as non-executive chairman from April 2005 through January 2006 of ProxyMed, Inc., a provider of
automated healthcare business and cost containment solutions for financial, administrative and clinical transactions
in the healthcare payments marketplace, and served as interim chief executive officer of ProxyMed, Inc. from
December 2004 through:June.2005. Mr, McNamara previously served as Chief Financial Officer of HCCA - »
International, Inc., a healthcare management and recruitment company since October 2002: From Novémber 1999
until February 2001, Mr. McNamara served as Chief Executive Officer and a director of Private Business; Inc:; a
provider of electronic commerce solutions that help community banks provide accounts receivable financing to their
small business customers. From 1996 to 1999, Mr. McNamara served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of Envoy Corporation (“Envoy™). Mr. McNamara also serves on the Board of Directors of Comsys IT

Partners, Inc. and several private companies. Mr. McNamara is a Certified Public Accountant (inactive) and holds a
" B.S. in. Accounting from Virginia Commonwealth University and a M.B.A. from the University of Richmond. :

J. Stark Thompson, age 64. Mr. Thompson has served as a member of the Board of Directors since -
June 2005. Mr. Thompson has served as Non-Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors of Gene Logic, Inc.
since November 2004 and as a-director since February 2002. Mr. Thompson is the sole proprietor.of Black Horse
Yachts, LLC, manufacturer of semi-custom yachts. Mr. Thompson most recently served as President, Chief -
Executive Officer and Director of Life Technologies, Inc., a developer, manufacturer-and supplier of products and
services for life science reséarchers and biotechnology companies, from 1988 until his retirement in 2000. He -
previously held a number of research, sales, product development, operations and other positions over a 21 year -
career with the E. . Du Pont Nemours and Company. He also serves on the board of various private and civic -
organizations. Mr. Thompson has a Bachelor of Science degree from Muskingum College and a Masters.of Science
and PhD in Physiological Chemistry from the Ohio State University.
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Class I Directors (Term Expires in 2007)

Robert J. Cresci, age 62. ‘M. Cresci has served as a member of the Board of Directors since
December 1996. He has been a Managing Director of Pecks Management Partners Ltd., an investment management
firm, since September 1990. Mr. Cresci currently serves on the Boards of Directors of Sepracor Inc., j2 Global
Communications, Inc., ContinuCare Corporation, SeraCare Life Sciences, Inc. and several private companies.
Mr. Cresci received his undergraduate degree from the United States Military Academy at West Point and received
his M.B.A. in Finance from the Columbia Umversny Graduate School of Busmess

Thomas W Erlcl(son age 55. Mr. Errckson has served as a member of the Board of Directors since May
2004. Mr. Erickson served as the Company’s Interim President and Chief Executive Officer from September 2002
until our hiring of Mr. Balthrop in May 2004. Prior to joining Luminex, he was Interim President and Chief
Executive Officer and a management consultant to Omega Healthcare Investors, Inc., a company that provides
financing and capital to the long-term healthcare industry, from 2000 to 2002. In addition, Mr. Erickson was Co-
Founder, President and Chief Executive Officer for CareSelect Group, Inc. froim 1994 to 2001, and has served as
President and Chief Executive Officer of ECG Ventures, Inc., a venture capital company, from 1987 to present.
Earlier in his career, Mr. Erickson held several management positions at American Hospital Supply Corporation. He
currently is Chairman of the Board of Trans Health, Inc. Mr. Erickson received a B.B.A. from the University of
Iowa:and a M:B.A. from Southern Methodist Umversrty : :

Gerard Vaillant, age 64. Mr, Var]lant has served as a member of the Board of Directors since February
2005. Mr; Vaillant held a number of positions within Johnson & Johnson from 1981 through 2004.- Most recently,
Mr. Vaillant served as Company Group Chairman until he retired. Healso sérved as Chairman for Ortho-Clinical- -
Diagnostics, Inc., Veridex LLC and Therakos, Inc., and as a member of several other operating committees within
Johnson & Johnson during that peried. In addmon from 1992-1995, he was the Worldwide President of LifeScan, a
company dedicated to improving the-quality of life for péople with diabetes by developing, manufacturing and .
marketing a wide range of blood glucose monitoring systems and software. He currently serves on the Board of
Directors for Sensors for Medicine.and Science, Inc. and Tecan- AG. He holds-a Masters Degree & Superior

- Certlf'cate in Biochemistry & Industrial Chemlstry from Paris Umversrry of Sciences and a Degree in Marketing
from Ecole Superieure de Commerce de Paris. - :

“’Ciass 11 Directors (Term Expires in 2008)

Fred C. Goad, Jr., age 65. Mr. Goad has served as a member of the Board of Directors since
September 1997. Since August 2001, he has been a member in Voyent Partners, L.L.C., a private mvestmen__r
company. Mr. Goad served as Co-Chief Executive Officer of the transaction services dmsron of WebMD

Corporation (“WebMD”), a provider of health care transaction, information and technology services, from June
--2000 through March 2001. From March 1999 through May 2000, Mr. Goad served as Senior-Advisor to the Office

of the President of the transaction services division of Quintiles Transnational (“Quintiles”). Mr. Goad served as
Co-Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of Envoy, a provider of electronic transaction processing services:for the

hea]thcare industry,.from June 1996 until Envoy was acquired by Qumtrles in:March 1999. From 1985 to -
-~ June 1996, Mr. Goad served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Envoy. Mr. Goad also serves on'the"
Boards of Directors of Performance Food Group Company, Emageon Inc. and several private companies.

Jim D. Kever, age 53. Mr. Kever has served as a member of the Board of Directors since December 1996.
He has been a member in Voyent Partners, L.L.C. since August 2001. Mr. Kever served as Co-Chief Executive
Officer of the transaction services division of WebMD from June 2000 to March 2001, From March 1999 through
May 2000, Mr: Kever served as Chief Executive Officer of the transaction services division of Quintiles. From
August 1995 through March 1999, Mr. Kever was the President and Co-Chief Executive Officer of Envoy. Mr.
Kever:joined Envoy as. Treasurer and General Counsel in October-1981. Mr. Kever serves on the Boards of -
Directors of 3D Systems Corporation, Transaction Systems Architects; Inc. an'd‘Tyson' Foods, Inc. Mr. Kever
received.a-B.S: in business-and administration from the Umversrty of Arkansas in 1974 and alD: from the
Vanderbilt Umversrty School of Law n 1977. . . I

Jay B Johnston age 63 Mr. Johnston has served as a member of the Board of Directors since February
2005. Mr: Johnston currently serves as Chairman of QuesTek Innovations, LLC, a privately-held company that

designs and markets high tech materials. From 1975:1999, he held numetousipoiitions at Abbott Laboratoriés, most
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recently Corporate Vice President for Diagnostic Assays and Systems. He held numerous other positions with
Abbott Laboratories, including President of Dainabot Co. Ltd. and Vice President Asia Pacific. Mr. Johnston has
experience in general management, product development, technology management, strategic marketing and business
development. He holds an M.B.A. in General Management from Amos Tuck School of Business Administration
and a B.A. degree in Public Administration from Dartmouth College.

Required Vote; Recommendation of the Board
Election of Class 11 directors will be determined by a plurality of the votes cast at the Meeting.
The Board of Directors unanimously recommend that stockholders vote FOR the election of its nominees
for Class 11l directors.
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION AND RELATED INFORMATION

Summary Compensation Table

The table below sets forth certain information concerning compensation paid during the last three yearsto
(i) our Chief Executive Officer and (ii) each named executive officer as of December 31, 2005. In accordance with
the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the compensation set forth in the table below does not include
medical, group life or other benefits which are available to all of our salaried employees and de minimis perqulsltes
and other benefits in accordance with SEC rules.

) Long Term
Annual Compensation Compensation Awards
Restricted Securities
"~ Name and Principal * Other Annual Stock Underlying = All Other
Position Year Salary  Bonus (1) Compensation - Awards(2) Options - Compensation (3)
: ® ®) ® o - L ®
Patrick J. Balthrop, Sr. ..cocvvvnice 2005 400,000 400,000 146,458(4) -- -- 28,501
President and Chief Executive 2004 282,169 360,000 - 2,020,000 500,000(5) 38,669
Officer 2003 - -- - - - --
A

Harriss T, CUITIe cooevervviecceerennieeeen 2005 225,500 128,071 -- 145,743 © - 5,000
Vice President, Finance, Chief 2004 217917 99,688 - 41,100 15,000 4,800
Financial Officer and Treasurer 2003 199,083 105,000 - -- . 160,000 4,300
Randel S. Marfin.........cooerceroonrmrerniiissionnns 2005 223,437 127915 145,743 L 3,333
Vice President, Lumninex 2004 217,817 91,850 - $41,100 - 15,000 © 3,200
Bioscience Group 2003 210,000 30,000 -- -~ . 150,000 o 3,200
James W, Jacobson, Ph.D.........ccovvinnn 2005 223,437 126,573 _ 145,743 - _ 3,385
Vice President, Research and 2004 - 217,197 99,814 -~ ¢ $41,100 15,000 3,250
Development 2003 210,600 105,000 . - -- 100,000 . 3;250
David S. REIET ..o 2005 202,625 125843 o~ 145743 _— 5,978
Vice President, General Counsel 2004 208,750 94,500 - - - 6,500

and Corporate Secretary - - 2003 147,500 - - - 164,000 6,000

(1) Includes bonus amounts in the year earned, rather than in the year in which such bonus amount was pald oris
to be paid.

{2)  Restricted share amounts for 2005 include shares of Company common stock gramed pursuant to the 2000
Long-Term Incentive Plan based on the closing price per share on the date of grant. Shares granted in 2005 -
include: Mr. Balthrop, no shares; Mr. Currie, 19,355; Mr. Marfin, 19,355; Mr. Jacobson, 19,355; and Mr. -+
Reiter, 19,355. The restrictions on these awards lapse 20% per year over five years from the date of grant.
As of December 31, 2005, Messrs. Balthrop, Currie, Marfin, Jacobson, and Reiter held an aggregate of
200,000, 23,105, 23,105, 23,105, and 19,355 restricted shares, respectively. The restricted shares held by
Messrs. Balthrop, Currie, Marfin, Jacobson and Reiter were valued at $2,324,000, $268,480, $268,480,
$268,480 and $224,905, respectively, as of December 31, 2005. Dividends would be payable on such shares,
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regardless of whether the restrictions have lapsed, if and to the extent paid on Company common stock
generally.

(3)  For Mr. Balthrop for 2004 and 2005, includes payments made for temporary housing and matchmg payments
under our 401(k) Plan. For all others, consists of matching payments made under our 401(k) Plan.

(4)  This payment represents the first installment of the bonus payable to Mr. Balthrop to be paid consistent with
the vesting period of his initial option grant that was agreed to by the Compensation Committee in connection
with the repricing of this option in 2005. See the report of our Compensation Committee on the repricing of
stock options contained in its Report on Executive Compensation for 2005 set forth below.

(3)  These options were repriced in 2005. The report of our Compensation Commiittee on the repricing of stock
options is contained in its Report on Executive Compensation for 2005 set forth below: This report contains
information regarding the exercise price per share of Mr. Balthrop’s options.

Option Grants for Fiscal 2005
No options were issued to executive officers during 2005.

Option Exercises and Values for Fiscal 2005

The table below sets forth information with respect to the named executive officers concerning their
exercise of options during 2005 and the unexercised options held by them as of the end of such year, No stock
appreciation rights were exercised during the year, and no stock appreciation rights were outstanding at the end of
2005.

Number of‘Securities Value of Unexercised
Underlying Unexercised © In-the-Money OPﬁﬁ“lS
Shares Acquired Value Options at 12/31/2095 ‘ at 12/31/2005 (1)
Name on Exercise Realized Exercisable  Unexercisable ~ Exercisable Unexercisable

Patrick J. Balthrop, Sr............ - $ - 197,919 302,081 $ 300,837 § 459,163
Harriss T. Currie ..o - $ - 124,108 84,892 $:‘ 532,368 § 413,982
Randel S. Marfin......c.cccccoveenn. - $ - 221,562 83,438 § 670,311 $ 549,189
James W. Jacobson, Ph.D. ... . - $ - 95,282 58,438 § 471,311 § 375,689
David S. Reiter e, - $ - 93,951 .70,049 § 339,423 $ 224,857

M

Based upon the market price of $11.62 per share, which was the closing selling ph'ce pet share of our common stock
on The Nasdaq Stock Market on December 30, 2005, the last trading day of 2005, less the option exercise price.
payable per share.

Employment Agreements and Termination of Employment Arrangeménts

We have an employment agreement with Patnck I Balthrop, _Sr our President and Chief Executxve
Officer. The employment agreement provides for certain salary, annual bonus opportumt]es and other beneﬁts and
is for a term of two years from the effective date of May 15, 2004, and automatically renews for successive -
additional one-year terms unless either party provides the other written notice of its intent not to renew the
agreement at least 180 days prior to the end of the then-current term of the agreement. It Mr. Ba]throp is
“Terminated for Cause” (as defined in the employment agreement) or in the event of an “Actual Voluntary
Termination” (as defined in the agreement) by Mr. Balthrop, Mr. Balthrop will recetve all accrued but unpaid salary
and benefits as of the date of termination (the “Accrued Obligation™). If Mr. Balthrop is terminated “Other Than For
Cause,” is “Terminated By Reason of Incapac1ty (as such terms are defined in the employment agreement) or is
terminated by reason of his death, then, upon such termination, Mr. Balthrop will receive (X) the Accrued
Obligation, as well as an amount equal to the sum of (i) the Accrued Bonus (as defined in the employment »
agreement), if any, plus (ii) an amount equal to the greater of (a) Mr. Balthrop S annual base salary or (b) the amount
of base salary that would have been paid over the remainder of the then-current term, paid in semi-monthly
installments for a period of 12 months from the date of termination (together with the continuing health benefits.
described below, the “Severance Compensation™), less any. payment or payments received by Mr. Balthrop during -
the 12 month period from the time of termination under any long-term disability plan, and (Y) certain continuing
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health benefits for Mr. Balthrop and his family. In the event we refuse for any reason to extend the employment
agreement, Mr. Balthrop will receive the Accrued Obligations plus the Severance Compensation. This employment
agreement-also has provisions that become effective upon achange in control of the Company (within the meaning
set forth in the employment agreement) or a termination of employment in connection with an anticipated change in
control.. If Mr. Balthrop is terminated within the six months period immediately following a change of control, we
will pay him the Accrued Obligation; as well as an amount equal to the sur of (i) the Bonus Amount (as defined in
the employment agreement) plus (ii) an'amount equal to-the employee’s annual base salary paid in semi-monthly
installments for a period of 12 months from the date of termination, prior to the:occurrence of the change of control.
Upon a change in control, as defined in the employment agreement, all urivested option or other restricted shares
held by Mr. Balthrop will immediately become vested and exercisable, as applicable.

Additionally, we have employment agreements with each of Randel S. Marfin, Vice President, Luminex
Bioscience Group; Oliver H. Meek, Vice President, Manufacturing; and James W. Jacobson, Ph.D., Vice President,
Research and Development. The employment agreements automatically renew each year for additional one (1) year
terms. However, the employment agreements may be terminated by us or the employee at any time. If we terminate
the employee’s employment for “cause” (as defined in the employment agreements) or if the employee resigns, the
employee will receive all accrued salary and benefits as of the date of termination. If the employee dies or becomes
disabled, the employee will receive all accrued salary, benefits and bonus as of the date of death or disability. If we
terminate the employee’s employment without “cause,” the employee will receive a lump sum payment equal to (i)
one year’s base salary, plus (i) the amount of the most recent annual cash bonus amount, plus (i) all accrued salary
and benefits as of the date of termination. These employment agreements also have provisions that become
effective upon a change in control of the Company (within the meaning set forth in the employment agreements) or
a termination of employment in connection with an anticipated change in control. If the executive is terminated
within the six months period immediately following a change of control, we will pay the executive a lump sum
equal to 2.99 times the executive’s average annual base salary plus bonus for the most recent five calendar years
prior to the occurrence of the change of control The employment agreements also provide for an additional
payment to’ compensate the executive for any tax liability imposed on change of control payments to the extent these
payments constitute “parachute payments” under Sectiori 280G of the Internal Revenue Code. In addition, upon a
change of control, all unvested options or other restricted shares held by the executive will immediately become
vested and exercisable, as applicable.

v We also have employment agreements with each of Harriss T. Currie, our Vice President, Finance, Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer, David S. Reiter, our General Counsel and Corporate Secretary, Gregory J. Gosch,
our Vice President, Marketing and Sales, and Russell W. Bradley, our Vice President, Business Development and
Strategic Development. The employment agreements provide for certain salary, annual bonus opportunities and
other benefits and are for a term of one year from the effective date of the agreements and automallcally renew for
successive additional one-year terms unless either party provides the other ‘written notice of its intent not to renew
the agreement at least 60 days prior to the end of the then-current term of the agreement. If the employee is
“Terminated for Cause” (as defined in the employment agreements) or in the event of an “Actual Voluntary ‘
Termination” (as defined in the agreements) by the employee, the employee will receive all accrued but unpald
salary and benefits as of the date of termination (the “Accrued Obligation’ ) If the employee is terminated “Other
Than For Cause,” is “Terminated By Reason of lncapacxty (as such terms are defined in the employment
agfeements) or is terminated by reason of death, then, upon such termmatlon the employee will receive (X) the
Accrued Obligation, as well as an amount equal to the sum of (i) a Bonus Amount (as deﬁned in the employment
agreements), plus (ii) an amount equal to the employee s annual base salary paid in semi- -monthly installments for a
period of 12 months from the date of termination (together with the contmumg health benefits described below, the
“Severance Compensation™), less any payment or payments received by the employee durmg the 12 month perlod
from the time of termination under any long-térm dlsablllty plan, and Y) certam continuing health benefits for the
“ernployee and his family. In the évent we refuse for any reason to extend the employment agreement, the employee
will receive the Accrued Obligations plus the Severance Compensation. These employment agreements also have
provisions that become effective upon a change in control of the Company (within the meaning set forth in the
employment agreements) ora termination of employment in connection w1th an anticipatéd change in control. If the
executive is términated within the six months penod Jmmedlately followmg a change of control, we will pay the
executive the Accrued Obligation, as well as an amount equal to the sum of (i) a Bonus Amount (as defined i in, the
employment agreements) plus (ii) an amount-equal to' the employee s annual base. salary paid in serni- monthly
mstallments fora penod of 12 months from'the date of termmatlon prior to the occurrence of the change of control;
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Upon a change in control, as defined in the employment-agreements, all unvested option or other restricted shares
held by the employee will immediately become vested and exercisable, as applicable.

Certain of the. employment agreements-above were amended in 2006 to provrde that mn the event the~
payment of any severance amounts payable pursuant to the employment agreéments within six months of:the date of
the applicable executive’s termination of employment would cause such.executive toincur any additional tax under

Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code, then payment of such amounts shall be delayed until the date that is six
months following such executive’s termination date.

The foregoing summaries are qualified in their entireties by reference to the complete texts of the
employment agreements previously filed by the Company with the SEC.

Securmes Authonzed»for Issuance Under Eqmty ‘Compensatlon Plans .

The following table sets forth, as of December 31, 2003, certain information with respect.to shares of the
Company’s common stock authorized for issuance under the Company’s equity.compensation plans. The numbers
reflected below do not include the. number of shares to.be available pursuarit to-the proposed 2006 Equity:Incentive
Plan as the avallabﬂlty of those shares are contmgent on stockholder approval at-the Meeting. -

Number of Securities Remammg
T Available for Future Issuance
Number of Securities to  Weighted-Average Under-Equity Compensation Plans

be Issued Upon Exercise ~ Exercise Price of | (Excluding Securities Reflected
Plan Category : of Outstanding Options Outstanding Options __in Column (A)) (1)
) (8) ©

Equity compensation plans approved by » ) ' i L ,

security holders 12,277,453 $10:44° ‘ : 461,059
Equity compensation plans not approved by o N o _ .

security holders @6 C : 1480377 8893 _ T 621,638
Total o . 3,757,830 L : 1,082,697

(1) Upon the approval by our stockholders of the 2006 Equity lncennve Plan, no further awards will be :
made under our existing eqmty incentive plans See Proposal 2. ' ] _

A2) In February 2001 our Board of Directors approved the 2001 Broad-Based Stock Optlon Plan (the “2001
Plan”) a non-stockholder approved plan, for grants of stock options to employees who are not directors or officers
of the Company. Options may be granted to such employees at not less than 100% of the fair market value of the’
common stock on the date of grant. The options become exercisable in whole or in such installments as determined
by the Board of Directors and generally expire 10 years after the grant date. The number of shares of the Company’s
common stock authorized forissuanceunder the 2001 Plan, is determined by calculating:5% of the maximum

:numbet. of all issued and outstanding shares of the common stock plus all shares of the common stock which may be

directly issuable upon the exercise, exchange or conversion of any outstanding rights, warrants; optioris or other
derivative securities convertible into shares of commoii stock. For additional information regardmg the Company 5
2001 Plan see Note 12 oft our consolidated financial staternents mcluded in our annual report ’

'(3) Includes an optton to purchase 500,000 shares of the Company 8 common ‘stock issued to Patnck J
Balthrop, Sr. on May 15, 2004, in connection with his hiring and outside of any, stockholder approved equity .
iicentive plan. The terms of this option, together with the amendment to the related option agreement, are more fully

described in the Compensanon Committee’s report on option repricings contained in its Report on Executive
Compensation for 2005 set forth below.
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COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following report o "the Compensatzon Commxttee and the performance graph included elsewhere in
this proxy statement do not constitute soliciting material and should not be deemed filed or incorporated by
reference into any other Company filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

except o the extent the Companv specifically mcorporates this Report or the performance graphs by reference
therein. . .

To the Stockholders of Luminex Corporation:

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Committee”) is responsible for establishing
the compensation program for the Company’s executive officers, comprised of base salary, performance-based cash
bonus programs and long-term equity incentive awards. ‘In addition, the Committee reviews and makes
recommendations to the full board regarding non-employee director compensation. The Committee has
responsibility for administration of the' 1996 Stock Option Plan for which no further option shares-are authorized for
issuance, the 2000 Long-Term Incentive Plan under which option and restricted stock grants may be made to key
employees,.directofs and consultants of the Company and the 2001 Broad-Based Stock Option Plan under which’
option grants may be made to non-officer employees and consultants of the Company. ‘Directors and officers of the
Company are not eligible to participate in or to receive grants under the 2001 Broad-Based Stock Option Plan. As
proposed herein and upon approval by the Company’s stockholders, the Committee would be responsible for

administration of the proposed 2006 Equity Incentive Plan. If approved, no further grants would be made under the
existing equity plans referred to above.

The Committee regularly reviews the Company’s compensation policies to ensure-that.the Chief Executive

Officer and the other executive officers are rewarded appropriately for their contributions to the Company and that
the overall compensation strategy supports the objectives of our organization, as well as stockholder interests. It is
the Committee’s objective to have a substantial portion of each officer’s compensation contingent upon performance
as a company, as well as upon his or her own level of performance. Accordingly, the compensation packages for
. officers are comprised of three elements: (i) base salary, which reflects individual performance and is designed

primarily to be competitive with median salary levels in an appropriate peer group within our industry; (ii) annual
variable performance awards payable in cash and tied to a formula based on the financial performance of the
Company and individual goals set by us, as well as management evaluations and discretion of the Committee; and
. (iit) long-term stock-based incentive awards which strengthen the mutuality of interests between these officers and
the stockholders. As an officer’s level of responsibility increases, it is the intent of the Committee to have a greater

portion of his or her total compensation be dependent upon performance and stock price appreciation rather than
base salary. .

Executive Compensation for 2006. In 2006, the Committee engaged Compensation Resources; Inc. to- -
_assist it in reviewing the existing compensation strategy and plan and to conduct-an executive compensation market
analysis. The focus was a market study of executive compensation for the executive officers with an emphasison’
base salary, performance-based cash incentives and long-term equity compensation. In evaluating compensation,
the Commiittee, reviewed the roles and responsibilities of each officer and the performance priorities for the
Company. In addition, the Committee reviewed the competitive pay practices, using 2005 proxy statement data, of
various peer and industry related commpanies compiled by Compensation Resources, Inc. The résults of the market
analysis revealed that the total cash compensation, composed of base salaries and performance bonus opportunities,
of the Company for the executive officers (overall) was slightly above the peer group marketplace.

As a result of the Committee’s evaluation, base salaries for 2006 will remain the same. The Committee’s
goal is to maintain base salaries near the 50" percentile of the peer group. With respect to annual cash performance
awards for the executive officers (excluding the Chief Executive Officer), the Committee approved performance
award opportunities, generally consistent on a structural basis with those of 2005, based upon achievement of
established Company performance goals (“Company Goals”) as well as personal business objectives (“Individual
Goals”). The Company Goals are based on a number of specific financial metrics, including total revenue, totals of
specific revenue components, operating profit/loss and net income/loss targets, with each objective given a specified
weight. The Individual Goals vary by executive and are based on specified management initiatives, leadership and
team contributions and/or execution against the Company’s strategic plan, with each objective given a specified
weight. The Committee’s desire is to provide total cash pay opportunities near the peer group median for meeting
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targeted annual goals, but allow for upside (near 75" percentile) for meetmg or exceeding performance goals
deemed outstanding by the Committee, :

- The total target awards under the performance-based cash bonus plan are weightéd 50% for the B
achievement of Company Goals and 50% for the achievement of Individual Goals, and are based on a target bonus
established by the. Committee for each participant.  The target bonuses range from'40% to 50% of each executive’s
base salary (excluding the Chief Executive Officer) depending on seniority levels and the provisions.in applicable
employment contracts. . Following the end of the fiscal year, the Committee will-détermine whether and the extent to
which the applicable targets were met. The Company Goals are subject to an over/underachieveiment scale with-"
possible payouts of 0%:ito 200% of the potential bonus for Company Goals based on financial results between '85%
10 120% of the applicable performance targets. Individual Goals are not subject to an over/underachievement scale.
Accordingly, total awards can range from zero to a maximum of 150% of the target bonus: The Committee will
make all calculations and determinations with respect to payment of such cash bonuses in its sole discretion.

* The Chief Executive Officer performance-based cash bonus plan is based upon achievement of certain -
financial targets, including operating performance targets and combined consumable and royalty revenue on a
Company level, as well as business objectives, in each case as determined by the Committee. The business
objectives are based on specified management initiatives, with each objective given a specific weight. Thetotal
target awards under the Chief Executive Officer plan are weighted approximately 50% for the achievement of the
Company performance goals and approximately 50% for the achievement of Mr. Balthrop’s business objectives.
The target bonus established by the Committee is 100% of Mr. Balthrop’s base salary; as set forth in his - -
employment agreement. .Following the end of the fiscal year, the Committee will determine whether and the extent
to which the applicable targets were met. Mr. Balthrop’s potential bonus is not subject to‘an over/underachievernent
scale. Mr. Balthrop’s total award under the Chief Executive ‘Officer bonus plan will range‘from zero'to a maximum
of 100% of the target bonus, with no payouts permitted for performance below the respeetive target thresholds. The
Committee will make all calculations and determinations with respect to payment of bonuses under the Chlef
Executive Officer bonus plan in its.sole discretion.

With respect to Iong -term stock-based incentives, the Committee, followmg analy51s by and discussion
with Compensation.Resources, Inc..and the Chief Executive Officer (as it related to the remaining executive
officers), authorized the issuance of restricted stock awards to each of the Company’s executive officers (erght
individuals) as-follows: Patrick J. Balthrop, Sr. (32,000 shares), Russell W. Bradley’(12:503 shares), Harriss T." _
Currie (14,772 shares), Gregory J. Gosch (10,157 shares), James W. Jacobson (9,324 shares), Randel S. Marfin -
(9,324 shares), Oliver H. Meek (5,980 shares) and David R. Reiter (8,855 shares). On the date of grant, the fair
market value of such shares was $14.38 per share.” The shares are subject to time: vestmg over five years in equa]
annual increments on the annlversary date of such grants :

-In 2006 the Committee also approved and has submitted to the stockholders adoption of the Lummex -
Corporatlon Management Stock Purchase Plan to further align the mterests of our semor off’ icers and our
stockholders. See Proposal 3 below

Execunve Compensanon for 2005. During 2004 and 2005, the Committee had engaged A.G. Ferguson &
Assomates Inc. (“A. G: Ferguson”), compensation and benefits consultants, to assist the Committee in evaluating
the overall compensation of our officers and the compensation guidelines for the non-employee directors: The
Committee reviewedsthe results of A. G. Ferguson’s report during the first'qitarter-of 2005 in establishing 2005 base
salaries, performance-based cash: bonus objectives and long-term equity incentives. Importantifactors which the
Committee considered and evaluated in establishing the components of the executive ofﬁcers compensatlon
packages for 2005 are summarized below. :

The Committee, with the assistance of A. G. Ferguson, reviewed the roles and responsibilities-of each
officer. In addition, the Committee reviewed the competitive pay practices; using 2004 proxy statérienit data, of
certain biotech companies. At the request of the: Committee; A. G: Ferguson compiled comparative:data regarding
Luminex’s salary, total cash pay and total compensation to the 25%, 50" and 75" percentiles for 21 biotéch
companies.. These publicly traded biotech peer companies ranged in-annual revenues from approximately $5 million

to $245 million, with a median of $47 million in revenues, and had a median market capitalization of approx1mately
$322 million (as ofFebruary 2005) N : :
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As a result of the Committee’s evaluation, base salaries for 2005 remained substantially the same as they
had been for 2004 for the executive officers. The Committee’s goal was to maintain base salaries near the 50™
percentile of the peer group. With respect to annual cash performance awards for the executive officers (excluding
the Chief Executive Officer), the Committee approved performance award opportunities based upon achievement of
established Company performance. goals (“Company Goals™) as well as personal business objectives (“Individual
Goals™). The Company Goalswere-based on total revenue, total gross profit, total combined consumable and
royalty revenue, operating expense and net loss targets, with each objective given a specified weight. The
Individual Goals varied by executive and were based on specified management initiatives, leadership and team-
contributions and/or execution against the Company’s strategic plan, with each objective given a specified weight.

The Committee’s desire was to provide total cash pay opportunities near the peer group median for meeting targeted

annual goals, but allow for upside (near 75™ percentile) for meeting or exceeding performance goals deemed
outstanding by the Committee.

The total target awards under the performance-based cash bonus plan were weighted 50% for the
achievement of Company Goals and 50% for'the achievement of Individual Goals, and.were based on a target bonus
established by the Committee for-each participant, The target bonuses ranged from-40% to 50% of each executive’s
base salary (excluding the Chief Executive Officer)-depending on seniority levels and the provisions in applicable
employment contracts. Following the end of the fiscal'year, the Committee determined whether and the.extent to
which the applicable targets were:met. The Company Goals were subject to an over/underachievement scale with
possible payouts of 0% to 200% of the potential bonus for Company Goals based on financial results between 85%
to 120% of the applicable performance targets. Individual Goals were not subject to an over/underachievement
scale. Accordingly, total awards could range from zero to a maximum of 150% of the target bonus. Upon review of

the factors,. in February 2006, performance bonuses were. paid to the executive officers (excluding the Chief .
Executive Officer.— see below) based .upon their criteria, as determined by the Committee, ranging from $103,898 to
$128, 071 as previous reported

With respect to long -term stock based incentives, the Committee, followmg analys1s by and discussion
with A. G. Ferguson and the Chief Executive Officer, authorized the issuance of restricted stock awards for 19,355
shares to each of the Company’s executive officers (six individuals). On the date of grant, the fair market value of
such shares was $7.53.per share. The shares are subject to time vesting over five years in equal annual increments
on the anniversary date.of such grants. No equity grant was made to the Chief Executive Officer as significant

grants were made to him, in the form of stock options and restricted shares, in connection with his employment in
May 2004. :

' Compensatzon of | the Chzef Executive Officer. Patrick J. Ba]throp, Sr. was hired as the Company 8 Chlef
Executive Officer and President on May 15, 2004. The Company engaged in an executive search to find an
appropriate candidate for approximately 18 months. In connection with Mr. Balthrop’s hiring, the Company
negotiated his-base salary, annual performances bonus opportunity and long-term equity incentives. Pursuant to this
negotiation, the Company entered into an employment contract with Mr: Balthrop (see “Employment Agreements
and Termination of Employment Arrangements” above) providing for (i) a base annual salary of $400,000 per
annum, (it) a target bonus of up to 100% of base salary, (iii) an option to purchase 500,000 shares of common stock
pursuant to a non-qualified stock option (the “Balthrop Option”), and (iv) a restricted stock award for 200,000 shares
of the Company’s common stock. -The Balthrop Option is subject to time vesting, provided Mr. Balthrop continues
in the employment of the Company, with 125,000 shares vested as of May 15, 2005, and the remaining shares
vesting in equal increments ‘over the following 36 months. The restricted stock is subject to various performance
related vesting criteria based upon (i) the Company’s common stock trading price, (i1) achievement of certain
revenue targets,.and (iii) certain operating performance measures, all as set forth in the restricted stock agreement
and as established by the Committee and the Board of Directors.

For 2003, Mr. Baltrop’s base salary continued at $400,000.. The Chief Executive Officer performance-
based cash bonus plan was based upon achievement of combined consumable and royalty revenue targets on a
Company level as well as personal business objectives, in each case as determined by the Committee. The personal
business objectives were based on specified management initiatives, with each objective given a specific weight.
The total target-awards under the Chief Executive Officer plan were weighted approximately 33% for the
achievement of the Company performance goals and approximately 66% for the achievement of Mr. Balthrop’s
personal business objectives. The target bonus established by the Committee was 100% of Mr. Balthrop’s base
salary, as set forth in his employment agreement. Mr. Balthrop’s potential bonus was not subject to an
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over/underachievement scale. Mr. Balthrop’s total award under the Chief Executive Officer bonus plan would range
from zero to a maximum of 100% of the target bonus, with no payouts permitted for performance below the target
thresholds. -As reported previously, in February 2006, the Committee determined Mr. Balthrop and the Company
had achieved each of the targets and he received a cash performance bonus for 2005 of $400,000.

Report on Repricing of Options. The 500,000 options granted to Mr. Balthrop in connection with his hiring

in 2004 (the “Balthrop Option”) were initially granted at an exercise price of $9.36 per share. This award was not

pursuant to any of the Company’s existing equity incentive plans. As previously reported, at-a meeting of the
Committee on February 10, 2003, the committee approved resolutions o increase the exercise price of the Balthrop
Option from $9.36 per share to $10.10 per share (the closing market price on the date immediately preceding the
original grant date). This modification was made in order to eliminate the potential application of certain adverse
tax implications in light of tax Jaw changes created as a result of the American Jobs Creation Action of 2004. In
connection therewith, the Committee approved a cash bonus payable to Mr. Balthrop to be paid consistent with the
vesting period of the option grant, subject to Mr. Balthrop’s continued employment, equal t0.$370,000.- According
to the vesting schedule and assuming no acceleration event contemplated by the Balthrop Option, one quarter of the
cash bonus was paid as of May 15, 2005 (the first vesting date and consistent with the-equity vesting)-and the
balance of such payments are being made in equal monthly installments over the 36 months thereafter.

The table below sets forth additional information on the repricing durmg 2005 of 500,000 stock options
previously granted to Patrick J. Balthrop.

‘ Length of
. Securities , Exercise Original
-Underlying . Market Price Price at - Options Term
Number of. of Common Time of New Remaining at
- Options Stock at Time Repricing Exercise Date of
Name Date Repriced (#) of Repricing ($) (63K Price (3) :Repricing
Patrick J. Balthrop, Sr.  2/10/2005 . 500,000 - S0 748 - 936 ’ 10 10 9.26 years

Executive Compensation Tax Deductibility. We are required to disclose our policy regarding qualifying
executive compensation for deductibility under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code which provides that,
for purposes of the regular income tax and the alternative minimum tax, the otherwise allowable deduction for
compensation paid or accrued with respect to a covered employee of a publicly-held corporation is limited tono
more than $1 million per year. It is not expected that the cash compensation to be paid to our officers for 2006 will
exceed the §1 million limit per officer: Our 2000 Long-Term Incentive Plan is structured so that any compensation
deemed paid to an officer when he or she exercises an outstanding option under the 2000 Long-Term In¢entive Plan,
with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the option shares on the grant date will qualify as
performance-based compensation which will not be subject to the $1 million limitation. Restricted stock grants, for
which the vesting restrictions are solely time based, may not qualify as performance-based compensation and could

_be subject to the §1 million limitation.. The Balthrop Option was not issued pursuant:to a shareholder approved plan

and, if exercised while Mr. Balthrop is a covered employee, will-not quallfy as performance -based compensatlon
and will therefore be subject to the $1 million limitation.

SUBMITTED-BY THE COMPENSATION .
COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Fred C. Goad, Jr. (Chairman)

Gerard Vaillant
Jim D. Kever
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PROPOSAL 2 - APPROVAL OF 2006 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

Our Board of Directors has adopted and recommends that you approve the Luminex Corporation 2006
Equity Incentive Plan (the “Equity Incentive Plan™). If approved by stockholders, the Equity Incentive Plan will
authorize awards in respect of an aggregate of 2,000,000 shares. If approved by our stockholders, the Equity

_ Incentive Plan will be effective as of May 25, 2006 and will replace the Company’s 2000 Long-Term Incentive Plan

(the “2000 Plan™) and the 2001 Plan, under which plans the Board, upon approval of the Equity Incentive Plan, will
not issue further grants. As a result, this Proposal requests a net increase in shares of common stock available for

grant of approximately 1 021 ,000. shares or only 3.2% of our common shares outstanding, as of the record date for
the Meetmg

The primary purpose of the Equity Incentive Plan is to promote the interests of the Company and its
stockholders by, among other things, (1) attracting and retaining key officers, employees and directors of, and
consultants to, the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates, (it) motivating-those individuals by means of
performance-related incentives to achieve long-range performance goals, (iii) enabling such individuals to
participate in-the long-term growth and financial success of the Company, (iv) encouraging ownership of stock-in
the Company by such individuals, and (v) linking their compensation to the-long-term interests of the Company and
its stockholders.

Our general compensation philosophy is that long-term stock-based incentive compensation should
strengthen and align the interests of our officers and employees with our stockholders, as more fully described above
under the heading “Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation.” We believe that the utilization
of stock options and, in more recent years, restricted stock awards, the core of our historical long-term stock-based
incentive program, have been effective over the years in enabling us to attract and retain the talent critical to the
Company. We believe that stock ownership has focused our key employees on improving our performance, and has
helped to create a culture that encourages employees to think and act as stockholders. To further this alignment of
interests with our stockholders, we recently adopted meaningful stock ownership and retention guidelines that are
further described in our corporate governance guidelines. Participants in our long-term incentive compensation
program generally include our officers and other key employees. We also believe it is important for our
stockholders to have a voice in equity programs and, accordingly, propose that all future equity awards be under the
Equity Incentive Plan in lieu of the existing 2000 Plan and the 2001 Plan.

In:2005, as previously described, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors reassessed and’
modified our compensation philosophy and award strategy in conjunction with management and the Comnittee’s
independent compensation consultant. The Equity Incentive Plan is intended to facilitate our efforts to better align
the Company’s long-term awards structure with its business and talent needs and our stockholders” interests.
Beginning in 2005, we have placed more emphasis on restricted share grants. We believe the shift to restricted share
grants will continue to-link executive compensation to the long-term interests of our stockholders while allowing us
to be more economically efficient in that we will be able to dehver similar value to employees usmg fewer shares
than pursuant to traditional option grants

Although we modlﬁed our long-term incentive compensation philosophies in 2005 to emphasize the use of
restricted shares, we are limited in our ability to implement this policy in future years under the 2000 Plan; which
only has 351,955 shares remaining available for grants as of April 6, 2006. The 2001 Plan does not-authorize the
use of restricted shares and does not authorize awards to our executive officers. Accordingly, we believe
stockholder approval of the Equity lncentwe Plan is critical to facilitate our long-term incentive compensation
program in'future years.

If approved by stockholders, the Equity Incentive Plan will authorize an aggregate of 2,000,000 shares. We
believe this authorization will enable us to implement our long-term stock incentive program, including our
increased use of restricted shares, for the next four to five years. We believe four to five years is an appropriate
cycle that will allow us to periodically review our Stock compensation programs and respond to periodic evolutions
in compensation and governance best practices and trends to the extent we believe such practices or trends to be in
the best interests of the Company and its stockholders.

If the Equity Incentive Plan is not approved, we may become unable to provide long-term, stock-based
incentives to present and future employees consistent with our current compensation philosophies and objectives.
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We believe that such a failure may adversely affect our abx]rty to attract and retain the cahber ofkey employees tha!
1s critical to our continued success.

Although we believe that employee stock ownership is important to incentivizing and retaining key
employees and is a contributing factor in achieving corporate performance goals; we recognize that our historical
long-term equity incentive program has created a certain amount of.overhang. “Overhang” refers to potential -
stockholder:dilution, expressed as a percentage, represented by outstanding employee stock awards and shares - -
available for future grants. We use the following calculations to determine overhang:

Simple Overhang ‘ = Outstanding awards + Shares available for future grant
- Common shares outstanding.

- Qutstanding awards + Shares available for future grant
Common shares outstanding + Outstanding awards
+ Shares available for future grant

Fully Diluted Overhang

- As of April 6, 2006, we had an aggregate of 3, 570 713 shares of common stock subject to options -
outstanding under-all of our plans, with a weighted average exercise price:0f$9.94 and a weighted average term to
expiration of 6.7 years. Shares underlying outstanding restricted share awards are not included in outstanding
awards because they are already reflected in the number of common shares outstanding. -As of April 6, 2006, there
were 647,499 restricted shares.outstanding under the 2000 Plan. As of April 6; 2006, we had 351,955 shares .
remaining available for grant under the 2000 Plan, and 627,357 shares:remaining available for grants under our 2001
Plan.(none of which shares may be awarded as restricted shares), and a total of 31,946,185 .shares of common stock
outstanding. As a result, the net additional shares proposed for future grant by the Company is 1,020,688, or 3.2%

of the outstanding common stock, as of April 6, 2006. Accordingly, as of Aprrl 6, 2006, our overhang was as
follows:

As of April 6,2006 .
‘Pro.Forma (assuming
approval of Equity-

Actual Incentive Plan) (1) 2)
Simple Overhang 14.2% ; S 17:4%
. Fully Diluted Overhang 12.5% ; - 14.9% .

(1) Pro Forma shares available for future grant are assumed to be 2 000 000 pursuant to the proposed Equity
Incentive Plan, with no further shares available under the 2000 Plan or 2001 Plan.

(2) Does not reflect the impact of 500,000 shares pursuant to-the proposed. 2006 Management Stock Purchase
Plan, or MSPP, described in Proposal 3 below.  With the inclusion of the' 500,000 shares pursuant to the

MSPP, the Pro Forma Simple Overhang would be 19.0% and the Pro Forma Fu]]y Drluted Overhang wou]d
be 16.0%. See Proposal 3. .

Our annual grants under.the 2000 Plan-and 2001 Plan, collectively, as a percentage of shares outstanding'
(“bumn rate”) has averaged approximately 3.3% of.outstanding shares for the last:three years. We believe this"-
percentage to be lower than the bum rate of our peers and biotechnology companies genetally over this period based
on published Institutional Shareholder Services data for 2006. As a result of our shift in philosophy toward usé of.

restricted shares, our anticipated burn rate for 2006 will be even lower at approx1mately 1% of outstandmg Shares
{(not including the effects of the proposed MSPP).

We vbeheve that our equity award programs and our emphasis on employee stock ownership have been
critical to our success in the past and are important to our ability.to:achieve our corporate performance goals iri-the
years ahead. We believe that the ability to attract, retain and motivate talented employees is-integral to our long- -
term performance and stockholder returns. We believe that the Equity Incentive Plan will allow us the flexibility to
implement our current long-term-incentive philosophy in future years, will better align executive and stockholder

interests, and will enable us to reduce the impact of stock overhang: For these reasons, we consrder approval of the
Equity Incentive Plan important to our future success
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The following'is a brief summary of the principal features of the Equity Incentive Plan, which is qualified
in its entirety by reference to the Equity Incentive Plan itself, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A and
incorporated herein by reference.

Shares Available for Awards under the Plan. Under the Equity Incentive Plan, awards may be made in
common stock of the Company. Subject to adjustment as provided by the terms of the Equity- Incentive Plan, the
maximum number of shares of common stock with respect to which awards may be granted under’the Equity
Incentive Plan is 2,000,000. Except as-adjusted in accordance with the terms of the Equity Incentive Plan, nc more
than 1,000,000 shares of common stock authorized under the Equity Incentive Plan may be awarded as incentive
stock options. The maximum number of shares with respect to which awards may be granted undef the Equity
Incentive Plan shall be increased by the number of shares with respect to which options or other awards were
granted under the 2000 Plan as of the effective date of this Equity Incentive Plan, but which terminate, expire
unexercised, or are settled for cash, forfeited or cancelled or withheld without delivery of the shares under the ternis
of the 2000 Plan after the effective date of the Equity Incentive Plan.

Shares of common stock subject to an award under the Equity Incentive Plan but which terminate, expire
unexercised or are settled for cash, or are forfeited, cancelied or withheld without delivery of the shares, including
shares of common stock withheld or surrendered in payment of any exercise or purchase price of an award or taxes
relating to an award, remain available for awards under the Equity Incentive Plan. Shares of common stock issued
under the Equity Incentive Plan may be either newly issued shares or shares which have been reacquired by the
Company. Shares issued by the Company as substitute-awards granted solely in-connection with the assumption of
outstanding awards previously granted by a company acquired by the Company, or with which the Company
combines, (“Substitute Awards”) do not reduce the number of shares available for awards under the Equnty Incentive
Plan.

In addition, the Equity Incentive Plan imposes individual limitations on the amount of certain awards in
order to comply with Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). Under these
limitations, no single participant may receive options or stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) in any calendar year
that, taken together, relate to more than 300 000 shares of common stock, subject to adjustment in certain
circumstances. ;

With certain limitations, awards made under the Equity Incentive Plan may be adjusted by the
Compensation Committee of the Bodrd of Directors (the “Committee”™) in its discretion or to prevent dilution or
enlargement of benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under the Equity Incentive Plan in the
event of any stock dividend, reorganization, recapitalization, stock split, combination, merger, consolidation, change
in laws, regulations. or accounting prmcnples or other relevant unusual or nonrecurring event affecting the Company.

hgrbrhgy and Admmrstratron Current and prospectrve officers and employees, and directors of, and
consultants to, the Company or its subsidiaries-or affiliates are eligible to be granted awards under the Equity
Incentive Plan. As of April 6, 2006, approximately 185 individuals were eligible to participate in the Equity
Incentive Plan. However, the Company has not at the present time determined who will receive the shares of
common stock that will be authorized for issuance under the Equity Incentive Plan or how they will be allocated.
The Committee will administer the: Equity Incentive Plan, except with respect to awards to non-employee directors,
for which the Equity Incentive Plan will be administered by the Board. The Committee will be composed of not less
‘than two-non-employee directors; each of whom will be-a “Non-Employee Director” for purposes of Section 16 of
the Exchange Act and Rule 16b-3 thereunder, an “outside director” within the meaning of Section 162(m) and the
regulations promulgated under the Code and will be an independent director as defined by the listing standards of
The Nasdaq Stock Market. Subject to the terms of the Equity Incentive Plan, the Committee is authorized to ‘select
participants, determine the type and number of awards to be granted, determine and later amend (subject to certain
limitations) the terms and conditions of any award, interpret and specify the rules and regulations relating to the
Equity Incentive Plan, and make all other determinations which may be necessary or desirable for the administration
of the Equrty Incentive. Plan :

Stock Options and. Stock Appreciation Rights. The Committee is authorized to grant stock options,
.including both incentive stock options, which can result in potentially favorable tax treatment to the participant, and
non-qualified stock options. The Committee may specify the terms of such grants subject-to the terms of the Equity
Incentive Plan. The Committee is also authorized to grant SARs, either with or without a related option. The

20



exercise price per share subject to an option is determined by the Committee, but may not be less thanthe fair
market value of a share of common stock on the date of the grant, except in the case of Substitute Awards. The
maximum term of each option or SAR, the times at which each option or SAR will be exercisable;and the
provisions requiring forfeiture of unexercised options at or following termination of employment generally are fixed
by the, Committee, except that no option or SAR relating to an option may have a term exceeding ten years.
Incemwe stock options that are granted to holders of more than ten percent of the Company’s voting securities are
subject to certain additional restrictions, including a five-year maximum term and a minimum exercise price of
110% of fair market value. o

A stock option or SAR may be exercised in whole or in part at any time, with respect to whole shares-only,
within the period permitted thereunder for the exercise thereof. Stock options and SARs shall be exercised by .
written notice of intent to exercise the stock option or SAR and, with respect to options, payment in full to the .
Company of the amount of the option price for the number of shares with respect to which the option is then being
exercised.

Payment of the option price must e made in cash or cash equivalents, or, at-the d1scret10n of the
Committee, (i) by transfer, either actually or by attestation, to the Company of shares that have been held by the
participant for at least six months (or such lesser period-as may be permitted by the Committee). which have a fair
market value on the date of exercise equal to the option price, together with any applicable withholding taxes, or (ii)
by a combination of such cash or cash equivalents and such shares; provided, however, that a participant is not
entitled to tender shares pursuant to successive, substantially simultaneous exercises of any stock option of the
Company.. Subject to applicable securities laws and Company policy, the Company may permit an option to be
exercised by delivering a notice of exercise and simultaneously selling the shares thereby acquired, pursuant to a
brokerage or similar agreement approved in advance by proper officers of the Company, using the proceeds of such
sale as payment of the option price, together with any applicable withholding taxes. Until the participant has been-
issued the shares subject to such exercise, he or she shall possess no rights as a stockholder with respect to such
shares.

Restricted Shares and Restricted Share Units. The Committee is authorized to grant restricted shares of
common stock and restricted share \mits. Restricted shares are shares of common stock subject to transfer
restrictions as well as forfeiture upon certain terminations of employment prior to the end of a restricted period or
other conditions specified by the Committee in the award agreement. A participant granted restricted shares of
common stock generally has most of the rights of a stockholder of the Company with.respect to-the restricted shares,
including the right to receive dividends and the right to vote such shares, None of the restricted shares may be

transferred, encumbered or disposed of during the restricted period or until after fulfillment of the restrictive
conditions.

" Each restricted share unit has a value equal to the fair market value of a share of common stock on the date
of grant. The Committee determines, in its sole discretion, the restrictions applicable to the restricted share units. A
participant will be credited with dividend equivalents on any vested restricted share units at the time of any payment
of dividends to stockholders on shares of comumon stock. Except as determined otherwise by the Committee,
restricted share units may not be transferred, encumbered or disposed of, and such units shall terminate, without
further obligation on the part of the Company, unless the participant remains-in continuous employment of the
Company for the restricted period and any other restrictive-conditions relating to the restn'cted:share units are met.

Performance Awards. A performance award consists of a right that is denominated in cash or shares of .
common stock, valued in accordance with the achievement of certain performance goals durmg certain performance
penods as established by the Committee, and payable at such time and in such form as-the Committee:shall
determine. Performance awards may be paid in a lump sum or in installments following the close of a performance
period or on a deferred basis, as determined by the Committee. Termination of employment prior to the end of any
performance period, other than for reasons of death or total disability, will result in the forfeiture 6f the performance
award.- A participant’s rights to any performance award may not be transferred, encumbered or disposed of in any
manner, except by will or the laws of descent and distribution or as the Committee may otherwise determine,

Performance awards are subject to certain specific terms and conditions under the Equity Incentive Plan.

Unless otherwise expressly stated in the relevant award agreement, each award granted to a Covered Officer under -

the Equity Incentive Plan is intended to be performance-based compensation within the meaning of Section 162(m).
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Performance goals for Covered Officers will be limited to one or more of the following financial performance
measures relating to the Company or any of its subsidiaries, operating units, business segments or divisions: (a)
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and/or amortization; (b) operating income or profit; (c) operating
efficiencies; (d) return on equity, assets, capital, capital employed or investment; (e) after tax operating income; (f)
net income; (g) earnings or book value per share; (h) cash flow(s); (i) total salés or revenues or sales or revenues per

_employee; (j) production (separate work units or SWUs); (k) stock price or total stockholder return; (1) dividends; -
(m) debt reduction; or (n) strategic business objectives, consisting of one or more objectives based on meetitig
specified cost targets, business expansion goals, and goals relating to acquisitions or divestitures; or any
combination thereof. Each goal may be expressed on an absolute and/or relative basis, may be based on or
otherwise employ comparisons based on internal targets, the past performance of the Company or any subsidiary,
operating unit or division of the Company and/or the past or current performance of other companies, and in the case
of eamings-based measures, may use or employ comparisons relating to capital, stockholders’ stock and/or shares
outstanding, or to assets or net assets. The Committee may appropriately adjust any evaluation of performance
under criteria set forth in the Equity Incentive Plan to exclude any of the following events that occurs during a
performance pertod: (i) asset write-downs, (ii) litigation or claim judgments or settlements, (iii) the effect of changes
in tax law, accounting principles or other such laws or provisions affecting reported results, (iv) accruals for
reorganization and restructuring programs and (v) any extraordinary non-recurring items as described in Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 30 and/or in management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results
of operations appearing in the Company’s annual report to stockholders for the apphcable year.

To the extent necessary to comply with Sectron 162(m) of the Code, with respect to grants of performance
awards, no later than 90 days following the commencement of each performance period (or such other time as may
be required or permitted by Section 162(my)), the Committee will, in writing, (1) select the performance goal or goals
applicable to the performance period, (2) establish the various targets and bonus amounts which may be earned for
such performance period, and (3) specify the relationship between performance goals and targets and the amounts to
be earned by each Covered Officer for such performance period. Following the completion of each performance
period, the Committee will certify in writing whether the applicable performance targets have been achieved and the
amounts, if any, payable to Covered Officers for such performance period. In determining the amount earned by a
Covered Officer for a given performance period, subject to any applicable award agreement, the Committee shall
have the right to reduce (but not increase) the amount payable at a given 1evel of performance to take into account
additional factors that the Committee may deem relevant to the assessment of individual or corporate performance
for the performance period. With respect to any Covered Officer, the maximum annual number of shares in respect
of which all performarice awards may be granted under the Equity Incentive Plan is 300,000 and the maximum
annual amount of all performance awards that are settled in cash is $3,000,000.

Other Stock-Based Awards. The Committee is authorized to grant any other type of awards that are
denominated or payable in, valued by reference to, or otherwise based on or related to shares of common stock. The

Committee will determine the terms and conditions of such awards, consistent w1th the terms of the Equity Incentive
Plan.

Non-Employee Director Awards. The Board may provide that all or a portion of a non-employee director’s
annual retainer and/or retainer fees or other awards or comperisation as determined by the Board be payable in non-
qualified stock options, restricted shares, restricted share units and/or other stock-based awards, including "
unrestricted shares, either automatically or at the option of the non-employee directors. The Board will determine
the terms and conditions of any such awards, including those that apply upon the termination of a non-employee
director’s service as a member of the Board. Non-employee directors are also eligible to receive other awards
pursuant to the terms of the Equity Incentive Plan, including options and SARs, restricted shares and restricted share
units, and other stock-based awards upon such terms as the Committee may determine; provided, however, that with
respect to awards made to members of the Committee, the Equity Incentive Plan will be administered by the Board.

Termination of Employment. The Committee will determine the terms and conditions that apply to any

award upon the termination of employment with the Company, its subsidiaries and affiliates, and prov1de such terms
in the applicable award agreement or in its rules or regulations.

Change in Control. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Equity Incentive Plan, unless otherwise
provided in an award agreement or other contractual agreement between the Company and an award holder, if,
within one year following a Change in Control, an award holder’s employment with the Company (or its successor)
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is terminated by reason of (a) death; (b) disability; (c) Normal Retirement or Early Retirement; (d) for Good Reason
by the award holder; or {¢) involuntary termination by the Company for any reason other than for Cause, all
outstanding Awards of such award hoider shall vest; become immediately exercisable and payable and have all
restrictions lifted.

Amendment and Termination. The Board may amend, alter, suspend, discontinue or terminate the Equity
Incentive Plan or any portion of the Equity Incentive Plan at any time, except that stockholder approval must be
obtained for any such action if such approval is necessary to comply with any tax or regulatory requirement with
which the Board deems it desirable or necessary to comply. The Committee may waive any conditions or rights -
under, amend any terms of, or alter, suspend, discontinue, cancel or terminate any award, either prospectively or
retroactively. The Committee does not have the power, however, to-amend the terms of previously granted options
to reduce the exercise price per share subject to such option or to cancel such options and grant substitute options
with a lower exercise price per share than the cancelled options. The Committee also may not materially and
adversely affect the rights.of any award holder without the award holder’s consent.

Other Terms of Awards. The Company may take action, including the withholding of amounts from any
award made under the Equity Incentive Plan, to satisfy withholding and othertax obligations. The Committee may
provide for additional cash payments to participants to defray any tax arising from the grant, vesting, exercise or
payment of any award.  Except as permitted by the applicable award agreement, awards granted under the Equity
Incentive Plan generally may not be pledged or otherwise encumbered and are not transferable except by will or by
the laws of descent and distribution, or as permitted by the Committee in its discretion.

Certain Federal Income Tax Consequerices. The following is a brief description of theFederal income tax
consequences generally arising with respect to awards under the Equity. Incentive Plan.

Tax consequences to the Company-and to participants recetving -awards will vary with the type of award.
Generally, a participant will not recognize income, and the Company is not entitled to take a deduction, upon the
grant of an incentive stock option, a nonqualified option, a SAR or a restricted share award. A participant will not
have taxable income upon exercising an incentive stock option (except that the alternative minimum tax may apply).
Upon exercising an option other than an incentive stock option, the participant must generally recognize ordinary
income equal to the difference between the exercise price and fair market value of the freely transferable and non-
forfeitable shares of common stock acquired on the date of exercise.

If a participant sells shares of common stock acquired upon exercise of an incentive stock option before the
end of two years from the date of grant and one year from the date of exercise, the participant must generally
recognize ordinary income equal to the difference between (i) the fair market value of the shares of common stock at
the date of exercise of the incentive stock option (or, if less, the amount realized upon the disposition of the
incentive stock option shares of common stock), and (it) the exercise price. Otherwise, a participant’s disposition of
shares of common stock acquired upon the exercise of an option (including an incentive stock option for which the
incentive stock option holding period is met) generally will result in short-term or long-term capital gain-or loss
measured by the difference between the sale pnce and the participant’s taxbasis in such shares of common stock

(the tax basis generally being the exercise price plus any amount prev1ously recognized as ordmary income in
connection with the exercise of the option).

The Company generally will be entitled to a tax deduction equal to the amount recognized as ordinary
income by the participant in connection with an option. The Company generally is not entitled to.a tax deduction
relating to amounts that represent a capital gain to a participant. Accordingly, the Company will not be entitled to
any tax deduction with respect to an incentive stock option if the participant holds the shares of common stock for
the incentive stock option holding periods prior to disposition of the shares.

Similarly, the exercise of an SAR will result in ordinary income on the value of the stock appreciation right
to the individual at the time of exercise. The Company will be allowed a deduction for the amount of ordinary
income recognized by a participant with respect to an SAR. Upon a grant of restricted shares, the participant wili
recognize ordinary income on the fair market value of the common stock at the time restricted shares vest unless a
participant makes an election under Section 83(b) of the Code to be taxed at the time of grant. The participant also
is subject to capital gains treatment on the subsequent sale of any common stock acquired through the exercise of an
SAR or restricted share award. For this purpose, the participant’s basis in the common stock is its fair market value
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at the time the:SAR is exercised or the restricted share becomes vested (or is granted, if an election under Section
83(b) is made). Payments made under performance awards are taxable as ordinary income at the timé an individual
attains the performance goals and the payments are made available to, and are transferable by, the participant.

Section 162(m) of the Code generally disallows a public company’s tax deduction for compensation paid in
excess of 31 million in-any tax year to its five most highly compensated executives. However, compernsation that
qualifies as *performance-based compensation” is excluded from this $1 million deduction limit and therefore
remains fully deductible by the company that pays it. The Company intends that (i) performancé awards and (ii)
options granted (a) with an exercise price at least equal to 100% of fairmarket value of the underlying shares of
common stock at the date of grant (b) to employees the Committee expects to be named éxeciitive officers at the

time a deduction arises in connection with such awards, qualify as “performance- based compensatron so that these

awards will:not be subject to the Section 162(m) deduction limitations. -

The foregomg discussion is general in nature and is not intended to be a complete description of the Federal
income tax consequences of the Equity Incentive Plan. This discussion does not address the effects of other Federal
taxes ortaxes imposed under state, local or.foreign tax laws. Participants in the Equ1ty Incentwe Plan are urged to
consult a tax advisor as to the tax consequences of partrc1pat10n i

The Equrty Incentwe Plan is not mtended tobea quahﬁed plan” under Seetlon 401(3) of the Code.
Required Vote, Recommendation of the Board

The approval of the Equity Incentive Plan requires the afﬁrmatlve vote: of a mdjority of the- shares present
in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the Meeting. ‘

The Board of Directors unammously recommends that stockholders vote FOR the Proposal to approve the
Equity Incentive Plan. : . ‘

PROPOSAL 3 APPROVAL OF THE MANAGEMENT STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

In addmon to the Equrty Incentive Plan, the Lummex Corporation 2006‘Management Stock Purchase Plan
(the “MSPP”) was approved by the Board of Directors, subject to stockholder approval at the Meeting. The
. purposes of the MSPP are to.enable executives to develop and maintain a substantial share ownership position in the
Company (and thereby further align executive and stockholder long-term interests), to provide iricentives to such
executivesto contribute to the success of the Company’s business and to help us: attract and retain highly- quallﬁed
executives. - : ‘

Sub)ect to adjustment as provided in the plan the MSPP prov1des for the grantmg of nghts to purchase up
to an aggregate of 500,000 shares ofithe Company’s common stock to officers (including executive officers) of the
Company (nine persons as of April 6, 2006). The MSPP will be administered:by the Comipensation Committee of
the Board of Directors. The Compensation Committee can make such rules and regulanons and establish such
procedures for the administration of the MSPP as it deems appropniate. : e

The maximum number of shares of the tommon stock to be authorized and resérved for issuance under the
MSPP is 500,000 shares, subject to equrtable adjustment as set forth in the MSPP, provided that no individual
officer may exercise rights to receive more:than 50,000 shares'in any year under the MSPP, ¢
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The additional potential impact of the MSPP on our overhang is 1llustrated in the table below:,

As of April 6, 2006

Pro Forma “Fully Adjusted Pro Forma
(assuming approval (assuming approval of
Actual of MSPP) (1) Equity Incentive Plan) (2)
-Simple Overhang s 14.2% ©15.8% 19.0%

Fully Diluted Overhang : 125% . 13.7% - 16.0% -

(1) Pro Forma overhang calculation does not reflect the impact of the Equity Incentive Plan, described in
Proposal 2 above.

(2) Fully Adjusted Pro Forma calculation reflects the impact of 500,000 shares pursuant to the MSPP and

2,000,000 shares under the Equity Incentive Plan.

We believe the MSPP is consistent with our above stated compensation philosophies, including, in
particular, the objectives of our recently 1mplemented stock ownershrp gﬂudehnes (whxch are described in our
corporate governance guidelines located on the Investor Relations section of our websrte at www. lurnmexcorp com),
and will help encourage and facilitate acquisitions of the requ1red ownership levels by our executwes in a timely
manner. Moreover, in addition to further promioting the alignment of intérests of our officers with our stockholders
the MSPP should enable us to utilize the cash saved in lieu of paying annual performance bonuses for research and
development and other productrve corporate purposes. For these reasons, we con51der the approval of the MSPP
important to our future success:

The following is a brief summary of the principal features of the MSPP, which is qualified in its entirety by
reference to the MSPP 1tself a copy of which'is attached hereto as Exhibit B and 1ncorporated herem by reference

All officers-of the Company and each des1gnated subsidiary shall be ellglble to be desrgnated as
participants in the MSPP. Each participant may elect to receive, in lieu of a specified portion of his or her annual
bonus a number of restricted shares equal to the amount of such specified’ portion of the anriual bonus divided by a
dollar amount equal to 80% of the fair market value of a share on the date on which such restricted. shares are
granted. Any pamclpant who makes such an electlon will be entitled to a grant of restricted shares generally by
March 15 of each calendar year followmg the year for which the electron is in effect. Generally, any election to
participate in the MSPP is effective beginning with the calendar year next following the year in which the election i lS
made. Once an election has become effective, a participant may cancel such election or make a change in the »
applicable bonus reduction percentage by filing an appropriate notice. However, any such notice i§ generally not
effectlve Ul’ltll the beginning of" the calendar year next following the year in which it is ﬁled

The restricted period for restricted shares granted under the MSPP is generally three years from the date of
-grant. However, if the Compensation Committee détermines that the Compaiy may lose its federal income tax
deduction in connection with the future lapsing of restrictions on restricted shares held by an executive officer
because of the $1.0 mllllon annual deductrbrhty cap of Section l62(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as
amended (the “Code™), the Compensation Committee, in its discretion, can cause some or all of such restncted '
shares to be converted into an equal iumber of ¢ restncted stock units,” as to which payment w1ll be postpaned until
such time as the payment will not cause the Company to lose its deduct10n When the payment is made, rt will be
made in shares of common stock

With respect to restricted shares granted under the MSPP ifa partlclpant s employment is. termmated
during the restricted period, then, except as provided below, the participant’s rights to such restncted shares will be
entirely forfeited and the participant will instead have the nght to receive a cash payment equal to the lesser of )
the then-current fair market value of the restricted shares or (ii) the bonus amounts foregone by the participant as a
condition of receiving such restricted shares. If, during the restricted period, termination of employment of a
participant resulted from death or total and permanent dxsab1llty, the restrictions on the restricted shares will .
immediately lapse. If, during the restricted period, a participant is terminated by the Company without cause, the
participant’s right to the restricted shares will be forfeited entirely and the participant will instead have the right to
receive a cash payment equal to either (i} the then-current fair market value of the restricted shares or (ii) the bonus
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amounts foregone by the participant as a condition of receiving such restricted shares. - The Compensation
Committee will decide, in its sole discretion, which of these amounts will be payable. In addition, the
Compensation Committee may, in its discretion, accelerate the lapse of such restrictions upon a participant’s

retirement. The same rules regarding termination of employment will apply to any restricted share units that have
been substituted for restricted shares.

The Compensation Committee can, in its discretion and on such terms and conditions as it determines,
permit or require a participant to pay all or a portion of any taxes arising in connection with the grant of restricted
shares or the lapse of restrictions thereon by having the Company withhold such shares of the common stock or by

the participant delivering previously acquired shares of the common stock having a fair market value equal to the
amount of taxes to be withheld.

No grants of restricted stock can be made under the MSPP after May 25, 2016. Holdmgs of restricted

shares acquired prior thereto, however, can extend beyond such date, and. the provisions of the MSPP will continue
to apply thereto.

The Board can amend, suspend or dlscontmue the MSPP provided, however, that no amendment which
requires stockholder approval for the MSPP to comply with any law, regulanon or stock exchange requirement shall
be effective unless approved by the requisite vote of stockholders In addition, the Compensation Committee can
make such amendments as mdeems,necessary to comply with applicable laws, rules and regulations.

v The fo]lowmg is a brief summary of the pnncnpal federal i 1ncome tax consequences of transactions under
the MSPP based on current federal income tax laws. The summary is not intended to constitute tax advice and,
among other things, does not address possible state, local or foreign tax consequences.

A participant generally must include as ordinary income the fair market value of the restricted shares at the
earlier 6f the time such restricted shares are either transferable or no longer subject to a deferred substantial risk of
forfeiture (the “forfeiture period”) within the meaning of Section 83 of the Code. Any participant can elect pursuant
to Section 83(b) of the Code to include as ordinary income, in the year of transfer of the restricted shares, an amount
equal to the fair market value of the restricted shares on the date of such transfer; such an election must be made
within 30 days of the date of such transfer A participant’s tax basis in restricted shares is equal to the amount paid
for such shares plus the amount includable i in income with respect to such restricted shares. With respect to the sale
of restricted shares after the expiration of the forfeiture period, any gain or loss will generally be treated as long-
term or short-term capital gain or loss, depending on the holding period. -The holding perlod for capital gains
treatment will begin when the forfeiture period expires, unless the participant has made a Section 83(b) election, in
which event the holding period will commence just after the date of transfer of the restricted shares by the Company
to such person. The Company generally will be entitled to a deduction in the amount of a participant’s income at the
time such income is so recognized, provided that the participant includes such amount in income or the Company
satisfies applicable reporting requirements, and subject to possible limitations on deduct1b1hty under Section 162(m)
of the Code of compensation paid to execunves des1gnated in that Sectlon

A participant who holds restricted stock units that have been substituted for restricted shares, generally,
must include as ordinary income the fair markeét value of the common stock received in payment of such restricted.
stock units at the time of such payment. With respect to the sale of common stock received in payment of resmcted
stock units, any gain or loss will generally be treated as long-term or short-term capital gain or loss, dependmg on .
the holding period. The holding period for capital gains treatment will begin when the common stock is received in
payment of the restricted stock units. The Company generally will be entitled to a deduction in the amount of a
participant’s income at the time such income is recognized as described above, provided that the participant includes
such amount in income or the Company satisfies applicablé reportinig requirements, and subject to possible

limitations on deductlblhty under Sectlon 162(m) of the Code of compensation paid_ to executives designated in that
Section. -

Because the MSPP depends on the voluntary part1c1pat10n of the executive ofﬁcers the benefit amounts
under the MSPP are not determmab]e
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Required Vote; Recommendation of the Board

The approval of the MSPP requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present in person or by
proxy and entitled to vote at the Meeting.

The Board of Directors unanimousiy recommends that stockholders vote FOR the proposal to approve the
MSPP. :

PROPOSAL 4 —- RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT
OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Audit Committee has appointed Emst & Young LLP as the Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm to audit the financial statements of the Company and to perform other accounting services, if
appropriate, for the year ending December 31, 2006. Such appointment will be presented to the stockholders for
ratification at the Meeting. A representative of Emst & Young LLP is expected to be present at the Meeting to
respond to questions from stockholders and will be given the opportunity to make a statement if so desired.

Stockbolder ratification of the selection of Emst & Young LLP as the Company’s independent registered
public accountants is not required by the Company’s bylaws or otherwise. However, the Audit Committee is
submitting the selection of Ernst & Young LLP to the stockholders for ratification. If the stockholders fail to ratify
the selection, the Audit Committee will reconsider whether or not to retain that firm. Even if the selection is ratified,
the Audit Committee in its discretion may direct the appointment of a different independent registered public
accounting firm at any time during the year if it determines that such a change would be in the best interests of the
Company and its stockholders.

Fees paid to Ernst & Young LLP for services provided during the years ended December 31, 2005 and
2004, is presented below.

- Audit Fees. The aggregate audit fees billed to us by Emst & Young LLP for professional services rendered
for the audit-of our annual consolidated financial statements, for the reviews of the consolidated financial statements
mchuded in our quarterly reports on Form.10-Q, for the audit of management’s report on the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting, as required under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and other
services that are normally provided by the independent - auditor in connection with statutory ‘and regulatory filings
totaled $280,000 for 2005 and $282,100 for 2004,

. Audit-Related Fees. The aggregate fees billed to us by Emst & Young LLP for assurance and related
services related to the performance of the audit or review of the Company’s consolidated financial statements, and
for the review of the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting and not described above under “Andit
Fees,” were $0 for 2005 and $0 for 2004.

Tax Fees. The aggregate'fee§ billed by Emst & Young LLP for professional services rendered for tax

comphance assistance with an IRS audn tax advice and tax planning were $42,000 for 2005 and $104,510 for
2004.

All Oth‘er’ Fees. The aggregate fees billed by Ernst & Ybung LLP for products or services other than those
described above were $0 for 2005 and $0 for 2004.

The Restated Audit Committee Charter, among other things, requires the Audit Committee to pre-approve

all audit and permitted non-audit services (mcludmg the fees and terms thereof) to be performed for the Company by
its independent auditor. : :

The Audit Committee has adopted a pre-approval policy in order to ensure that the performance of audit
and non-audit services by the independent auditor does not impair the auditor’s independence. The policy provides
for the general pre-approval of specific types of services, gives guidance to management as to the specific type of
services that are eligible for pre-approval and provides cost limits for each such service on an annual basis. The
policy requires specific pre-approval of all other permitted services. Requests or applications to provide services
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that require separate approval by the Audit Committee are submitted by the Company’s Chief Findncial Officer to
the Audit Committee and must include a statement as to whether, in the Chief Financial Officer’s view, the request
or application is consistent with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules on auditor. independence. The
Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval authority to one or more of its members who shall report any pre-
approval decisions to the Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting.

All audit related services, tax services and other services provided in 2005 and 2004 were pre-approveéd by-
the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee concluded that the provision of such services by Emnst & Young LLP
was compatible with the maintenance of the firm’s independence in the conduct of its auditing functions.

Required Vote; Recommendntion of the Board

. Approval of this proposal requires the affirmative vote.of a majonty of the shares present in person or by
proxy and entitled to.vote on the matter. : : .

The Board of Directors recommends a-vote F OR Proposal 4. - -

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The followmg Report of the Audzt Commzttee does not constltute Sollcztzng material and should not be
deemed f led or incorporated by reference into any other Company filing undér the Securities Act of 1933 or the . -
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent the Company specifically mcorporates this Report by reference
therein,

To the Stockholders of Luminex Corporation:

The Board of Directors maintains an Audit Committee comprised of three independent directors. The
Board of Directors and the Audit Committee believe that the Audit Committee’s current member composition
satisfies the rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market that govern audit committee composition, including the requirement
that audit committee members meet the heightened independence requirements: as contemplated by ‘the applicable
rules of the. The Nasdaq Stock Market.. The Audit Committee operates under a written charter, which was-adopted-
by the Board of Directors (as amended to date, the “Restated Audit Committee Charter”). A copy of the Restated
Audit Committee Charter may be viewed on the Investor Relations: sectlon of our website at. Www. lummexcorp com.

Pursuant to the Restated Audit Committee Charter, the Audlt Commlttee oversees the financial reporting
process on behalf of the entire Board of Directors: Theé Audit Committee is.responsible for the appointment,
compensation and oversight of the work of the Company’s independent registered public accountants. -‘Management
has the primary responsibility for the financial statements and the reporting process including the systems of internal
controls. Our independent registered public accountants are responsible for performing an independent audit of the
Company’s financial statements in accordance with standards established by the Public Company Accounting
Oversight-Board, expressing an opinion on the conformity of our audited financial statements to generally accepted
accounting principles and auditing management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting and issuing a report thereon. In fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, the Audit Committee reviews and
discusses with management and the independent registered public accountants the audited and interim financial
statements included in our reports-filed Wwith the Securities and Exchange Comm1551on in advance of the filings of
such reports. i : »

- The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements with management and
the independent registered public accountants: Furthermore, the Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with
the independent registered public accountants all communications required by generally accepted auditing standards,
including those described in Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61 (Communication with Audit Committees), as
amended by-Statement on Auditing Standards No. 90 (Audit Committee Communications).” The Audit Committee
has also received from the independent registered public accountants the written disclosures required by
Independence Standards Board Standard No. I (Independence Discussions with Audit Commlttees) and has
discussed with them their mdependence from the Company and its management ‘
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The Audit Committee held 9 meetings during 2005. The Audit Committee discussed with the independent
registered public accountants the overall scope and plans for their audit. The Audit Committee met with the
independent registered public accountants, with and without management present, to discuss the results of their
examination, their evaluation of the Company’s internal controls requirements under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, and the overall quality of the Company’s financial reporting. -

In reliance on the reviews and discussions referred to above, the Audit Commmee recommended to the
Board of Directors {(and the Board of Directors approved) that the audited financial statements be included in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, as filed- w1th the Securities and Exchange
Commxssxon :

SUBMITTED BY THE AUDIT COMMIT’I’EE:OF
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Jim D. Kever (Chairman)

Robert J. Cresci
Jay B. Johnston
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP.OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT ‘

" The following table sets forth certain information knowii to us regarding the ownership-of the common
stock of the Company as of the record date (except as otherwise indicated below) by (i) each director and director
nominee, (ii) each executive officer nained in the: Summary Compénsation Table below (each a “named executive
officer”), (ii1) all directors and executive officers as a group and (iv) each person known to us to own beneficially
5% or more of:our outstanding ‘eommon stock.". - o s - )

_ <. The information set forth‘below includes shares of common stock directly and indirectly owned and shaies
of common stock underlying currently exercisable options, as well as those options which will become exercisable’
within 60 days of April 6, 2006. Except as otherwise indicated, the named persons below have sole voting and
dispositive power withrespect-to beneficially owned shares:

Common Stock Beneficially Owned

Totalas a
o : Number of Shares Percentage of
Beneficial Owner Owned (1) Shares Qutstanding

Directors and Named Executive Officers (2)
G. Walter Loewenbaum T (3) .cocvviiciiiinieniininrrnneecevnees 2,027,400 6.3%
Fred C. Goad, JT. (4) oot 303,666 1.0%
JIM DL KeVer (5) oo s e 254,902 *
RODBETt J. CIESCL c.vverviiiiietieii e eesves e et ene e e e nen _ 214,016 *
Kevin M. McENamMara ..ot ee oo 101,166 *
Thomas W. EICKSON ....c.veiieicie i eciiee et esaeeeeeraesssanesnesenes 275,166 *
Jay JORRStON (6) . e i 45,500 *
Gerard Vaillant .........c.occooivviiiiiinieciceeerescer e seeeeenees 4,500 *
J. Stark ThomPSOn oottt e - 19,500 *
Patrick J. Balthrop, St......ocooniiiciininc 532,004 1.7%
HaArTIss T CUITIC ettt s et e rie et enre s tesana s errs 199,202 *
Randel S. Marfill .......cocoveviiuiiseieeiiiieererece s e e esnenesseenes 269,304 *
James W. Jacobson, Ph.D. ..o 155,524 *
David S. REIET oot see s 138,086 *
All directors and executive officers

as @ Group (17 PErsons) .......ecoeeirccinenieseinineniene oo 4,823,196 14.4%
Other 5% Stockholders
St. Denis J. Villere & Company, LLC (7) covveicinvcniniinenee 4,764,080 14.9%

210 Baronne Street, Suite 808

New Orleans, LA 70112
Barclays Global Investors, N.A. (8) e 1,616,979 5.1%

45 Fremont Street
San Francisco, CA 94105

* Less than 1%.

(1) Includes shares attributable to shares of common stock not outstanding but subject to currently exercisable
options (as well as those options which will become exercisable within 60 days of April 6, 2006) as follows:
Mr. Loewenbaum — 100,000 shares; Mr. Goad — 10,000 shares; Mr. Kever — 45,200 shares; Mr. Cresci — 45,200
shares; Mr. McNamara ~ 95,000 shares; Mr. Erickson — 262,500 shares; Mr. Johnston — 15,000 shares; Mr.
Vaillant — 15,000 shares; Mr. Thompson — 0 shares; Mr. Balthrop — 250,004 shares; Mr. Currie — 153,276
shares; Mr. Marfin — 235,625 shares; Dr. Jacobson — 121,845 shares; Mr. Reiter ~ 109,876 shares; and all
directors and executive officers as a group — 1,626,336 shares.

(2) The applicable address for all directors and named executive officers is ¢/o Luminex Corporation, 12212
Technology Boulevard, Austin, Texas 78727. ‘
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Does not include 1,243,208 of shares held by Mr. Loewenbaum’s wife, Lillian Loewenbaum; 132,586 shares
held by a trust for the benefit of Mr. Loewenbaum’s children of which Lillian Loewenbaum is the trustee; and
125,998 shares held by a trust for the benefit of Mr. Loewenbaum which has an independent trustee and over
which Mr. Loewenbaum neither has nor shares investment or voting power. ’ ‘
Includes 6,120 shares held by a trust of which Mr. Goad is the trustee. Mr. Goad disclaims beneficial

-ownership of the shares held by the trust.

Includes 68,712 shares held by a trust for Mr. Kever’s benefit.

Includes 8,000 shares held by JK Investments 1, a limited partnership managed by Mr. Johnston and his wife
and of which a trust for the benefit of Mr. Johnston’s children is the limited partner.

This information is as of December 31, 2005, and is'based solely on a Schedule 13G/A filed by St. Denis J.
Villere & Company on March 1, 2006." St. Denis J. Villere & Company is an investment advisor registered’
under Section 203 of the Investment Advisors Act of 1940 and reports sole voting and dispositive power as to
604,209 shares and shared voting and dispositive power as.to 4,159,871 shares.

This information is as of December 31, 2005, and is based solely on a Schedule 13G filed by Barclays Global
Investors, N.A. on February 14, 2006. Barclays Global Investors, N.A. is a Bank as defined in Section 3(a)(6)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and reports sole voting power as to 1,490,110 shares'and shared votmg
and dispositive power as to 126,869 shares.
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Common Stock Performance Graph

The following graph sets forth the cumulative total stockholder return for our common stock, The Nasdaq
Stock Market Index (U.S.) and the Nasdaq Biotechnology:Index for the period indicated as prescribed by the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules. The graph assumes-$100 was invested on December 31,2000, in
each of (1) our common stock, (2) The Nasdaq Stock Market Index and (3) the Nasdaq Blotechnology Index and
that all dividends, if any, were reinvested. . . .

CONIPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN* :
AMONG LUMINEX CORPQORATION, THE NASDAQ STOCK- MARKET (USs.) INDEX
AND THE NASDAQ BIOTECHNOLOGY INDEX

120 s "’ - R “' " - Lot

O 1 T T T T T
12/00 12/01- 12/02 12/03 12/04 12/05
—8— LUMINEX CORPORATION — 4 — NASDAQ STOCK MARKET (U.S.)
- @ - -NASDAQ BIOTECHNOLOGY
Total Return Analysis 12/31/01 12/31/02 12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/05
Luminex Corporation............coeeeeeeeee s $65.07 $15.77 $35.99 $34.07 $44.59
Nasdaq Stock Market Index (U.S.).......... $79.08 $55.95 $83.35 |  $90.64 $92.73
Nasdaq Biotechnology Index................. $80.72 $44.83 $62.82 $65.43 $83.51

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

There were no reportable relationships or related party transactions in 2005.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Under the securities laws of the United States, our directors, executive officers and any persons holding
more than ten percent of our common stock are required to report their initial ownership of our common stock and
any subsequent changes in their ownership to the Securities and Exchange Commission. Specific due dates have
been established by the Securities and Exchange Commission, and we are required to disclose in this Proxy
Statement any failure of such persons to file by those dates. Based solely upon the copies of Section 16(a) reports
that we have received from such persons for their transactions in 2005 and written representations to the Company
by such persons that no other reports were required, we believe that there has been compliance with all Section 16(a)
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filing requirements applicable to such directors, executive officers and ten-percent beneficial owners for 2005, other
than Messrs. Johnston and Vaillant who each filed one late report due to an administrative error.

EXPENSES AND SOLICITATION

We will bear the cost of soliciting proxies. Proxies may be solicited in person or by telephone, facsimile,
electronic mail or other electronic medium by certain of our directors, officers and regular employees, without
additional compensation. The Company requests that brokerage houses and other custodians, nominees and
fiduciaries forward solicitation materials to the beneficial owners of shares of the Company’s common stock held of
record by such persons, and the Company will reimburse such brokers and other fiduciaries for their reasonable out-
of-pocket expenses incurred when the solicitation materials are forwarded.

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR 2007 ANNUAL MEETING

It is contemplated that our 2007 annual meeting of stockholders will take place in May 2007.
Stockholders’ proposals will be eligible for consideration for inclusion in the proxy statement for the 2007 annual
meeting pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 if such proposals are received by us
before the close of business on December 26, 2006. Notices of stockholders’ proposals submitted outside the
processes of Rule 14a-8 will be considered timely (but not considered for inclusion in our proxy statement),
pursuant to the advance notice requirement set forth in our bylaws, if such notices are filed with our Secretary not
less than 30 days nor more than 90 days prior to the first anniversary of the Meeting in the manner specified in the
bylaws. For proposals that are not timely filed, we retain discretion to vote proxies that we receive. For proposals
that are timely filed, we retain discretion to vote proxies that we receive provided (1) we include in our proxy
statement advice on the nature of the proposal and how we intend to exercise our voting discretion and (2) the
proponent does not issue a proxy statement. In order to curtail any controversy as to the date on which a proposal
was received by us, we suggest that stockholders submit their proposals by certified mail, return receipt requested.

TRANSACTION OF OTHER BUSINESS
At the date of this Proxy Statement, the only business which the Board of Directors intends to present or
knows that others will present at the Meeting is as set forth above. If any other matter or matters are properly

brought before the Meeting, or an adjournment or postponement thereof, it is the intention of the persons named in
the accompanying form of proxy to vote the proxy on such matters in accordance with their best judgment.

UPON WRITTEN REQUEST OF ANY STOCKHOLDER TO DAVID RIETER, CORPORATE
SECRETARY, LUMINEX CORPORATION, 12212 TECHNOLOGY BOULEVARD, AUSTIN, TEXAS
78727, THE COMPANY WILL PROVIDE WITHOUT CHARGE A COPY OF THE COMPANY’S
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005, AS FILED WITH
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION.

Austin, Texas
Aprif 24, 2006
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2006 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
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LUMINEX CORPORATION
2006 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

-

Section 1. Pnrpose.

This plan shall be known as the “Luminex Corporation 2006 Equity Incentive Plan™ (the “Plan”). The
purpose of the Plan is to promote the interests of Luminex Corporation {the “Company”) and its shareholders by
(i) attracting and retaining key officers, employees.and directors of, and consuitants to, the Company and its
Subsidiaries and Affiliates; (i) motivating such individuals by means. of performance-related incentives to achieve
long-range performance goals; (iii) enabling such individuals to participate ‘in the long-term:growth ‘and financial
success of the Company; (iv) encouraging ownership of stock in the Company by such-individuals; and (v) linking their
compensation to the long-term interests of the Company and its shareholders. -With: respect to any awards granted
under the Plan that are intended to comply with the requirements of “performance-based compensation” under
Section 162(m) of the Code, the Plan shall be interpreted in a manner consistent with such requirertients. ‘

Section 2. Deﬁmtlons
As used in the Plan, the followmg terms shall have the meamngs set forth be]ow

21 “Affiliate” shall mean (1) any enmy that dlrectly or md]rect]y, 1s controlled by the Company,
(i1) any entity.in which the Company has a significant equity interest, (iii)-an affiliate of the Company, as defined in
Rule 12b-2 promulgated under Section 12 of the Exchange Act, and (iv) any entity in which the Company has at
least twenty percent (20%) of the combined voting power of the entity’s outstanding voting securities, in each case
as designated by the Board as being a partlclpatmg employer-in the P]an :

2.2 “Award” shall mean any- Option, Stock Apprecnatnon nght Restncted Share Award, Restncted
Share Unit, Performance Award; Other Stock-Based Award or other-award granted under the Plan, whether singly,
in combination. or in tandem, to a. Participant by the Committee (or-the Board) pursuant to such tenns condrtlons
restrictions and/or limitations, if any, as the Committee (or the Board) may. establish. :

2.3 “Award Agreement” shall mean any written agreement, contract or other instrument or document
evidencing any Award, which may, but need not, be executéd or acknowledged by-a Participant.

2.4 “Board?” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company

2.5 “Cause” shall mean, unless otherwise defmed mn the apphcab]e Award Agreement (1) the
engaging by the Participant in willful misconduct that is injurieus to the Company:or its Subsidiaries or. Affiliates, or
(i) the embezzlement or misappropriation of funds or property of the Company or its Subsidiaries or Affiliates by
the Participant. For purposes of this paragraph, no act, or failure to act, on the Participant’s part shall be considered
“willful” unless done, or omitted to be done, by the Participant not in good faith and without reasonable belief that -
the Participant’s action or omission was in the best interest of the Company. Any determination of Cause for
purposes of the Plan or any Award shall be made by the Committee in its sole discretion. Any such determination
shall be final and binding on a Participant,

26 “Change in Control” shall mean, unlesé otherwise nrovided in the applicable Award Agreement,
the happenmg of one of the following:

(a) any person or entity, mcludmg a group” as defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange

Act, other than the. Company or a wholly-owned Subsidiary thereof or any employee benefit plan of the

Company or any of its Subsidiaries, becomes the beneficial owner of the Company’s securities having 35%

or more of the combined voting power of the then outstanding securities. of the Company that may be cast

. for the election of directors of the Company (other than as a ‘result. of an issuance of securities mmated by
~ the Company in the ordmary course of busmess) or : :



(b) as the result of, or in connection with, any cash tender or exchange offer, merger or other
business combination, sales of -assets or contested election, or any combination of the foregoing
transactions, less than a majority of the combined voting power of the then outstanding securities of the
Company or any successor corporation or entity entitled to vote generally in the election of the directors of
the Company or such other corporation or entity after such transaction are held in the aggregate by the

holders of the Company’s securities entitled to vote generally in the electlon of d1rectors of the Company
1mmed1ately prior to such transaction; or

©) durmg. any perlod of two consecutive years, individuals who at the beginning of any such
period constitute the Board ceasé for any reason to constitute at least a majority thereof, unless the election,
or the nomination-for election by the Company’s' shareholders, of each director of the Company first
elected during such period was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the directors of the Company
then still in-office who: were dlrectors of the Company at'the begmnmg of any such penod

2.7 “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code 0f 1986, as amended from time to time.

28 “Committee” shall mean a committee of the Board composed of not less than two Non-Employeée
Directors, each of whom shall be (i) a “non-employee director” for purposes of Exchange Act Section 16 and
Rule 16b-3 thereunder, (ii) an “outside director” for purposes of Section 162(m) and the regulations -promulgated
under the Code, and (iii) “independent” within the meaning of the llstmg standards of the Nasdaq Natlonal Market.

29 “Consultant” shall mean any consultant to the Company or its Sub51d1anes or Affiliates.

.2.10 “Covered Ofﬁcer” shall mean at any date (i) any individual who, with respect-to the previous
taxable year of the Company, was a “covered employee” of the Company within the meaning of Section 162(m);
provided, however, that the term “Covered Officer” shall not include any such individual who is designated by the
-Committee, in its discretion, at the time of any Award or-at any subsequent time, as reasonably expected not to be
such a “covered employee” with respect to. the current taxable year of the Company and (ii) any individual who is
designated by the- Committee, in its discretion, at the time of any Award or at any subsequent time, as ‘reasonably
expected to be such a “covered employee” with respect to the current-taxable year of the Company or with respect to
the taxable year of the Company in which any applicable Award will be paid or vested.

2.11 “Director” shall mean a member of the Board.

2,12 “Disability” shall mean, unless otherwise defined in the applicable Award Agreement, a disability
that would qualtfy as a total and permanent disability under the Company’s then current long term disability plan.

2 13 “Early Retirement” shall mean retirement, for purposes of this Plan w1th the express consent of
the ,,Company, at or before the time of such retirement, from active employmént with the Company and any

‘Subsidiary or:Affiliate prior to age 65, in accordance with any appltcable early retirement policy of the Company
then in effect or as may be approved by the Committee.

214 “Effective-Date” shall have the meaning provided in Section 16 1 of the Plan

2,15 “Employee” shall mean a current or prospectlve officer or employee of the Company or of any
‘Subsidiary or Affiliate. :

2.16 “Exchange Act” shall mean the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time

2.17 “Fair Market Value” with respect to the Shares, shall mean, for purposes of a grant of an Award
as of any.date, (i) the reported closing sales price of the Shares on the Nasdag National Market, or any other such
market or exchange as is the principal trading market for the Shares, omr such date, or in the absence of reported sales
on such. date; the closing sales price on the immediately preceditig date on which sales were reported or (ii) in the
event there is no public market for the Shares on such date, the fair market value as determined, in good faith, by the

Committee in its sole discretion, and for purposes of a sale of a Share as of any date, the actual sales price on that
date.
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2.18  “Good Reason” means (i) a material reduction in a Participant’s position, authority, duties or
responsibilities, (i) any reduction in a Participant’s annual base salary as in effect immediately prior to a Change in
Control; (iii) the relocation of the office at which the Participant is to perform the majority of his or her duties
following a Change in Control to a location more than 30 miles from the location at which the Participant performed
such duties prior to the Change in:Control; or (iv) the failure by the Company or its successor to contifiue to provide
the Participant with benefits substantially similar in aggregate value to those enjoyed by the Participant under any of
the Company’s pension, life insurance, medical, health and accident or disability. plans.in which Participant was
participating immediately prior-to a Change in Control, unless the Participant is offered participation in other
comparable benefit plans generally available to similarly situated employees of the Company or its successor after

the Change in Control.

2.19 “Incentive Stock Option” shall mean an option to purchase Shares from the Company that is
granted under Section 6 of the Plan and that is intended to meet the requirements of Section 422 of the Code or any

successor provision thereto.

2.20 “Non- Employee Director” shal] mean a member of the Board who is not an officer er emp]oyee
of the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate.

2.21 “Non-Qualified Stock Option” shall mean an option to purchase Shares from the Company-that
is granted under Sections 6 or 10 of the Plan and is not intended to be an Incentive Stock Option.

222 “Normal Retirement” shall mean, unless otherwise defined in the applicable Award Agreement,
retirement of a Participant from active employment with' the Company or any: of its Subsidiaries or-Affi liates on or
after such Participant’s 65 birthday. .

23 “Option” shall mean.an Incentive Stock Option or 2 Non-Qualified Stock Option.

224 “Option Price” shall mean the purchase price payable to purchase one Share upon the exercise of
an Option: : ) o -
2.25 “Other Stock-Based Award” shall mean any Award granted under Sections 9 or 10 of the Plan

2.26 “Ou *side Dlrector” means, wrth respect to the grant of an Award, a: member of the Board then
serving on-the Committe 2. , .

227 Y“Participant” chall mean any Emp]oyee Director, Consultant or other person who ' receives an
Award under the Plan. ‘ :

2.28 “Performanc_e Award” shall mean any Award granted under Section § of the Plan.

2.29 “Person” shall mean any individual, corporation, . partnership, limited lability company,
association, joint-stock company, trust, umncorporated organization, govemment or political subdivision thereof or

other entity.

2.30 “Restricted Share” eha]] mean any Share granted under Sections 7 to 1_(_) of the Plan.
2.31 “Restricted S‘hAare.l:Jnit” shall mean anyr unit granted under Sections 7 to 10 of the Plan.
232 . “Retirement” shall rnean Normal or Early Retirement.

233 “SEC’; shall mean the Securities and‘ Exchange Commission or any successor thereto.

234 “Section 16” 'shall mean Section 16 of the Exchange Act and the rules promulgated thereunder
and any successor provision thereto as in'effect from time to time.



235 “Section 162(n)” shall mean Section 162(m) of the Code and the regulatlons promulgated
thereunder and any successor provrslon thereto as: in effect from time to time.

-2.36 A “Shares” shall mean. shares of the common stock $O 0] par value of the Company

237 “Stock Apprecmtron nght” or “SAR” shall mean’ a‘stock appreciation ‘right granted under
Sections 6, 8 or 10 of the Plan that entitlés the holder-to receive, with respect to eachShare encompassed by the
exercise of such. SAR, the amount determined by the Committee and specified i an ‘Award Agreement. In ‘the
absence: of such a determination, the holder shall be entitied to receive, with respect to each Share éncompassed by

the exercise of such SAR, the excess of the Fair Market-Value on-the date of exéicise over the Farr Market Value on
the date of grant.

2.38 “Subsidiary” shall* mean any Person (other than the Company) of which 50% or more of its
voting power or its equity securities or equity interest is owned directly or indirectly by‘the Company
239

“Substitute Awards” shall mean Awards granted solely in assumptlon of, or in substitution for,

outstanding awards previously: granted by a company acquired by the Company or Wlth whlch the Company
combines.

Section 3. Administration.-

3.1 Authority of Committee. The Plan shall be administered by a Committee of not less than two Non-
.Employee Directors, who shall be appointed by-and serve at-the pleasure’of the Board; provided, however, with
respect, to Awards to Outside Directars,;all references i ‘the Plan to the Commiittee shall be‘deemed to be refeferices
to the Board. The initial Committee shall be the Compensation Committee of the Board. Subject to thé-terms of the
Plan and applicable law, and in addition to other express powers and authorizations conferred on the Committee by
the Plan, the Committee shall-have full power and authorityin- its discretion to:" (i) designate - Participants;
(i1) determine the type or types of Awards to be granted to a Participant; (iii) determine the number of Shares to be
covered by, or with respect-to which paymients, rights or other matters are:to be calculated in connection with
Awards; (iv) determine the timing, terms, and conditions of any Award; (v) accelerate the time at which all or any
part of an Award may be settled or exercised; (vi) determine whether, to what extent, and under what circumstances
Awards-may be settled or exercised in-cash, Shares,.other securities, other Awards or“other property, or canceled,
forfeited or suspended and the method or methods by which Awards may be settled, exercised, canceled, forfeited or
suspended; (vii) determine whether, to what extent, and under what ‘circumstanées cash; Shares, other securities,
other Awards, other property, and other amounts payable with respect to an Award shall be deferred either
automatically or at the election of the holder thereof or of the Committee; (viii) interpret and administer the Plan and
any instrument or agreement relating to, or Award made under, the Plan; (ix)-excépt to the éxtent prohibited by
Section 6.2, amend or modify the terms of any Award at or after grant with the consent of the holdér of the-Aiward;
(x) establish, amend, suspend or waive such rules and regulations and appoint such agents as it shall deem
appropriate for the proper administration of the Plan; and (xi) make any other determination and take any other

action that the Committee deems necessary or desirable for the administration of the Plan SUb_]CCt to the exclusive
authonty of the Board under Section 14 hereunder to amend or terminate the Plan

3.2 Commzttee Dzscret:on Bmdmg‘ Unless otherwrse expressly provrded in the Plan, all d’e'signatio“ns

determinations, interpretations, and other decisions under or with respect to the Plan or any Award shall be within the
sole discretion of the Committee, may be made: at-any time and shall be final, conclusive; and birding upon all Persons
including the Company, any Subsidiary or Affiliate, any Parncrpant and any holder or beneﬁcrary of any Award

33 Actzon by the Commztlee The Commrttee shall select one of its members as its Chairperson and shall
hold its meetings at such times and places and in such manner as-it-may determine. - A majority of its members shall
constitute a quorum. All determinations of the Committee shall be made by not less than a majority of its members.
Any decision or determination reduced to - writing and signed by all of the members of the Committee shall be fully
effective as if it had been made by a majority vote at a meeting duly called and held. The exercise of an Option or
receipt of an Award shall be effective only if an Award Agreement shall have been duly executed and delivered on
behalf of the Company following the grant of the Option or other Award. The Committee may appoint a Secretary and
may make such rules and regulations for the conduct of its business, as it shall deem advisable

[

Hrr o et

e e R e
i
1

FPERIEPTRE et

5 SR SO
o
it e e A

r e oS b i A L i Aot e e AT

i s el
[P




T

G

e e

B

3.4 Delegation. Subject to the terms of the Plan and applicable law, the Committee may delegate to one
or more officers or managers of the Company or of any-Subsidiary or Affiliate, or to a Committee of such officers or
managers, the authority, subject to such terms and limitations as the Committee shall determine, to grant Awards to or
to cancel, modify or waive rights with respect to, or to alter, discontinue, suspend or terminate Awards held by
Participants who are not officers or directors of the Company for purposes of Section 16 or who are otherwise not

subject to such Section.

3.3 No Liability. No member of the Board -or Committe¢ shall be liable for any action taken or
determination made in good faith with respect to the Plan or any Award granted hereunder.

Section 4. Shares Available For Awards.

4.1 Shares Available. Subject to the provisions of Section-4.2 hereof, the stock to be subject to Awards

under the Plan shall be the Shares of the Company and the maximum aggregate number of Shares with respect to which
Awards may be granted under the Plan' shall be 2,000,000 (which includes - ‘Shares with respect to whléh
awards-under the Company’s 2000 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2000 Plan™) were authorized but not awarded), of
which the number of Shares with respect to which Incentive Stock Options may be granted shall be no more than
1,000,000. Notwithstanding the foregoing and subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4.2, the maximum number
of Shares with respect to'which Awards may be granted under the Plan shall be increased by the niurmber of Shares with
respect to which Options or other Awards were granted under the 2000 Plan as of the effective date of this Plan, but
which terminate, expire unexercised or are settled for cash, forfeited; withheld to satisfy withholding obligations or
cancelled without:the delivery of Shares under the terms of the 2000 Plan after the effective date of this Plan." If, after
the effective date of the Plan, any Shares covered by :an Award granted under this Plan, or to' which such an Award
relates, are forfeited, or if such an Award is settled for cash or otherwise terminates, expirés unexercised or is canceled
without the delivery of Shares, then the Shares covered by such Award, or to which such Award relates, or the number
of Shares otherwise counted against the aggregate' number of Shares with respect to which Awards may be 'granted, to
the extent of any such settlement, forfeitire, termination, expiratiori‘or cancellation; shall again become Shares with
respect to which Awards may be granted. 'In the event-that any Option or othér Award granted hereunder is exercised
through the delivery of Shares or in'the event that withholding tax liabilities arising from such Award are satistied by
the withholding of Shares by the-Company, the number of Shares available for Awards under the Plan shall be
increased by the number. of* Shares so:'surrendered ‘or withheld. Notwithstanding the foregoing and sub'j'ect to
adjustment ‘as provided in Section'd.2 hereof, no Participant may receive Options or SARs under the Plan i any
calendar year that, taken together, relate to more than 300,000 Shares.

4.2 Adjustments. ‘In the event that the Committee determines that any dividend or other distribution
(whether n the form of cash, Shares, other securities or other property), recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split,
reorganization, merger, consolidation, :split-up, spin-off, combination, repurchase or exchange of Shares or other
securities of the Company, issuance of warrants or other rights to purchase Shares or other securities of the Company,
or other similar corporate transaction or event affects the Shares such that an adjustment is determined by the
Committee, in its sole discretion, to be appropriate, then the Committee shall, in such manner as it may deem equitable
(and, with respect to Incentive Stock Options, in such manner as is consistent with Section 422 of the Code and the
regulations thereunder and with respect to Awards to Covered Officers, in such a manner as is consistent with Section
162(m)): (i) adjust any-or all of (1) the aggregate number of Shares or other securities of the Company or its successor
(or number and kind of other securities or property) with respect to which Awards may be granted under the Plan;
(2) the number of Shares.or other securities of the Company or its successor (or number and kind of other securities or
property):-subject to outstanding Awards under the Plan; (3) the grarit or exercise price with respect to any Award under
the Plan, provided that the number of shares subject to any Award-shall always be a whole number; and (4) the limits
on the number of Shares that may be granted-to Participants under the Plan in any calendar year; (ii) if deemed
appropriate, subject to Section 13, provide for an equivalent award in respect of securities of the surviving entity of any
merger, consolidation. or other transaction or event: having a similay effect; or (iif) 1f deemed appropnate make
provisien for a cash payment to the holder of an outstandmg Award.

43 Substztute Awards Any Shares issued by the Company as Substitute Awards in connection with the
assumption or substitution of outstanding grants from any acquired corporation shall not reduce the Shares available for

Awards under the Plan.



44 Sources of Shares Deliverable Under Awards. Any Shares delivered pursuant to an Award may

consist, in whole or in part, of authorized and unissued Shares or of issued Shares which have been reacquired by the
Company.

Section 5. Eligibility.

Any Employee, Director or Consultant shall be eligible to be designated a Participant; provided, however, that
Outside Directors shall only be eligible to receive Awards granted consistent with Section-10

Section 6. Stock Options And Stock Appreciation Rights.

6.1 Grant. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Committee shall have sole and complete authority to
determine the Participants to whom Options and SARs shall be granted, the number of Shares subject to each Award,
the exercise price and the conditions and limitations applicable.to the exercise of each Option and SAR. An Option
may be granted with or without a related SAR. An SAR may be granted with or without a related Option.  The
Committee shall have the authority to grant Incentive Stock Options, or to grant Non-Qualified Stock Options, or to
grant both types of Options. In the case of Incentive Stock. Options, the terms and conditions of such grants shall be
subject to and comply with such rules as may be prescribed by Section 422 of the Code, as from time to time amended,
and any regulations implementing such statute. A person who has, been granted an Option or SAR under this Plan may
be granted additional Optlons or SARs under the Plan if the Committee shall so determine; provided, however, that to
the extent the aggregate Fair Market Value (determined at the time the Incentive Stock Option is granted) of the Shares
with respect to which all Incentive Stock Options are exercisable for the first time by an Employee during any calendar
year (under all plans described in subsection (d)-of Section 422 -of the Code of the Employee’s employer corporation
and its parent and Subsidiaries) exceeds $100,000, such Opuons shall be treated as Non-Qualified Stock Options.

6.2 Price. 'The Commmee in its sole dxscretlon shall estabhsh the Option Price-at the time each Option is
granted Except in the case of Substitute Awards, the Option Price of an Option may not be less than one hundred
percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value.of the Shares with respect to.which the Option is granted on the date of grant
of such Option. Notwithstanding the foregoing-and except as permitted by. the provisions of Section 4.2 and Section 14
hereof, the Committee shall not have the power to (i) amend the terins: of previously granted Options to reduce the
Option Price of such Options, or (ii) cancel such Options and grant substitute Options with a lower Option Price than

the cancelled Options. Except with respect to Substitute Awards SARs may not be granted at a price less than the Fair
Market Value of a Share on the date of grant.

6.3 Term. Subject to the Committee’s authority under Section 3.1 and the provisions of Section 6.6, each
Option and SAR and all rights and obligations thereunder shall expire on the date determined by the Committee and
specified in the Award Agreement. The Committee shall be under no duty to provide terms of like duration for Options

or SARs granted under the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Option or SAR shall be exercisable aﬁer the
expiration of ten (10) years from the date such Optlon or SAR was granted.

6.4 Exercise.

(a) Each Option and SAR shall be exercisable at such times and ‘subject to such terms and
conditions as the Committee may, in its sole discretion, specify in the applicable Award Agreement or
thereafter. The Committee shall have full and complete authority to determine, subject to Section 6.6 herein,
whether an Option or SAR will be exercisable in full at any time or from time to time during the term of the
Option or SAR, or to provide for the exercise thereof in such installments, upon the occurrence of such events
and at such times during the term of the Option or SAR as the Committee may determine

~(b) The Committee may impose such conditions with respect to the exercise of Options,
including without limitation, any relating to the application of federal, state or foreign securities laws or the
Code, as it may deem necessary or advisable. The exercise of any Option granted hereunder shall be effective

only at such time as the sale of Shares pursuant to such exercise will not violate any state or federal securities
or other laws. S
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- (c) An Option or SAR may be exercised in whole or in part at any time, with respect to whole
Shares only, within the period permitted thereunder for the exercise thereof, and shall be exercised by written
notice of intent to exercise the Option or SAR, delivered to the Company at its principal office, and payment
in full to the Company at the direction of the Committee of the amount of the Opnon Price for the number of

Shares wnh respect to which the Option is then being exercised.

~ (d)- . Payment of the Option Price shall be made in cash or cash equivalents, or, at the discretion
of the Committee, (i) by transfer, either actually or by attestation, to the Company of Shares that have been
held by the Participant for at least-six {6) months (or such lesser period as may be permitted by the
Committee), valued at the Fair Market Value. of such Shares on the date of -exercise (or next succeeding
trading date, if the date of exercise is not a trading date), together with any applicable withholding taxes, such
transfer to be upon such terms and conditions as determined by the -Committee, or (i1} by a combination’ of
such cash (or cash equivalents) and such Shares; provided, however, that the optionee shall not be entitled to
tender Shares pursuant to successive, substantially simultaneous exercises of an Option or any other stock
option of the Company. Subject to applicable securities laws and Company policy, the Company may permit
an Option to be exercised by delivering a notice of exercise of the Option and simultaneously selling the
Shares thereby acqmred pursuant to a brokerage or similar agreement approved in advance by proper officers
of the Company, using the proceeds of such sale as payment of the Option Price, together with any applicable
withholding taxes. Until the optionee has been issued the Shares sub]ect to such exercise, he or she shall

possess no rights as a shareholder with respect to such Shares.

(e) At the Committee’s discretion, the amount payable as a result of the exercise of an SAR
may be settled in cash, Shares or a combination of cash and Sharés. A fractional Share “shall not be

deliverable upon the exercise of a SAR but a'cash payment will be miade in lieu thereof,

6.6 - Ten Percent-Stock Rule. Notwithstanding any other provisions in the Plan, if at the time an Option is

otherwise to be granted pursuant to the Plan, the optionee or rights holder owns directly or indirectly (within the

meaning of Section 424(d) of the Code) Shares of the Company possessing more than ten percent (10%) of the total
combined voting power of all classes of Stock of the Company or its parent or Subsidiary or Affiliate corporations
(within the meaning of Section 422(b)6) of the Code), then any Incentive Stock Option to be granted to such optionee
or rights holder pursuant to the Plan shall satisfy the requirement of Section 422(¢)(5) of the Code, and the Option Price
shall be not less than one hundred ten percent (110%) of the Fair Market Value of the Shares of the Company, and such
Optlon by its terms shall not be exercisable after the expiration of five (5) years from the date such Optlon is granted.

Section 7. Restncted Shares And Restricted Share Units.

7.1 Grant.

(a) Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Committee shall have sole and complete authonty
to determme the Participants to whom Restricted Shares and Restricted Share Units shall be granted, the
number of Restricted Shares and/or the number of Restricted Share Units to be granted to each Participant, the

- duration of the period during which, and the cenditions under- which, the Restricted Shares and Restricted
~Share Units may be forfeited to the Company, and the other terms and conditions of such Awards. The
Restricted Share and Restricted Share Unit Awards shall be evidenced by Award Agreements in such form as
the Committee shall from time to time approve, which agreements shall comply with and be subject to the
terms and conditions provided hereunder and any additional terms and- conditions established by the

Commiittee that are consistent with the terms of the Plan.

: (b) Each Restricted Share and Restricted Share Unit Award made under the Plan shall be for
such number of Shares as shail be. determined by the Committee and set forth in the Award Agreement
containing the terms of such Restricted Share ‘or Restricted Share Unit Award. Such agreement shall set forth
a period of time during which the grantee must remain in the continuous employment of the Company in
order for the forfeiture and transfer restrictions to lapse. If the Committee so determines, the restrictions may
- lapse during such restricted period in installments with respect to specified portions of the Shares covered by
the Restricted Share or Restricted Share Unit Award. - The- Award Agreement may also, in the discretion of
the Committee, set forth performance or other conditions that will subject the Shares to forfeiture and transfer




restrictions. The Committee may, at its discretion, waive all or any part of the restrlctrons applrcable to any or
all outstanding, Restricted Share and Restricted Share Umt Awards.

72 Delzvety of Shares and Transfer Restrictions. At the trme ofa Restncted Share Award a cemﬁcate

representmg the number of Shares awarded thereunder shall be registered in the name of the grantee.. ‘Such certificate
shall be held by the Company or any custodian appointed by the Company for the account of the grantee subject to the
terms and conditions of the Plan, and shall bear such a legend setting forth the:restrictions imposed thereon as the
Comm1ttee in its. drscretwn may determme Unless. otherwise .provided in the applicable Award - -Agreement, the
grantee shall have all nghts of a shareholder.with respect to the Restricted Shares, including: the right to receive
~dividends and. the’ nght to vote such Shares, subject to the following restrictions: (i) the grantee shall notbe entitled to
delivery of the stock certificate uatil the expiration of the restricted period and the fulfillment of any other restrictive
conditions set forth i m the Award Agreement with respect to such Shares; (ii) none of the Shares may be sold, assigned,
transferred, pledged, hypothecated or.otherwise encumbered or disposed of during such restricted period or until after
the fulfillment of any. such other restrictive conditions; and (iii) except as otherwise determined by the Committee at or
“after grant, all of the Shares shall be forfeited and all rights of the grantee to such Shares shall terminate; without further
_ obligation on the part of the Company, unless the grantee remains in the continuous:employment of the Company for
the entire restncted _period in relation to which such Shares were granted and unless. any other restrictive’ conditions
relatmg to the Restricted Share Award. are met. Unless otherwise provided in the applicable Award Agreement, any

Shares, any other securities of the Company and any other property (except for cash dividends) distributed with respect

to the Shares subject to Restricted Share Awards shall be subject to the same restrictions, terms and conditions as such
Restricted Shares.

73 Termination of Restrictzon.s At the end of*the restricted period-and provided that any other restrictive
conditions of the Restricted Share Award are met, or at such earlier time as otherwise:determined by the Committee, all
restrictions set forth in the Award Agreement relatmg to the Restricted Share Award or in the Plan shall lapse as to the
restricted Shares subject thereto, and a stock certificate for the appropriate number of Shares, free of:the restrictions and
restricted stock legend shall be delivered to the Pamcrpant or the Partlcrpant s beneficiary or estate, as the case may be

. 14 Payment of Restrzcted Share Units. Each Restr1cted Share Umt shall havea value equal to the Falr
Market ‘Value of a Share. Restricted Share Units shall be-paid.in cash, Shares,: other securities or other property, as
determined in the sole discretion of the: Committee; upon the lapse of the restrictions applicable thereto, or otherwise in
accordance with the applicable Award Agreement. . Unless otherwise provided in the applicable Award Agreement, a
Participant shall receive dividend rights in respect of any vested Restricted Stock Units at the time of any payment of
dividends to shareholders on Shares. The amount of any such dividend right shall equal the amount that would be
payable to the Participant as a shareholder in respect of a number of Shares equal to the number of vested Restricted
Stock Units then credited to the Participant.  Any such dividend right shall be paid in accordance with the
Company’s payment practices as may be established from time to time and as of the date on which such dividend
would have been payable in respect of outstanding Shares. No dividend equivalents shall be paid in respect of
Restricted Share Units that are:not yet. vested. Except as otherwise determined by the:Committee at or after grant,
Restncted Share Units may. not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged; hypothecated or -otherwise. encumbered or
drsposed of, and all Restncted Share Umts and all -rights- of the grantee to such Restricted Share Units shall terminate,
without further oblrgatron on the part of the Company, unless. the grantee remains: in continuous employment of the

Company for the entire restricted period in relation-to which such Restricted Share; Units were granted and unless any
other restrlctlve conditions relatmg to.the Restricted Share Unit Award are met.

‘Section 8. Re,rf_ormance Awards.

8.1 Grant. The Committee shall have sole and complete authority to determine the Participants who shali

receive a Performance Award, which shall consist of a right that is (i) denominated in cash or Shares (including but not
limited to Restricted Shares and Restricted Share Units), (ii) valued;.as determined by the Committee, in accordance

with the achrevement of such performance goals during such performance. periods as:the Comrmttee shall establrsh and
(iii) payable at such time and in such form as the Committee shall determine.

82 Terms ana’ Conditions.. Subject to the terms of the Plan and any applicable Award Agreement the
Commrttee shall determine the performance goals to be achieved during-any performance period, the length of any
performance. period, the amount of any Performance Award and the amount-and kind of.any payment or transfer to be

-
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made pursuant to any Performance Award, and may amend specific provisions of the Performance Award; provided,
however, that such amendment may not adversely affect existing Performance Awards made within a performance

period commencing prior to implementation of the amendment.

8.3 Payment of Performance Awards. Performance Awards may be paid in a lump sum or in installments
following the close of the performance period or, in accordance with the procedures established by the Committee, on a
deferred basis. Termination of employment prior to the end of any performance period, other than for reasons of death
or Disability, will result in the forfeiture: of the Performance ‘Award, and no payments will be made. A Participant’s
rights to any Performance Award may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise
encumbered or disposed of in any manner, except by will or the laws of descent and distribution, and/or except as the

Committee may determine at or after grant.

Section 9. Other Stock-Based Awards.

The Committee shall have the authority to determine the Participants who shall receive an Other Stock-Based
Award, which shall consist of any right that is (i) not an Award described in Sections 6 and 7 above and (if) an Award
of Shares or an Award denominated or payable in, valued in whole or in part by reference to, or otherwise based on or
related to, Shares (including, without limitation, securities convertible into Shares), as deemed by the Committee to be
consistent with the purposes of-the Plan. Subject to the terms of the Plan'and any applicable Award Agreement, the
Committee shall determine the terms and conditions of any such Other\Stock-Based Award,

Section 10. Non-Employee Director And Outside Director Awards.

.-.10.1 . The Board may. provide.that all or.a portion of a Non-Employee Director’s annual retainer, meeting
fees and/or other -awards or' compensation as determined by the Board, be payable (either antomatically or at the
election-of a Non-Employee Director)in the form of Non-Qualified Stock Options, Restricted Shares, Restricted Share
Units and/or Other Stock-Based Awards, including unrestricted Shares. The Board shall determine the terms and
conditions of any such Awards; including the terms and conditions which shall apply upon a termination of the Non-
Employee Director’s service as a-member of the Board, and shall have full power and authonty in its dis¢retion to
administer such Awards, SUb]CCt to the terms of the Plan and applicable law. '

:10:2 - . The Board may also grant Awards to 0utsrd‘e Directors pursuant to the-terms of the Plan, including
any. Award described in- Sections.6, 7 and 9 above. With respect to such Awards, all references in the Plan to the
Committee shall be deemed to be references to the Board. . : .

Section.11. Provisions Appllcab]e T 0: Covered Officers And Performance Awards -

. 1] I Notwrthstandmg anythmg in the Plan to- the contrary, un]ess the’ Comrmttee determines that a
Performance Award to be granted to a Covered Officer should not qualify as “performance-based compensation” for
purposes of Section 162(m), Performance Awards granted to Covered Ofﬁcers shall be subject to the terms and

L

prov1srons of thls Sectron ] 1

1 1 2 The Commrttee may grant Performance: Awards to Covered Officers based solely upon the attainment
of performance: targets related to one-or more performance goals selected byithe Committee from among the goals
specified below. -For the .purposes.of this Section 11; performance goals shall be limited to one or more of the
followmg Company, Subsrdrary, operatmg unit, busmess segment or- drvrsron ﬁnancral performance rieasures:

@ ... earmngs before mterest taxes; deprecratron and/or amortrzatron

~*operat1ng1ncomezor proﬁt; s

A :';(bj
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(© operating efficiencies;
d) - retum on equrty, assets caprtal caprtal employed or mvestment ‘
ey . aﬁer tax operatmg income;.




¢3) net income;

(g) earnings or book value per Share;

(h) cash flow(s);

) total sales or revenues or sales or revenues per empldyée;
)] production (separaté work umts or SWUs);
k) stock price or total shareholder return;
)] dividends;
(m) debt reduction;
W

strategic business objectives, consisting. of one or more objectives based on meeting

specified cost targets, busmess expansion goals and: goals relatmg to acquisitions or
divestitures; or

{0) any combination thereof.

Each goal may be expressed on an absolute and/or relative basis, may be based on or otherwise employ comparisons
based on internal targets, the past performance of the Company or any Subsidiary, operating unit, business segment or
division of the Company and/or the past or current performance of other companies, and in'the case of earnings-based
measures, may use or employ comparisons relating to capital, shareholders™ equity -and/or Shares outstanding, or to
assets or net assets, The Committee may appropriately-adjust any evaluation of performance under criteria set forth
in this Section_11.2 to exclude any of the following events that occurs during a performance period: (i) asset write-
downs, (ii) litigation or claim judgments or settlements, (iii) the effect of changes in tax law, accounting principles
or other such laws or provisions affecting reported results, (iv) accruals for reorganization and restructuring
programs and (v) any extraordinary non-recurring items as described in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No.

30 and/or in management’s discussion and analysis of findncial condition and results of operations appeanng in'the
Company’s annual report to shareholders for the applicable year.

11.3  With respect to any Covered Officer, the maximum annual number of Shares in respect of -which all
Performance Awards may be granted under Section 8 of the Plan is 300,000 and the maximum amount of all

Performance Awards that are settled in cash and that may be granted under Sectign 8 of the Plan in any year is
$3,000,000. o : . v :

11.4 To the extent necessary to comply with Section 162(m), with respect to- grants of Performance
Awards, no later than 90 days following the commencement of each performance period (or such other time as may be
required. or permitted by Section 162(m)-of the Code), the Committee shall, in writing, (1) select the performance goal
or goals applicable to the performance:period, (2) establish the.various targets and bonus amounts which may be eamed
for such performance period, and {3) specify the relationship between performance goals and targets and the amounts
to be earned by each Covered .Officer.for such performance period. .Following the completion' of each performance
period, the Committee shall certify in writing whether the applicable performance targets have been achieved and the
amounts, if any, payable to Covered Officers-for such -performance period.  In determining the amount earned by a
Covered Officer for a given performance period, subject to any applicable Award Agreement, the Committee shall
have the right to reduce (but not increase) the amount payable at:a given level of performance to take into account

additional factors that the Committee may deem relevant in its sole discretion to the assessment of individual or
corporate performance for the performance period.

11.5  Unless otherwise expressly stated in the relevant Award Agreement, each Award granted to a

Covered Officer under the Plan is intended to be performance-based compensation within the meaning of Section
162(m). Accordingly, unless otherwise determined by the Committee, if any. provision of the Plan or any Award

10
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Agreement relating to such an Award does not comply or is inconsistent with Section 162(m), such provision shall
be construed or deemed amended to the extent necessary to conform to such requirements, and no provision shall be
deemed to confer upon the Committee discretion to increase the amount of compensation otherwise payable to a
Covered Officer in connection with any such Award upon the attainment of the performance criteria estabhshed by

-the Commiittee.

Section 12. Termination Of Employment.

The Committee shall have the full power and authority to determine the terms and conditions that shall apply

10 any Award upon a termination of employment with the Company, its Subsidiaries and Affiliates, including a

*fermination by the Company with or without Cause, by a Participant voluntarily, or by reason of death, Disability,
Early Retirement or Retirement, and may provide such terms and conditions in the Award Agreement or in such rules

and regulations as it may prescribe.

Section 13. Change In Control.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, unless otherwise provided in an Award Agreement or
other contractual agreement between the Company and a Participant, if, within one year following a Change in
Control, a Participant’s employment with the Company {or its successor) is terminated by reason of (a) death; (b)
disability; (c) Normal Retirement or Early Retirement; (d) for Good Reason by the Participant; or (e} involuntary
termination by the Company for any reason other than for Cause, all outstanding Awards of such Participant shall
vest, become immediately exercisable and payable and have all restrictions lifted.

Section 14. Amendment And Termination.

. 14.1  Amendments to the Plan. The Board may amend, alter, suspend, discontinue or terminate the Plan or
any portion thereof at any time; provided that no such amendment, alteration, suspension, discontinuation or
termination shall be made without shareholder approval if such approval is necessary to comply with any tax or
regulatory requirement for which or with'which the Board deems it necessary or desirable to comply.

14.2  Amendments to Awards. Subject to the restrictions of Section 6.2, the Committee inay waive any
conditions or rights under, amend any terms of or alter, suspend, discontinue, cancel or terminate, any Award
theretofore granted, prospectively or retroactively; provided that any such waiver, amendment, alteration, suspension,
discontinuance, cancellation or termination that would materially and adversely affect the rights of any Participant or
any holder or beneficiary of any Award theretofore granted shall not to that extent ‘be effective wnhout the consent of
the affected Participant, holder or beneficiary.

143 Adjustments of Awards Upon the Occurrence of Certain Unusual or Nonrecurring Events. The
Comumittee is hereby authorized to make -adjustments in the terms and- conditions of, and the criteria included in,
Awards in. recognition of unusual or nonrecurring events (including, Wwithout limitation, the events described in
Section 4.2 hereof) affecting the Company, any Subsidiary or Affiliate, or the financial statements of the Company or
any: Subsidiary or Affiliate, or of changes in applicable laws, regulations or accounting principles, whenever the
Committee determines.that such adjustments are appropriate in order to prevent d]lutlon or enlargement of the benefi ts

or potential benefits intended to be made available under the Plan

Section 15. General Provisions.

15.1  Limited Transferability of Awards. Except as-otherwise provided in the Plan, no Award shall be
assigned, alienated, pledged, attached, sold or otherwise transferred or encumbered by a Participant, except by will or
the laws of descent and distribution and/or as may be provided by the Committee in its discretion, at or after grarit, in
the Award Agreement or otherwise. No transfer of an Award by will or by laws of descent and distribution shall be
effective to bind the Company unless the Company shall -have been furnished with written notice thereof and an
authenticated copy of the will and/or such other ev1dence as the Commmee may deem necessary or approprlate to

establish the validity of the transfer..

11




15.2  Dividend Equivalents. In the sole and complete discretion of the Committee, an'Award may provide
the Participant with dividends or dividend equivalents, payable in cash, Shares, other securities or other property on a
current.or deferred basis. All dividend or dividend equivalents which are not paid currently may, at'the Committee’s
discretion, accrue interest, .be reinvested into additional Shares, -or, in-the case of dividends or dividend equivalents
credited in connection with Performance Awards, be credited as additional Performance Awards and paid to the
Participant if and when, and to the extent that, payment is made pursuant to such Award. The total number of Shares

available for grant under Section 4 shall not be reduced to reflect any.dividends or:dividend equivalents that are
reinvested into additional Shares or credited as Performance Awards.

15.3. Complzance with Section 409A of the Code. No Award (or modrﬁcatlon thereot) shall provide for
deferral of compensatron that does not comply with Section 409A of the Code unléss the Committee, at the time of
_grant, specifically provides that the Award is not intended to comply with Section 409A of the Code. Notwithstanding
any provision of this Plan to the contrary, if one or more of the payments or benefits received or to be recéived by a
Participant pursuant to an Award would cause the Participant to incur any additional tax or interest under Section 409A
of the Code, the Committee may reform such provision to maintain to the maximum extent practicable ithe original
intent of the applicable provision without violating the provisions of section 409A of the Code.

154 No Rights to Awards. No Person shall have any clalm to be granted any Award and there is no
obllgatlon for uniformity of treatment of Participants or holders. or beneficiaries of Awards. The terms and condmons
of Awards need not be the same thh respect to each Pamcrpant

15.5 Share Certificates. All‘ certificates for Shares or other securities of the Company or any Subsidiary or
Affiliate delivered under the Plan pursuant to any Award or the exercise thereof shall be subject to such stop transfer
orders and other restrictions as the Committee may deem advisable under the Plan or the rules, regulations and other
requirements of the SEC or any state securities commission or regulatory authority, any stock exchange or other market
upon which such Shares or other securities are then listed, and any applicable Federal or state laws, and the Committee
may cause a legend or legends to be put on any: such cemﬁcates to make appropnate reference to such restrictions.

15.6 Wzthholdmg A Pamc1pant may be requrred to pay to the Company or any Subsidiary or. Afﬁhate and
the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate shall have the right and is hereby authorized to withhold from any Award,
from any payment due or transfer made under any Award or under the Plan, or from any compensation or other amount
owing to a Partlclpant the amount (in cash, Shares, other securities, other -Awards’ or other property) of any applicable
w1thh01dmg or other tax-related obligations in respect of an Award, its exercise or any other transaction involving an
‘Award, or any payment or transfer under an Award or under the Plan and to take such other action as may be necessary
in the opmlon of the Company to satisfy all obligations for the payment of such taxes. The Committee may provide for

additional cash payments to holders of Options to defray or offset any tax arising from the grant, vesting, exercise or
payment of any Award.

15.7 Award Agreements.. Each Award hereunder shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement that shall
be delivered to the Participant. and may specify the terms and: conditions of the Award and any rules applicable
thereto. In the event of a conflict between the. terms of the Plan and any Award Agreement, the terms of the Plan
,shall prevaxl The Committee shall, subject to applicable law, determirie.the date an Award is deemed to be granted.
The, Commlttee or, except.to the extent prohibited under apphcable law, :its. delegate(s) may establish the terms of
agreements or other documents evidencing Awards under this Plan and may, but need not, require as a condition to
any such agreement’s or document’s effectiveness that such agreement or document be executed by the Participant,
including by electronic signature or other electronic indication of acceptance, and that such Participant agree to such
further terms and conditions as specified in such agreement or document. The grant of an Award under this Plan
shall not confer any rights.upon the: Participant holding such Award other than such terms, and subject to such
’Zcondmons as.are specified in this Plan as being applicable to such type of Award (or to all Awards) or as are

,expressly set forth in the agreement or other document evrdencmg such Award:
S 15 8 " No Ltmzt on Other Compensation Arrangemem‘s Nothlng contamed in.the: Plan shall prevent the
Company or, any Submdlary or Affiliate from adopting or continuing in effect other compensation arrangements, which

may, but need not, provide for the grant of Options, Restricted Shares, Restricted Share -Units, Other Stock-Based
Awards or other types of Awards provided for hereunder.

12
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15.9  No Right to Employment. The grant of an Award shall not be construed as giving a Participant the
right to be retained in the employ of the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate. Further, the Company or a Subsidiary
or Affiliate may at any time dismiss a Participant from employment, free from any liability or any claim under the Plan,

unless otherwise expressly provided in an Award Agreement.

1510 No Rights as Shareholder. Subject to the provisions of the Plan and the applicable Award
Agreement, no Participant or holder or beneficiary of any Award shall have any rights as a shareholder with respect to
any Shares to be distributed under the Plan until such person has become a holder of such Shares. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, in connection with each grant of Restricted Shares hereunder, the applicable Award Agreement shall specify
if and to what extent the Participant shall not be entitled to the rights of a shareholder in respect of such Restricted

Shares.

15.11  Governing Law. The validity, construction and effect of the Plan and any rules and regulations
relating to the Plan and any Award Agreement shall be determined in accordance with the laws of the State of

Delaware without giving effect to conflicts of laws principles.

15.12  Severability. 1f any provision of the Plan or any Award is, or becomes, or is deemed to be invalid,
illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction or as to any Person or Award, or would disqualify the Plan or any Award
under any law deemed applicable by the Committee, such provision shall be construed or deemed amended to conform
to the applicable laws, or if it cannot be construed or deemed amended without, in the determination of the Committee,
materially altering the intent of the Plan or the Award, such provision shall be stricken as to such jurnisdiction, Person or
Award and the remainder of the Plan and any such Award shall remain in full force and effect.

15.13  Other Laws. The Committee may refuse to issue or transfer any Shares or other consideration under
an Award if, acting in its sole discretion, it determines that the issuance or transfer of such Shares or such. other
consideration might violate any applicable law or regulation (including applicable non-U.S. laws or regulations) or
entitle the Company to recover the same under Exchange Act Section 16(b), and any payment tendered to the Company
by a Participant, other holder or beneficiary in connection with the exercise of such Award shall be promptly refunded

to the relevant Participant, holder or beneficiary.

I

15.14  No Trust or Fund Created. Neither the Plan nor any Award shall create or be construed to create a
trust or separate fund of any kind or a fiduciary relationship between the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate and a
Participant or any other Person. To the extent that any Person acquires a right to receive payments from the Company
or any Subsidiary or Affiliate pursuant to an Award, such right shall be no greater than the right of any unsecured

general creditor of the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate.

15.15 No Fractional Shares. No fractional Shares shall be issued or delivered pursuant to the Plan or any
Award, and the Committee shall determine whether cash, other securities or other property shall be paid or transferred
in lieu of any fractional Shares or whether such fractional Shares or any rights thereto shall be canceled, terminated or

otherwise eliminated.

15.16 Headings. Headings are given to the sections and subsections of the Plan solely as a convenience to

facilitate reference. Such headings shall not be deemed in any way material or relevant to the construction or

interpretation of the Plan or any provision thereof.

Section 16, Term Of The Plan.
, 2006 provided it has been

16.1  Effective Date. The Plan shall be effective as of
approved by the Board and by the Company’s shareholders.

16.2  Expiration Date. No new Awards shall be granted under the Plan after the tenth (10™) anniversary of
the Effective Date. Unless otherwise expressly provided in the Plan or in an applicable Award Agreement, any Award
granted hereunder may, and the authority of the Board or the Committee to amend, alter, adjust, suspend, discontinue
or terminate any such Award or to waive any conditions or rights under any such Award shall, continue after the tenth

(10™) anniversary of the Effective Date.
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EXHIBIT B

LUMINEX CORPORATION
2006 Management Stock Purchase Plan

1. Purposes; Construction.

This Plan shall be known as the “Luminex 2006 Management Stock Purchase Plan” and is hereinafter referred to as
the “Plan.” The purposes of the Plan are to attract and retain highly-qualified executives, to align executive and
stockholder long-term interests by creating a direct link between executive compensation and stockholder return, to
enable executives to develop and maintain a substantial equity-based interest in Luminex Corporation (the
“Company”), and to provide incentives to such executives to contribute to the success of the Company’s business.
The provisions of the Plan are intended to satisfy the requirements of Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended from time to time (the “Exchange Act”), and shall be interpreted in a manner consistent with
the requirements thereof, as now or hereafter construed, interpreted and applied by regulation, rulings and cases.

The terms of the Plan shall be as set forth below.

2. Administration of the Plan.

(@)

(®)

(©

The Plan shall be administered by the Compensatlon Commlttee (the “Committee”) which
consists of two ‘or more directors of the Company, each of whom shall (i) meet the independence
requirements of the Nasdaq National Market, (ii) be a “non-employee director” for purposes of
Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder, and (jii)
be an “outside director” for purposes of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and
the regulations thereunder. The members of the Committee shall be appointed by and serve at the

pleasure of the Board of Directors.’

The Committee shall have plenary authority in its discretion, but subject to the express provisions
of the Plan, to administer the Plan and to exercise all the powers and authorities either specifically
granted to it under the Plan or necessary or advisable in the administration of the Plan, including,
without limitation, to interpret the Plan, to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations
relating to the Plan, to determine the terms and provisions of the Agreements (which need not be
identical) and to make all other determinations deemed necessary or advisable for the
administration. of the Plan. The Committee’s determinations on the foregomg matters shall be

final and conclusive.

No member of the Board or the Committee shall be liable for any action taken or detérmination
made in good faith with respect to the Plan or any grant hereunder. :

3. Definitions.

As used in this Plan,‘ the following‘words' and phrasés shall have the meanings indicated:

GV

(b)
(c)

“Agreement” shall mean an agreement entered into between the Company and a Participant in

connection with a grant under the Plan.
“Board ” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company.

“Annual Bonus” shall mean the bonus earned by a Participant as determmed by the Committee

. with respect to each year..
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“Cause” shall mean the Participant’s fraud, embezzlement, defalcation, gross negligence in the
performance or nonperformance of the Participant’s duties or failure or refusal to perform the

Participant’s duties (other than as a result of Dlsablllty) at any time while in the employ of the
Company or a Subsxdxary

“Code” shall mean the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

“Committee” shall mean the Compensation Committee of the Board.

- “Company” shall mean Luminex 'Corporation, ‘a Delaware “corporation, or any successor

'cdrporation. :

“Disability” shall mean a Pammpant s total and permanent mablhty to perform his or her dutles

with the'Company or any Subsndlary by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental
lmpamnent w1thm the meanmg of Code Sectlon 22(6)(3)

“Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time
and as now or hereafter construed, interpreted and applied by regulations, rulings and cases.

“Fair Market Value” per Share, Restricted Share or Restrictéd Share Unit shall mean the closing
price on the Nasdaq National Market (or its equivalent if the Shares are not traded on the Nasdaq

National Market) of a Share for the relevant valuatlon date (or next precedmg trading day, if such
valuatlon date is not a tradlng day)

) “Panicipant’f shall mean a person who receiifes a grant of Rcsvt'rivc‘:ted Shares under the Plan.

“Partici‘pa.ting* Subsidiary” shall mean any Subsidiary that is designated by the Committee or
Board to be a participating employer under the Plan.

“Plan” shall mean the Luminex Corporatton 2006 Management Stock Purchase Plan, as in effect
from time to tlme ‘ ‘

Vf‘Restr.icted Period” shall haVé the, meaning given in ‘Section 6(b') heréof.

“Restricted Sharc ‘or “Restricted Shares shall mean the common “stock purchased hereunder

subject to restrictions.

“Restricted Share Unit” or “Restricted Share Units” shall have the meanmg given in Section 6(e)
hereof.

“Rule 16b-3” shall mean Rule 16b-3, as in effect from time to time, promulgated by"’the Securities

and Exchange (‘ommxssmn under Secnon 16 of the Exchange Act, mcludmg any successor to such
Rule. g T

“Section- 16 Person” shall mean a-Participant who is subject to the reportmg and short-swing
liability provisions of Section 16 of the Exchangé'Act. :

“Shares” shall mean the voting shares of common stock of the Company, with a par value of $.01
per share.

“Subsidiary” shall mean any subsidiary of the Company {whether or not a subsidiary as of the date
the Plan is adopted).

PR
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4. Stock: Qublect to Plan.

The maximum number of Shares which shall be distributed as Restricted Shares under the-Plan shall be 500 000
Shares, which number shall be subject to adjustment as provided in Section 8 hereof. Such Shares may be either
authorized but unissued Shares or Shares that have been or may be reacquired by the Company.

If any outstanding Restricted Shares under the Plan shall be forfeited and reacquired by the Comipany, or withheld to
satisfy federal or state tax or withholding obligations, the Shares:so forfeited or w1thhe1d shall (unless the Plan shall

N4

. have been terminated) again become avallable for use under the Plan.

5. Eligibilig/_.
All officers of the Company and each.Participating Subsidiary shall be eligible to bécome Pai'tik:ipants in the Plan.

Each Participant may elect to receive, in lieu of a:specified portion of his or her Annual Bonus, a number of
Restricted Shares equal to the amount of such.specified portion of the Annual Bonus divided by a dollar amount
equal to 80% of the Fair Market Value of.a Share on the date on which such Restricted Shares are granted. The
Annual:Bonus payable to the Participant-in ¢ash shall be reduced by the designated portion. Any such election shall
be effective beginning with the bonus payable with respect to the first calendar year next following the calendar year
in which such election is made (and shall become irrevocable on December 31 of the calendar year in which it is
made). Any cancellation of, or other change: in, any such bonus reduction election: shall: become effective as of the
first calendar year next following the calendar year in which notice of such cancellation or change is filed (and any
such notice shall become irrevocable on December 31 of the calendar year in which it is filed).” Restricted Shares
shall be granted in respect of such bonus reducticns by March 15 of each calendar year-or as soon as practicable

following the Committee’s determination of the Annual Bonus earned.

In the -event that a Participant who has éleeted a bonus- reduction ‘hereunder‘shall*terminate employment before
Restricted Shares are granted in respect of such bonus reduction, .any ‘bonus to which the Participant would
otherwise. be entitled shall be paid to the Participant consistent with the:Company’s bonus payment practices and

any contractual provisions between the Participant and the Company.

6. Restricted Shares.

Each grant of Restricted Shares under the Plan shall be evidenced by a written Agreement between the Company
and Participant, which shall be in such form as the Committee shall from time to time approve and shall comply
with the following terms and conditions (and with-such other terms and conditions not inconsistent with such terms

as the Committee, in its discretion, may establish):

(a) Number of Shares. Each Agreement shall state the number of Restncted Shares to be granted

thereunder.

(b) Restricted Period. = Subject to such exceptions as may be determined by the Committee in its
discretion, the Restricted Period for Restricted Shares granted under the:Plan shall be three (3)

years from the date of grant.

(c) Ownership and Restrictions. At the time of grant of Restricted Shares, a certificate representing
the number of Restricted Shares granted shall be registered in the name of the Participant. Such
certificate shall be held by the Company or any custodian appointed by the Company for the

“account of the Participant subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, and shall bear such
legend setting forth the restrictions 1mposed thereon as the Committee, 'in .its discretion, may
determine. ‘The Participant shall have all rights of a stockholder with respect to such Restricted
Shares, including the right to receive dividends and the right to vote such Restricted Shares,
subject to the following restrictions: (i) the Participant shall not be entitled to delivery of the stock
certificate until the expiration of the Restricted Period and the fulfillment of any other restrictive
conditions set forth in this Plan or the Agreement with respect to such Restricted Shares; (i1) none




(d)

of the Restricted Shares may be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged, hypothecated. or-otherwise
encumbered or disposed of (except by will or the applicable laws of descent and distribution)
during such Restricted Period or until after the fulfillment of any such other restrictive conditions;
and (ii1) except as otherwise determined by the Committee, all of the Restricted Shares shall be
forfeited and all rights of the Participant to such Restricted Shares shall terminate, without further
obligation on the part of the Company, unless the Participant remains in the continuous
employment of the Company or any subsidiaries for.the entire Restricted Period and unless any
other restrictive conditions relating to-the Restricted Shares are met. Any common stock, any
other securities of the Company and any other. property (except cash dividends) distributed with
respect to the Restricted Shares shall be subject to the same restrictions, terms and conditions as
such Restricted Shares.

Termination of Restrictions. At the end: of the Restricted Period and provided that any other
restrictive conditions of the Restricted Shares are met, or at such earlier time as shall be
determined by the Committee, all restrictions.set forth in the Agreement relating to the Restricted
Shares or in the Plan shall lapse as to the Restricted Shares subject thereto, and a stock certificate
for the appropriate number of Shares, free of the Testrictions and restrictive stock legend (other
than as required under the Securities Act of 1933 .or.otherwise), shall be delivered to- the
Pamcxpam or his or her beneficiary or estate, as the case may be.

Restr.icted Share Units. Notwithstanding anything elsewhere in the Plan to the contrary, if
during the Restricted Period relating to a Participant’s Restricted Shares the Committee shall
determine that the Company may lose its Federal income tax deduction in connection with the
future lapsing of the restrictions on such-Restricted Shares because of the deductibility cap of
section 162(m) of the Code, the Committee, in its discretion, may convert some or all of such
Restricted Shares into an equal number of Restricted Share Units, as to which payment will be
postponed until such time as the Company will not lose its Federal income tax deduction for such
payment ‘under section 162(m). Until payment of the Restricted Share Units is made, the
Participant will be credited with-dividend equivalents on'the Restricted Share Units, which
dividend equivalents will be converted into additional Restricted Share Units. When payment of
any Restricted Share Units is made, it will be in the same form as would apply if the Participant
were then holding Restricted Shares instead of Restricted Share Units.

7. Termination of Employment.

The.following rules shall apply, in'the event of a Participant's termination of employment with the Company and its
Subsidiaries, with respect to Restricted Shares held by the Participant at the time of such termination:

(a)

Termination of Employment During Restricted Period. Except as provided herein, if during
the Restricted Period for any Restricted Shares held by a Participant the Participant’s employment
is terminated either (i) for Cause by the Company or a Subsidiary or (ii) for any reason by the
Participant, the Participant shall forfeit all rights with respect to such Restricted Shares, which
shall automatically be considered to be cancelled, and shall have only an unfunded right to receive
from the Company's general assets a cash payment equal to the lesser of (i) the Fair Market Value
of such Restricted Shares on the Participant's last day of employment or (1i) the aggregate Annual
Bonus amounts foregone by the Participant as a condition of receiving such Restricted Shares.

Except as otherwise provided herein, if a Participant's employment is terminated by the Company
or a Subsidiary without Cause during the Restricted Period for any Restricted Shares held by the
Participant, the Participant shall forfeit all rights with respect to such Restricted Shares, which
shall automatically be considered to be cancelled, and shall have only an unfunded right to receive
from the Company's general assets a cash. payment equal to either (i) the Fair Market Value of
such Restricted Shares on the Participant's last day of employment or (i1) the aggregate Annual
Bonus amounts or aggregate amount of salary (as the case may be) foregone by the Participant as
a condition of receiving such Restricted Shares, with the Committee to have the sole discretion as
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to which of such amounts shall be payable: _Thé Committee shall be considered to have delegated
its authority to determine the amount of payment pursuant to this Section 7(a) Paragraph 2 to the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company'as it relates to Non-Section 16 Persons, which authority

is revocable at any time.

If the employment of a Participant holding Restricted Share Units terminates during the Restricted
Period relating to such. Restricted Share. Units, they. shall be treated in a manner substantially
equivalent to the treatment of Restricted Shares set forth above. - : :

(b) Accelerated Lapse of Restrictions. Upon a termination of employment which results from a
Participant’s death or Disability, all restrictions then outstanding with respect to Restricted Shares
held by such Participant shall automatically expire and be of no further force and effect.

(©) Retirement of Participant. ‘Upon the retirement of a Participant, the Committee shall determine,
in its discretion, whether all restrictions then' outstanding with respect to Restricted Shares held by
the Participant shall expire or the Participant shall instead be treated as though the Participant's
employment had been terminated by the Company without Cause, as described above.

8. Dilution and Other Adjustments.

In the event of any merger, reorganization, consolidation, recapitalization, stock dividend, stock split, or other
change in corporate structure affecting the Shares, such substitution or adjustment shall be made in the aggregate
number of Shares that may be distributed as Restricted Shares under the Plan and the number of Restricted Shares
outstanding under the Plan as may be determined to be appropriate by the Committee in its sole discretion; provided,
however, that the number of Shares thus subject to the Plan shall always be a whole number.

9. Payment of Withholding and Pavyroll Taxes.

Subject to the requirements of Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act, the Committee shall have discretion to permit or
require a Participant, on such terms and conditions as it determines, to pay all or a portion of any taxes arising in
connection with a grant of Restricted Shares hereunder, or the lapse of restrictions with respect thereto, by having
the Company withhold Shares or by the Participant’s delivering other Shares having a then-current Fair Market
Value equal to the amount of taxes to be withheld. In the absence of such withholding or delivery of Shares, the
Company shall otherwise withhold from any payment under the Plan all amounts required by law to be withheld.

10. Coordination with 2006 Equity Incentive Plan.

In the event a Participant’s Annual Bonus has been designated under the Performance Award provisions of the
Company’s 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, the maximum amount of such Participant’s Annual Bonus that may be used
to purchase Restricted Shares under the Plan is $2,000,000 and the maximum number of Restricted Shares that may

be purchased by the Participant in any one year is 50,000.

11. No Rights to Employment.

Nothing in the Plan or in any grant made or Agreement entered into pursuant hereto shall confer upon any
Participant the right to continue in the employ of the Company or any Subsidiary or to be entitled to any
remuneration or benefits not set forth in the Plan or such Agreement, or interfere with, or limit in any way, the right
of the Company or any Subsidiary to terminate such Participant’s employment. Grants made under the Plan shall
not be affected by any change in duties or position of a Participant as long as such Participant continues to be

employed by th_e Company or a Subsidiary.

12. Amendment and Termination of the Plan.

The Board, at any time and from time to time, may suspend, terminate, modify or amend the Plan; provided,
however, that an amendment which requires stockholder approval for the Plan to continue to comply with any law,




regulation .or : stock -exchange requirement-shall, not-:be -effective -unless approved .by ‘the requisite vote of
stockhold

ers. :No suspension, termination, modification; 6r amendment of the Plan may adversely affect any grants
previously made, unless the written consent of the Participant;is-obtained. : -

13. Term of the Plan.
The Plan shz;llzjténn-inate:te‘n:years from:-the Effective‘.D‘ate"(as defined below). “No‘other grants may be made after

such termination, but termination of the . Plan- shall ndt, “without ‘the consent ‘of any Participant who then holds
Restricted Shares or to whom Restricted Share Units are then credited,

alter or impair any rights or obligations in
respect of such Restricted Sha.r.?s or Restricted Share Units. . "o <o - NS :
14. Governing Law.

The Plan and the rights of all persons claiming hereunder.shall be construed.and determined in accordance with the
laws of the State of Delaware without giving effect to the choice. of law principles thereof, except to the extent that
such laws are preempted by Federal law. . .0 v 0 Lo oo

The Plan shall be efféétivé, subject to JB‘éérd a.n‘d" stéckﬁolder.vépprdval.,‘ as Vof , 2006 (the “Effective
Date”). . C e s
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Safe Harbor Cautionary Statement

This annual réport on Form 10-K contains statements that are forward-looking statements as defined within the
meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A of the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended. Forward-looking statements give our current expectations of forecasts of future events, All
statements other than statements of current or historical fact contained in this annual report, including statements
regarding our future financial position, business strategy, budgets, projected costs, and plans and objectives of
management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,”
“estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “projects,” “will,” and similar expressions, as they relate to us, are
intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are based on our current plans and actual future
activities, and our results of operations may be materially different from those set forth in the forward-looking
statements as a result of known or unknown risks and uncertainties, including, among other things:

bIRT3

risks and uncertainties relating to market demand and acceptance of our products and technology,
dependence on strategic partners for development, commercialization and distribution of products,
fluctuations in quarterly results due to a lengthy and unpredictable sales cycle,

our ability to scale manufacturing operations and manage operating expenses, gross margins and inventory
levels, ’

e potential shortages of components,

.




competition,

the timing of regulatory approvals,

the implementation, and any modification, of the Company s strategic operatmg plans, and
the potential adverse outcome of any pendmg or futiire lifigation against or by our Company.

Any or all of our forward-looking statements in this annual report may turn out to be inaccurate. We have based
these-forward-looking statements largely on-our current expectations and projections about future events and o
financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy and
financial needs. They can be affected by inaccurate assumptions we might make or by known or unknown'rlsks ’ ?
uncertainties and assumptions;, including the nsks uncertainties and assumptions outlmed above and descnbed in’

Item TA “Risk Factors” below. -

In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events and mrcumstances drscussed in"
this annual report may not occur and actual results could differ materially from those antlclpated of 1mplred in the”
forward-looking statements. When you consider these forward-looking statemients, you should keep in mind these
risk factors and other cautionary statements in this annual report, including in Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and in Item 1A “Risk Factors.” :

Our forward-looking statements speak only as of the date made. We undertake no obligation to publicly update
or revise forward-looking $tatements, whether as a result of new information, future - events or otherwise; All
subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalfare ;-
expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained in this annual report. -

Luminex® and xMAP® are trademarks of Luminex Corporatron This report also refers to trademarks service
marks and trade names of other organizations.
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e  PARTI
ITEM I, BUSINESS

Overview EER

Luminex Corporation develops manufactures and sells proprretary brologlcal testing technologres w1th
applications ‘throughout the 'life sciences”industry. Ouir:xMAP® “technology; -an open architecture,’ ‘multiplexing.
technology, allows simultaneous analysis of up to 100 b1oassays on a small sample volume, typically a single, drop
of fluid by reading b1olog1cal tests on the surface of's microscopic polystyrene beads called ‘microspheres: s MAP
technology combines' this miniaturized liquid array bioassay. capability with small lasers, digital signal processors
and proprietary software to create a system offermg advantages in speed precrsron flexibility and cost. Our xMAP
technology is currently bemg used within various. segients’ of the life sciences ‘industry which includes the field§ of
drug discovery and development clrnrcal d1agnost1cs genet1c analysrs blo defense protein analysis and biomedical
research. Our products are described below under “Products.” The life sciences industry depends-on a broad range
of tests, called bioassays, to, perform dragnostrc tests, discover and develop new drugs and identify genes. .

Luminex was incorporated under the laws of the State of Texas in May 1995 and began commercial production
of our Luminex 100, System in1999. We were reincorporated in;the State of Delaware in July.2000, Our,shares of
common stock aré traded on The Nasdaq Stock Market under the- symbol “LMNX.” Our principal executive offices
are located at 12212 Technology Blvd., Austin, Texas 78727, and our telephone number is (512) 219-8020. Our
website address is www.luminexcorp.com. Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form lO-Q,
Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to;Section 13(a) or-15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, are available free of charge through our website as soon as reasonably
practicable after such matérial‘is’ electronrcally filed With; or ‘furnished to, the Securitiés and Exchange Comimission.
Information contained on our websité 1§ not 1ncorporated by reference inté this: report and 'such information should
not be considered to be part of’ this report except as expressly 1ncorporated herein. “The public’may read and copy
these materials at the SEC’s ‘public reference room at"100 F Street; N°E.; Washingtoi, D.C. 20949 or on the SEC’ S
website at http://www.sec.gov. Questions regarding the public reference room may be directed to- the SEC at 800-
732-0330.

Industry Background

The life sciences mdustry uses bloassays to detect the presence of certam brochemrcals protems ot nucleic acid
in a sample Drug discovery, genietic’ analysrs pharmacogenomrcs clmlcal d1agnost1cs and general blomedrcal
research all use bioassays. For example, broassays can be used to:"

)

- measure the attraction, or affinity, between a chemical compound and a disease target for drug, drscovery and
development;

- ' assrst physrcrans in prescnbrng the approprratetarlored drug therapy based on the patlent s unlque genetlc
makeup, a process known as pharmacogeneﬁcs

- detect genetic variations, such as single nucle0t1de polymorphisms; and

- measure the presence and quantity of biochemicals in a patient’s blood, other body fluid or tissie to assist
. physrclans in, dragnosrng treat1ng or momtonng d1sease condmons

The life scictices user either purchases bioassays in the form of off the- shelf Kits, develops them’ mtemally ot utilizes
a customized service to meet their specrﬁc needs. Although it is‘important’tc- note-that our xXMAP*téchnology is
relevant to only a subset of the total life sciences market, industry reports estimated the total global market for tools
and consumables used in drug discovery and development, clinical diagnostics and biomedical research to have been
approximately $43 billion in.2005 and is expected.to grow at an_annual rate of approximately 6%. Based on
estimates contained in our strategrc consultmg study that was updated in 2006 the key segments we are focused on
represent a market of approxrmately $3.2 blllron 1n end-user sales w1th an antrcrpated annual growth rate of
approximately 15%. .
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The table below briefly describes the key bioassay technolog1es in the life sciences industry:

KEY TECHNOLOGIES DESCRIPTION MARKETS SERVED
BioChips/MiCroarrays ........cc.ecee. High-density arrays of DNA fragments or Blomedlcal research and select
proteins attached to a flat glass or silicon clinical diagnostics - . :
surface :

Immunoassays

ot A

T I
- Physrcal separatrortof analytes for.
.v1suahzat10n ’ .

Gels and blots

R‘eal-t‘imePCR X ) ;Quant1tat1ve tests wh h monif it
A ' - _of polymerase ¢ chamr actio (PCR) ;unng the dlagno i d Biomedi
X "‘ampl1ﬁcat1on reactron 1nstead 05t research. o

Microﬂuidics’chips‘....'.."r‘;....f.‘..'...i‘:.-'. Miniaturized lighid handlmg'syste"‘r’r‘i“oﬁi’f : Blomed1cal résedrch’

a chrp

SEO AP L

Diug discovery, Clinical * 7
‘dlagnostlcs and blomedrcal
research RIS

‘Mlcrotrter-plate based assays ...... '.""'Plastrc trays wrth dlserete wells in wh
: ‘-assays are ﬁxed o T B

Our xMAPTechnology - ;~ SRR )-. R ‘ ;

Our xMAP technology comblnes ex1st1ng blologrcal testlng techmques wrth advanced d1g1tal 31gnal processmg
and _proprietary. software..-With our, technology, discrete bioassays. are- perforrned'on the surface of color-coded
mlcrospheres These mlcrospheres are.read in.a. compact analyzer, that, utlhzes lasers, and. hlgh speed dlgltal s1gna1
processing {0 s1multaneously 1dent1fy the bloassay and measure the_results The key features of xMAP technology
include the following: -

PR

- Multi-analyte/multi- -format

 xMAP technology has been designed to simultaneousty perform up to 100 distinct bioassays in a smgle tube or
well of a microtiter plate usmg only a small amount of sample Moreover, unllke most exrstmg technolog1es that
"~ are dedicated to only one type of bioassay, xMAP can perform multlple types of assays 1nclud1ng enzymatlc
genetic and immunologic tests on the same instrumentation platform. =~ ~

- Flex1b1hty/scalab1hty

TR

. XMAP technology allows, flexibility in_customizing. test panels. Panels can be modrﬁed to 1nclude new
' bioassays in the same tube by adding additional microsphers is 2
change in the manufacturing process and only mlnlmal changes to the requlred labor to produce a small 6r large
number of microsphere-based tests. - . . .o Dgn

P SRS FAE S B SO

-, .-Throughput .

PN B f.' WU

Our technology is currently able to perform up to 100 tests ina smgle tube perrnlttmg up to’ 9, 600 unatterided
tests to be detected-in, less. than an hour with only a small amount, of sample. Rapnd sample analysis permits
efﬁc1ent use for hlgh throughput apphcatrons . < : . .

o Ease of use

‘Most xXMAP bloassays are simple to' perform A tes sample is added to'd solutlon conta1n1ng mlcrospheres ‘that
“have been coated with reagents The solution’is then processed through' our KMAP technology system whrch
incorporates propnetary software to’ ditomate data acquisition and- analysis in real-time” ~ 7, Co
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- 'wCost effective. + - -

We have desrgned our xMAP technology to be cost effectrve for customers compared to competrtrve techmques
such as rrucroarrays or enzyme-linked immunosorbent.assay (ELISA) In-addition, microsphere-based bioassays
are mexpensrve compared to other technologres such as biochips. . : :

somp iR s

Polystyrene microspheres, approximately 5.6 microns in diameter, are a fundamental component of the xXMAP
technology. We purchase and manufacture microspheres and, in a proprietary, process, dye them with varying
intensities of a red and a near infrared dye to achieve up to 100 distinct colors. The specific dye proportions permit
each: color-coded microspliere: to. be:readily identified based :on its.distinctive fluorescent signature.’ Our customers
create - bioassays ‘by..attaching: different:-biochemical reactants to each- distinctly..colored microsphere.-set. The
microsphere sets can then be:combined in:test panels as required by the user; wrth a current maximum of: 100 tests
per panel. : S P A :

To perform a bioassay using xMAP technology, a researcher attaches biochemicals, or-reagents; to one or.more
sets of color-coded: microspheres, which are then mixed with a test sample. This mixture is injected into the xMAP
analyzer, where the microspherés ‘pass single-file in a fluid stream through' two:laser beams. The first lasér excites
the internal dyés that are used fo identify the eolor of the microsphere and the test being-performed on the sutface of
the microsphere. The second laser excites'a fluorescent dye captured on the suirfaceof the mlcrospheres that is used
to quantrfy the result -of the: bloassay taklng place. ‘Our proprietary optics, digital ‘signal processors‘and software
record the flucrescent signaturé ‘of éach microsphére and compare the results to the known identity of that ‘¢olor-
coded “‘microsphere set. The: results are analyzed and dlsplayed in real ttme w1th data stored on the computer
database for reference evaluatlon and analysrs : o s :

BusmessStrategy ERERY Co e o Tt e S

Our prlmary goal contmues to, be the estabhshment of our xMAP technology as the mdustry standard for
performmg bioassays by transformmg Luminex :from . a .technology-based company to a more-. market-driven;
customer-focused company. To achieve this goal, we have implemented and are pursuing the following strategies:

- Focus on key market segments

W the sprmg of 2003 we completed a strateglc study usrng ‘the servrces of a consultmg firm wrth extensrve
"experrence in the life sciences mdustry In December 2005, we. comm1ssroned the same consultmg firm to
update and validate the data generated in the original study The results of both studies provrded valuable
information regarding market opportunities and market size for key segments in which we believe the Company
has distinct competitive advantages over existing and emerging technologtes The key market segments
identified as a result of our studies were (i) profile oriented screening and secondary screening, (ii)-RNA
profiling and transcriptional screening, (iii) genetic disease and molecular infectious disease testing, and (iv)
~ immunodiaghosties. -Additionally, we: have identified three.othér’ potential:segment: opporturiitiés that-include

“bie-defense, cell signaling'and-Ag/Bio. We have dedicated our primary efforts towards: these markets ‘and:will

- continue-to. employ a partnership driven business model focused on these key segments and selectrvely pursue
:opportunmes for mcremental revenue.in other segments- - : : ‘

" We w1ll contmue to focus our commercrahzatlon efforts through strateglc partners on. large sectors of the hfe
sciences industry where Luminex believes it has distinct competitive advantages over existing and emerging
technologies.- We'define stratégic .partners. as.companies in the life: sciences. industry.-that either develop and

- . distribute ;assays.and tests.onxMAP technology .or-may. only distribute. our xMAP: technology systems - -and
. consumables.. . With. our partners’ support;: we' have. targeted major:pharmaceutical companies, large :clinical
~ laboratories, research institutions. and major medical institutions.for-our prin¢ipal marketing efforts.: We believe

« thes€ customers provide the greatest opportunity for thaximizing the use:of XMAP technology and that continued
adoption by these industry leaders will promote wider market acceptance of our xMAP technology. -

Contmue to develop strateglc partnersh1ps that are focused on our: key market segments ‘

Currently, we have 24. strateglc partners who have released. commercrahzed reagent based products
- utilizing' the Luminex' platform’ and are submrttmg royalties. . These 24 strategic partners accounted.for
approximately 81% of our total revenue in 2005 and all of our strategic partners represented 90% of our
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total revenue. We intend to seek to broaden and accelerate market acceptance of xMAP technology-through
development, marketing and distribution partnerships with leaders in the life sciences industry that we
" “believe canconvert ‘core product lines to our technology ‘and-develop’ new applications on the Lufminex
- “platfornt within their key ‘segments” By leverdging our- strategi¢ partnets® miarket positions’and ' utilizing
their distribution channels and marketing infrastructire, wé bélicve we’ can ¢éntiniue 1o’ expaiid ouf installed

base.

=7 Devel p"’next'generation~prbdu§’ts' TR
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#:+ ‘Qur:research and development group is ;pursuingprojects such asithe ’d‘evelopment‘of:consumables,‘autOmati’on,
=i -softwareand expansion'and:enhancement- of: our multiplexing “capabilities. to advance:our- XMAP: ‘technology:
" xWeiare also collaborating with industry -participants, biomedica{gresearchvinstitutions'and:”govenun’ent entities-to

develop additional XMAP products. it ‘

- :.-Focus on content:strategy and customernéeds: - D S FUNT TR TRV PO ST S
- ;We are :focused -on -maximizing. the value. that we-provide to our partners and:end. user,.customers by co-
- developing with-our partners specific content :applications based, on. their customer needs and providing assay
- .products directly to-end users in niche segments that will not compete with our existing partners. - We, continue.to
- believe that by enhancing our partner driven model with, the delivery.of value-added.content, Luminex should be
.. -able to, gain greater, control over product development and commercialization: Through the: Luminex Bioscie,nqe
. - Group, .we will develop.a specific.customer needs: analysis; focused -on the. testing. needs.of the end user.- This
analysis will include current assay usage and needs as well as expected future, assay needs, -and the :predicted
sales and profit generated from each assay. Based on this analysis, Luminex will develop a detailed assay
development program, guided by the value that can be generated by each assay. We believe -a focused content
strategy will allow Luminex to deliver increased value to our partners, customers and our shareholders resulting
© from-greater usage per system-attributablé t6 developriient-of the internal capability to design afid'build assay
¢ “contént; there Dy delivering inéréased value to our partners and the?’end—user.'*"“ Hlel e et ey
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- Opporruniétically pursue acquisitions that could accelerate these stra;tegies

. footprint in the marketplace.  We are looking for opportunities that will enharice’ our capabilities; particularly in
... science, and our ability to develop those p‘_r,(jduct_sv‘d‘gamaﬁ'c‘l’edl'by the marketplace.” Lo

O <

We are forming a strategy to. pursue acquisition targets that are consistent with our goal of expanding our
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»..: Luminex:100: and 200. The Luminex 100-and-200 are:compact-.analyzers’ that integrate fluidics, optics..and
digital signal processing to.perform ip to: 100 bioassays-simultaneously in-aisingle: tube or. well of a microtiter plate
using-only ‘a- small:amount -of sample:.-By. combining small - diode -lasers with digital signal processors ‘and
microcontrollers, these systems perform rapid, multi-analyte :profiles under: the ‘control of a Windows®:based
personal computer and our proprietary software. The Luminex 200 is Luminex’s newest instrument and offers
enhanééd<‘¢ase;of-u§e=aﬁd's‘ervi"c'eability}.' e o E e e L e

+7= Wealso offer two peripheral ‘components for. the ‘Luminex:systems = the XY: Platform and the Luminex. Sheath
Delivery System'(Luminex SD). The XY Platform complements the Luminex systems: by automating the sequential
positioning of each well of a:microtiter plate, permitting up to 9,600 unattended tests per plate’to be performed in
less than ‘an houit: - The Luminex SD ‘i3 a pressurized, external pump-delivery system-that enhances the delivery of
sheath-fluid to the Luminex systéms by :pumping sheath fluid from an-external bulk:reservoir, enabling the Luminex

systems to operate:for up:to 24 hours without switching to:a-new reservoir of sheath fluid. + - -.., « . e

Luminex HTS™ (High-Throughput..System). The.. customized, high-throughput version. of our xMAP
analyzer, the Luminex HTS, is interfaced with an automated liquid handler which allows for walk-away capability.
The!Luminex-HTSutilizes a high pressure flow system, which produces a:flaw. rate approximately:ten-times greater
than. the:flow. rate. of the' Luminex 100 or 200::The Luminex HTS:can: also be-connected to robotic. systems that




deliver-both.96:-and 384 well plates.allowing:integration. into automated:test centers. ‘The Luminex HTS was- market
released: m the second half of 2003 Because of the customrzed nature of the Luminex HTS it is built to order

;; Total 1nstrument revenue for. 2005 2004 and 2003 was $18 "jmrlhon $190 mrlhon and $156 mrlhon
respectlvely, or 44%, 3% and: f59% of total revenue, respectlvely o : . i

Consumables ‘

.,Microspheres. . Our xMAP : Systems; .use- polystyrene ‘microspheres that are approximately, 5.6, microns in
drameter We dye the m1crospheres in sets thh -varying intensities of a red. and-a near infrared. dye. to achleve up to
100 distinct color sets. Each microsphere can carry the reagents "of an enzymatic, genetic or 1mmunologrc bioassay.
In addition to mrcrospheres consumables from Luminex aiso include sheath fluid. Additional consumables;: for
which Lummex recerves a royalty, in the form of reagent krts are developed and drstnbuted by our partners

e .
FlexMAP mlcrospheres ’I‘hese rmcrospheres are lmked to a seb of 100 iproprietary nuclerc acrd capture
sequences providing a‘‘universal array” for DNA: and RNA work: :They -are:désigned-for conducting :genotyping
and other nucleic acid-based experiments-in the:life sciences markéts.;When. used in conjunction with-our Laminex
systems, the FlexMAP microspheres. are: designed:ito .simplify. .the. genotyping .assay. development. process- and
increase assay . flexibility. The: FlexMAP" microspheres, miay be used’in:custofnized erd-user 1dent1ﬁed smgle
nucleotlde polymorphzsms (SNPs) orin pre deﬁned kits. developed by our. strategrc partners S e : (

Lummex SeroMAP mlcrospheres Mrcrospheres de51gned for specrﬁc protem based serologlcal apphcatrons
Certain Luminex partners use this product for enriched sensitivity in serum-based assaysy i . el

Calibration and Control microspheres. Calibration microspheres are microspheres of known. fluorescent light
intensities used to calibrate the settings for the classification and reporter channel for the Luminex systems. Control
microspheres are microspheres:that are-used to verify the cahbrahon and optrcal 1ntegnty for both the: classrﬁcatron
and reporter channels for. the Lummex 160 and 200 systems A . : TS I T :

‘ Total consumable revenue for the years ended December 31 2005 2004 and 2003 was. $l3 1 mllhon :$9O
million and $6.1 million, respectively; or 31%, 25% and 23% of total revenue, respectrvely Addmonally, our
partners reported approximately $86 million and $52 million of royalty bearing consumable sales:during 2005 .and
2004 respectively, resulting in $5.3 mrlhon and $3 2 mrllron of royalty revenue for the years ended December 31,
2005 and 2004 respectrvely RERE i g T
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LXR. For paxtners 1nterested in developmg custom software app ‘catrons based on xMAP technology, we offer
the LXR Software Developer s Kit (SDK).,-This SDK _provides a-software interface for readmg xMAP based. assays
on Luminex hardware, and allows a software developer to easily build a custom apphcatron to control Luminex
hardware by providing an applications programming interface (API) to the Luminex system as well as a standard-set
of user interface (Ul) components and appllcatrons Sales of this product durlng 2005 d1d not represent a materral
component of our revenue ‘ A . i o R

Marketmg/Sales and Busmess Development S

Our sales and marketing strategy is to expand the installed base and utilization of xMAP technology and
generate recurring revenues from royalties on bioassay kits and testing services developed or performed by-others
that use our technology, as well as the sale of microspheres and other consumables. The key element of our sales
and- marketmg strategy 1§ d'strategic” partner program with life s sciences ¢ompanies that will develop’ appl1cat10ns or

perform testlng usmg our technology platfo """ and dlstnbute our systems to therr customers e {
GG PP SRR s R ot

We contmue to-use . strategrc partners as.our’ pr1mary d1str1butron channel and we w1ll contmue topursueé-new
partnerships that intend to .focus, on-applications: within: our key segmerits described above. - Sonie of our strategic
partners develop application-specific bioassay kits for use on-our systems that they sell to:their customers:-generating
royalties for us. Certain strategic partners also perform testing services for third parties using our technology that
also result in royalties for us. Other strategic partners also buy our products, including XMAP Luminex systems and
consumables, and then resell those products to their customers. As of December 31, 2005, we had over 50 strategic
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partners; of which 24 have released . commercialized products utilizing the Luminex:platform and ‘were submitting
royalties:*Of these 24 strategic partners with. commercialized products, 12:.comipanies prircipally serve the clinical
diagnostics market and 12 companies principally serve’ the research market. These commercialized, royalty-
submitting, strategic partners constituted 81% of thé Company’s revenues “for' 2005. We also believe our strategic
partners provide us with complementary capabilities ‘in ‘product ‘developniént; regulatory expertise and -sales ‘and
marketing. By leveraging our strategic partners’ bioassay testing competencies, customer relationships and
distribution channels, we believe that we can achieve rapid market penetration without a direct sales force.* " * -

‘We also serve as the original equrpment manifacturer (OEM) for certain’ strateglc partners that choose to sell our
xMAP technology systems under therr own brandmg and marketmg efforts C " :

AR

Customers C

As of December 31, 2005, a total of approximately 3,400 Luminex systems had been sold since inception. In
2005, two customers each accounted: for more than: 10% of our total:revenues. Bio=Rad-Laboratories; Inc. atcounted
for 23%;.24% and 16% of our total revenues in 2005, 2004 and 2003; respectively. One Lambda,:Inc: accounted for
16%, 11% and:11% of our total revenues’in 2005, 2004-and: 2003, respectively.. Biomedical Diagnostits and
MiraiBio Inc. accounted:for 12% and.10%, respectively, in 2003. No other: customier accounted for more than 10%
of our total revenues: in:2005; 2004:or 2003 The loss of any.of'these customeérs ¢could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operation. :Additionally, for-the annual periods ended December
31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, foreign sales to customers totaled $9.5 million, $8.9 million and $8.0 million,

respectively, representing 22%, 25%:- and 31%, respectrvely, of our total revenues for such penods See’ Note 16 to
our Consolidated Financial Statements.” s -

TechmcalOperatlons : AR ' if,‘i c

Our Techmcal Operatrons Group prov1des techmcal support to our: customers our strategrc partners and therr
customers. Most of the Company’s technical -operations personnél are either -biologists:or biochemists -and:have
extensive experience in academic, industrial and commercial settings. Cross trammg is a major focus empowermg
group members to solve problems’ outsrde therr prrmary assrgnment R

Techmcal Support

Our techmcal support department assrsts users prrmartly through a toll free hothne mtemet mterface and e- ma11
communications. We deliver “24/7” technical support with our staff based at our Austin location as well as in our
European subsidiary to better serve our customer base. Personnel assist our strategic partners and customers: with
product orders, software, hardware, system implementation and development of their broassays A comprehensive
software and databasé' systemi 4s utilized to- track ‘customer interactions, follow trends and’ measure utrhzatron The
mformatton 1s categortzed and presented to management for regular revrew R B :

Tramzng . o P N S

, Through our tramtng group, we offer comprehensrve programs in basxc system trammg, advanced assay
development, instrument field service and technical support functions. A significant part of our training material is
now web-based and available online. For larger customers who have: many: users,-such-as our- strategic-partners,
training may be performed on- srte at thetr locattons

F zeld Service

We currently have ﬁeld service personnel based across. the Umted States and in Europe in areas of s1gmﬁcant
system concentration. We intend to:place addmonal field service.personnel-and. pursue third-party service: provider
agreements through our certified service professional program, as required, in order to ensure responsive and cost-
effective support of our customers. worldwide. . In addition; several of our strategic partners provide their own field
service support. As we continue to expand our installed. base, we believe. a strong, rehable efﬁcrent field.service
orgamzatron 1s:crucial to bulldmg a hlgh level of customer satrsfactlon SN A e Ly e T L T R
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e Techmcal Appllcatzons

7 In order to allow customers to expedite the production of bioassays for use on our systems, we have a technlcal

’ apphcatlons group; based;in Austin, Texas;:that-includes highly experienced biological scientists. This group works
closely,with' our: customers: in-their. development of bloassays with the ultrmate goal of faster technology adoptlon

- ands commermahzatron o R R ITRE CE e L

Re earch and Development

T

*Qur research and development group, ifcluding’ the “Luminex A"‘B‘Viosc'ié‘nce”tG‘roup,"seel;cs fo” advance the
Cali’ brhtles of xMAP technology to further penetrate the life sc1ences.and diagnostics industry to increase utilization
(‘)f ystems In addmon we collaborate wrth other compames academlc 1nst1tut10ns and our customers to

' We contmue to develop and enhance our. ex1stmg consumable product lme and support mtroductlon of new
product lines. These new products include calibrators, controls and microspheres with additional performance

characteristics.

- Consumable development

Automation. . .

'Software ’

“We are- mamtammg and extendmg our’ system platform through ‘our Soﬁware Developer K1t (SDK) as' well as

“iproviding'new end-user applications.” Qur SDK providés:a straightforward platform for our strategic partners and
their customers-to rapidly ‘develop their own''user interface software' packages. In addition, our. end-user
applications will allow us to provide tum key solutions to partners.

- Expandmg our multlple testmg capabllmes

[ I &

o Our lcurrent bead utlllzes t]hree comrmon: chermstnes for the nnmoblllzatron of assays on its surface While these
.. chemistries are:well: accepted:in the industry, it is: desrrable to .expand -our bead chemistry capablhty to enhance:
market penetration and:adoption: We continue-to: work on’ other sut:face chemistries to provrde optlmal
;-;performance in: broader apphcatton Areas.: v Ll v s o i R
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- Enhancmg broassay performance and operatlonal efﬁc1en01es

"‘Our scientists and engmeers contmually dedlcate efforts to | her enhance xMAP in the ‘areas of assay
performance, such as sensitivity, precision, reéliabilify and operatronal efficiencies. We are activély collécting
market and customer requirements that will allow us to provnde optimal features and benefits in current and
future products.

- New product development

S ""Gur reséarch and: develOpment team, mcludmgthe ‘Luminéx Broscrence Group, and marketlng téam-are’ workmg

" iclosely with both’internal dnd extemmal ‘groups: to: desigti-and develop products: that-will expand capabilities of the
XMAP-based technologies. We anticipate that ‘thése ‘efforts will tesult in“unique products- in-the near future.
These unique products may include instrumentation, services, software and consumables including assays.
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Manufacturmg

The Company has approx1mately 18, 000 square feet of manufacturmg space located at’ the Company s prmcrpal
executive officés. in-Austin, Texas. In:2002, we successfully completed the'registration’ of our Quality Management
System (QMS) to the ISO 9001:2000 standard, which is an internationally recognized: standard - for ' quality
management systems. Subsequent audits by the registrar have been and will continue to be carried out at regular
intervals to ensure we are maintaining our system in compliance with ISO standards:* ’Recertrﬁcatlon is' réquired
every three years and we were successfully recertlﬁed as of Aprrl 1 2005 .

“In July 2005 we also successfully completed the reglstratlon of our QMS to the ISO 13485 2003 Qualrty
Management Standard and the Canad1an Medical Devrces Conforrmty System (CMDCAS) for Medlcal Devrces
This standard includes a spec1al set of requlrements specrﬁcally related to the supply of medical deVices and related
serv1ces

Additionally, we manufacture to current Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) requirements and our QMS is
1mplemented in accordance wrth the FDA Qualrty System Regulatrons (QSR) 21 CFR Part 820 '

Instruments

Contract manufacturers assemble certain components of our XMAP technology system. The remaining ‘dssembly
and manufacturmg of our system is performed at our facility in Austin, Texas. The quality control and quality
assurance protocols are all performed at.our facrhty Parts and component assembhes that ' compnse o" "
technology system are obtamed from a number of sources. “we' have identified altemate S urce! of s pply for
several of our strategic parts and component assemblies. Whilé we currently believe that we will be ablé to ‘satisfy
our forecasted demand for strategic parts and component assemblies during 2006, the failure to find alternative
suppliers in the event of a supply failure at any of our current vendors at reasonably comparable prices could have a
material adverse effect on our -business; financial.condition and results of operations. Additienally, we have entered
into supply agreements with most.of our. suppliers- of strategic parts-and.component subassemblies, to. help ensure
component availability, and flexible purchasing terms with respect to the purchase of such components..,

Microspheres

We manufacture as well as procure undyed carboxylated polystyrene mrcrospheres We synthesrze our dyes and
manufacture our:dyed polystyrene microspheres using a proprietary method.in our- Austin; Texas manufacturing
facility-in-large lots; We:dye the mi¢rospheres'with: varying intensities of a red and a near infrared dye:to produce
100 distinctly colored  microsphere ‘sets. We currently’ purchase polystyrene microspheres: from"one supplier, in
accordance with a supply agreement. We believe this agreement will help ensure-microsphere availability: and
flexible purchasing terms with respect to the purchase of such microspheres. While we believe the microspheres will
continue to be available from our supplier in quantities sufficient-to'meet our production nieeds;-we believe our in-
house manufacturing capabilities along with other potential suppliers provide sufﬁc1ent m1crospheres for us if given
adequate lead-time to manufacture the m1crospheres to our specrﬁcatrons

Competition™

We designed our xMAP technology for use by customers across the various segments of the life sciences
industry. Our competition includes companies marketing conventional testing products based on ‘established
techinologies- such -as ELISA, mass. spectrometry, gels, biochips :and flow-based technologies as well as.companies
developing - their own advanced testing.technologies. -Several of our competttors are larger than:we.-are- and can
commit; s1gn1ﬁcantly greater resourges to: their competmve efforts,- : : '

The pharmaceutlcal mdustry is a large market for the genomrc proteln and hlgh throughput screemng
applications of the xMAP technology. In each application area, Luminex faces a different set of competitors.
Genomic and protein testing can be performed by products available from Affymetrix Inc., Applied Biosystems, a
division of Applera Corporation, Becton Dickinson Company, [llumina Inc., Meso Scale Dtscovery, a dlvrslon of
Meso Scale Diagnostics LLC, and Sequenom, Inc., among others.




% The- clinical. slaboratory. :market - is - dominated by several very. large: competitors. These . include Abbott
[:aboratories, Bayer Healthcare, Beckman Coulter, Inc.; Johnson & Johnson-and Roche Diagnostics, a division of F.
Hoffmann-La  Roche: L.td., .among others. These:companies have:technologies that:can perform a variety. of
established :assays: These.companies also offer integtated systems and: laboratory automation . that:are: desrgned to
meet the need. for 1mpr0ved -work: efﬁcrencres in the clrmcal laboratory n <

Competltlon wrthrn the academrc bromedrcal research market is hlghly fragmented There are: hundreds of
suppliers to this market including Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, a part of GE Healthcare, Applied Biosystems, a
division of Applera Corporatron and Becton Dickinson ' Company Any company in-this field /is a- potentral

competrtor

P -

Intellectual Property Lo R

, .To estabhsh and protect our- proprretary technologres and products wé rely on a comblnatron of patent
eopyrrght trademark and trade secrets: laws and conﬁdentralrty agreements e b Chewal

We have 1mplemented a strategy desrgned to optrmrze our mtellectual property nghts For core mtellectual
proper_ty, we are.pursuing patent.coverage .in the United-States and those foreign countries'that- correspond to the
majority of our anticipated customer base. We currently own 32 issued patents-in the.United . States and foreign

. jurisdictions, including one in each of Japan, Germany, United Kingdom, France, Italy, Hong Kong, Israel and

Canada directed to' various aspects. and.applications of our technology. In--addition, our patent portfolio includes 62

other;pending patent applications in the United States and-their corresponding intérnational and foreign counterparts

in: major industrial markets. Our patents and.pending claims provide;.or will provide,:protection. for systems and
technologies-that allow “real: time” multiplexed analytical techniques for the detection-and quantification-of many
analytes from a single-sample..We also hold-a patent covering: the precision-dyeing process. that;we use to dye our

‘microspheres. We have been. granted a-patent-on our “Zero Dead Time”, sampling architecture, which uses digital

over-sampling to measure the area of a fluorescence pulse:instead of “peak detéction,” giving increased sensitivity

with no lost events. Other issued patents and pending patent applications cover specific aspects and applications of
our: xXMAP technology-and on-going molecular research. :However, as a result of a procedural omission, we are
unable . to -pursue-a patent applrcatron ‘in - Japan correspondmg to our:U. S patent for real- trme multlplexmg

technrques . : , e e . o

3 P
TN

.- The source code for our proprletary software is protected asa trade secret and/or asa copyrlghted work. Aspects
of thrs software also are covered by an 1ssued patent

We also rely on trade secret protectlon of our. mtellectual property We attempt to protect our trade secrets by
‘entering -into..confidentiality agreements with strategic partners, third parties, employees and consultants: Our
- employees and" third-party consultants -also sign:agrements requiriiig that they assign “to’ us' their -interests -in

" 1¥entions and orlgmal works of: expressmn and any correspondrng patents rand. copyrrghts arlsmg from therr work
fo s oa W , . -

vaernment Regulatlon

Food and Drug Admmzstratlon ST

5;‘?” 'e"Food and ‘Drug’ Administration regulates medical-devices-pursuant to -various statutes; namely the: Federal
g and Cosmetic.Act as-amended-and supplemented by the Medical. Device. Amendments-of 1976;.the: Safe
al Dévices. Act of 1990, the Medical. Device Amendments of 1992, the EDA Export Reform and Enhancement
%9‘ 5!1996 the FDA Modernization Act of 1997, the:Public-Health; Security-and Bioterrorism Preparedness and
Responie Act of 2002, the Medical Device User Fee and Modernization' Act of 2002, and the Project-BioShield Act
of 2004 Medical devices, as defined by statute, include instruments, machines, in vitro reagents or other similar or
Tetated iartldes including ‘any components, parts, or-accessories ofsuch articles that are intended. for use-in the
Sis:of:disease or other condition or ini:the cure, mitigation; tréatment of: prevention of- disease; or are intended
Ctthe structure or function of.the body and do not achieve their intended; ipurpose:through chemical:action er
0112atron The FDA classifies medical devices intended for human use into three classes. For Class I devices,
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general controls (for example, labeling and good manufacturing practices) provide reasonable assurance of safety
and effectiveness. Class IIdevices aresproducts for 'which general.contrdls do notprovide’ reasenable assurarice of
safety-and effectiveness-and. for-which. there-is -sufficient. information’ to: establish special -¢ontrots: (for- example,
guidelines and: patient registries).: Class JIL devices -are~products for which. neithergeneral:rior: ‘$pecial: controls
provide: reasonable ‘assurance:'of safety-and: effectiveness:.:: ~Generally; Class 11 .includes -dévices .that .support-or
sustain human life, are for uses that are substantially-important:in: preventing impairment.-of:human-healtl, are used
as a stand alone assay for patlent screemng or dlagnos1s of d1sease or present a potennal unreasonable risk of
1llnessor1n)ury . LIS i S AT

We manufacture a Vers1on of the Lummex lOO and Lurmnex 200 the Lummex 100 Lntegrated System (IS)z and
the Luminex 200 Integrated System (IS), respectively - for use with diagnostic assay kits that are available through
our strategic partners. For FDA purposes, the Luminex 100 IS and Luminex 200 IS are considered a component of
our partners’ kit products. Depending on the particular kit’s regulatory classification into Class-I;d1;‘or;HI arid:its
intended use, kits manufactured by our strategic partners that are used in conjunction with our technology may be
subject to FDA clearanceor:approval before.they: canibe: marketed-and sold: After incorporating the Luminex 100 IS
or Luminex 200 IS into their products, our:strategic partners.are required to.make- various:premarket:submissions
such as: premarket approval applications,  premarket notifications and/or “investigational’ device “exemption
applications to the FDA:for their products:and are requiréd to-comply with:numerous requiremeiits:and restrictions
ptior-to clearance or: approval of the applrcatrons There cair be 0 assurance that the FDA wrll ﬁle 'clear or approve
our: strateglc partners submrssrons : : : ; :

In: 2000 ‘we subrmtted\ a dev1ce master ﬁle (DMF ) w1th mformatlon about the Lummex 100 IS tosthe: FDA v The
DMF. was.updated-in-2005: to’ include:the Luminex: 200118 <Our strategic pattners:can téference the DMF-in‘their
premarket - submissions: “In::2001; FDA -reviewed: our:*DME (while:'reviewing :one :ofour. strategic: partner’s
submissions, and-asked questions: of the Company:about the:content ‘'of the DMF. It:is.possible-that the FDA may-ask
questions aboutour-DMF:each time ‘one ‘of:our: strategic"partners submitS an application:to;the FDA referencing our
DME. Although we intend to respond to the:FDA’s duestions in:a timely: fashion;:thereican be no assurance: that our
responses w1ll be acceptable to the F DA Updates to: the DMF are. prov1ded to the FDA as requned AT

Our mstruments use lasers to 1dent1fy the bloassays and measure thetr results Therefore,,we are requrred to
ensure” that' our‘products ‘comply: with: FDA regulations»pertaining:to ‘the:performance -of laser:products. ;Fhese
regulations are intended to ensure the safety of laser products by establishing standards to ‘prevent exposuré. to
excess levels of laser radiation. There can be no assurance that the FDA wrll agree wrth our mterpretatlon and
implementation. of these: regulatlons B ST e DUTIE TR 0 LRIy g

- We, and our strategic partners, may be subject to periodic mspectlon by the FDA for among other thmgs
compliance-with:the EDA’s current good manufacturing; practice regulations:: These:regulations; also: knewn as the
Quality: System - Regutations; : govern: 'the methods used, injrand :the facilities -and::controls+used for, : the -design,
manufacture, packaging and servicing-of all’ finished ‘medical:devices’ intended'for-human-use - Additionally, -our
strategic: partners-may.be’ subject to ‘other premarket-and: postmarket:controls suchas-labelirig;: complaint handling,
medical device reporting, corrections and removals reporting, and record keeping requirements. If the FDA has
evidence demonstrating that a company is not in compliance with applicable regulations, it can detain or seize
products, request or, in certain circumstances, require a recall, impose operating restrictions; enjein:future violations,
recommend criminal prosecution to the Department of Justice, and assess civil and crlmmal penaltles agamst the
company, its officers, or its employees. Other regulatory agencies may have similar powers:. ;

L Y

:Medical device laws and ‘regulations-are* also in effect in:many: .countries ‘outside-of the: Umted Statés.These
range: from ‘comprehensive preapprovalirequirements: for medical:produdts:to:simpler requests for product data or
certification.' The-number and :scope!ofithesé requirements are increasing: Thete can be'no assurance that we;, and
our strategic partners; will:be able/to’ obtain any:approvals that“may be requrred to'market ’xMAP technology
products outsrde the Umted States T ]

. : I
Wt i, 1 o

nult Fallure by us;-orour strateg1c partners to comply*wrth applicable’ federal state’ and foreign: medlcal product laws
and: régulations would likely have a:material:adverse effect on-our business.-In addition; federal, state:and-foreign
regulatlons regardmg the manufacture and saleof medrcal devices and" cornponents ofisuch devrces are’ subject to
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future:.changes. We cannot predict what impact, if. any, such changes mlght have on. our. busmess but any such
change could have a material impact. - ; ~

pE T

WEEE

"As part of the Council.Directive 2002/26.of February 13, 2003, Waste Electrical and Electronic. Equipment
(WEEE), we are in.compliance -with the requirements, beginning.on August 13, 2005, regarding thelabeling and
disposal of some of our products:containing electronic. devices. in each of the European: Union (EU) member states
where our regulated products are distributed. While we are taking steps to comply with the requirements of WEEE,
we cannot be certain that we will comply with the implementation of WEEE in all EU member states.

E uropean I VD Directive

y

The EU 8 regulatron of in V1tro medrcal devrces is under the In V1tro Dlagnostlc Dlrectlve (IVDD) 98/79/EC of
27 October 1998, as 1mp1emented n the EU member states.

The prmcnple behmd the D1rectrve is that 10 in vitro devwe or accessory may be placed on thé market orput into
seryrc_e unless: it’-satisfies -the:essential requirements set forth in. the Directive.Devices considered-;to. meet-ithe
essential ; requirements- must . bear , thé. CE :marking: of conformity ' when' they are placed on:the.market. .The
responsibility for:placing the CE markmg on the device lies with the manufacturer A manufacturer placmg dev1ces
on the arket:in:its name: 1srequ1red to notlfy lts nat1onal competent authormes ‘

Lummex Corporatron has declared that the LXlOO IS and the LX200 lS are cla551ﬁed as a self—declarat1on devrce
and.,ts in conformity with-Article 1;:Asticle 9, Annex I (Essential Requirements), and Annex III; and.the additional
provisions of IVDD.98/79/EC:: However, there can be no-assuraice ithat the-EU member statés will -agree with ‘our
interpretation and implementation of these regulations. As the European marketplace continues to-be material to: our
operations, failure by the Company or its strategrc partners to comply with the Dlrectrve could have a materral
adverse effect on our business. : ; g : : » g

Environmental -

We are subJect to federal state and local laws and regulatlons relattng to the protectlon of human health and the
envnonment In the -course of our:business, we are involved: in the handling, storage and. disposal- of-certain
chemicals-and biohazards. The laws:and regulations applicable to.our:operations include provisions that regulate the
discharge of materials into the environment. Some of these.environmental laws. and. regulations -impose “strict
liability,” rendering a party liable without regard to negligence or fault on the part of such party. Such environmental
laws.and regulations .may::expose: us- to-liability .for environmental:contamination, including re¢mediation costs,
natural resource damages and other:damages as a result of:the conduct of, or conditions caused: by, us. or others, or
for acts that-were in compliance with all-applicable -laws :at the time such acts were performed. In addition, where
contamination, {may be-present, it-is:not uncommon for neighboring landowners and other third parties to file claims
for-personal injury, property-damage and- ‘Tecovery of. response-costs. Although it is-our policy to -use: generally
accepted operating and disposal practices in accordance .with applicable environmental laws and -regulations,
hazardous substances or wastes may have been disposed or released on, under or from properties owned, leased or
operated by us oron, under or from other; locations where-such substances or wastes have been taken for dispesal.
These properties may be subject to. investigation, remediation. and monitoring:requirements under federal, state and
local :environmental .laws and- regulations.- We -believe that our-operations- are in: substantial compliance with
applicable- envxronmental laws and-regulations. However, failure to comply-with these. environmental laws and
regulations may result in the imposition of administrative, civil and criminal penalties or other liabilities. We do not
believe that we have been required to expend material amounts in connection with our efforts to comply with
environmental requirements or that compliance.with-such requirements will have a material adverse effect upon our
capital expenditures, results of operations or competitive position:’ Because: the .requirements imposed by such laws
and regulations may frequently change and new environmental laws and regulations may be adopted; we are unable
to predict the cost of compliance with such requirements in the future, or the effect of such laws on our capital
expenditures, results: of operations or,competitive position: Moreover, the modification or interpretation of existing
environmental laws or regulations, the more vigorous enforcement of existing environmental laws or.regulations, or

i L o
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the adoption‘of new-enivironmental: laws or regulation's'may :also’ negatively-impact: our strategic partners whrch i
turn could have a material adverse effect on us and other srmrlarly situated component ‘companies. -

Employees

+Asiof March 10, 2006, we-had a total:of 185 employees, including contract: employees;-as compared with-183 as
of December 31,:2005.:At Déeember 31;:2004 we had: 159 employees, -including.contract employees ‘Nonelof our
employees :are represented: by; acollective:bargaming: agreement ;andswe: have notrexperlenced any work: stoppage
WEe believe that:relations Wlth our employees are- good = & B i i

by g NG TER

ITEM 14. RISK FACTORS '
We have a hlstory of losses and an accumulated deﬁcnt of approxrmately $86 6 mrlhon as of December 31,

We have incurred significant net losses since our inception, including losses of $2.7 million for the year ended
Deceémber 31; 2005;:$3:6:milliorin/2004-and $4.2:millien in 2003: At December31,72005,iwe had-an:accumitlated
deficit-of approximately $86:6:million.s To:achieve profitability, we need to generate and‘sustain :substantialty-higher
revenue.while:achieving reasonable ‘cost and expense levels: Ifiwe-failito’achieve profitability withirithe time frame
expected: by-securities analysts-orinvestors, the arket price ofrour common stock wilt:likely ‘decline. Fusthermore;
as we continue to incur losses and utilize cashto:support:operations;:we may: further:decrease the:cash:available .to
the Company. As of December 31, 2005, cash, cash equivalents and short-term and long-term investments totaled
$411:6 million, an’increase.of $5.5: million' from $36.1 'million at Dedember:31;:2004, prirharily: attributable to/more

efficient:managemetif of:our inventory levelsand teceipt of significant license fees:{Weidonot know:when‘orifiwe

will:become: profitable::Ifswe do achreve proﬁtabrhty, we may not be ablexto sustam T itcréase
quarterly orian annual basrs Sl R LT

We expect our operatmg results to contmue to fluctuate from quarter to quarter SR I S S

ﬁt‘a_bi‘llty on:a

The sale of bioassay testing devices typically involves a significant technical evaluation and commitment :of
capital by partners. Accordingly, the sales cycle associated with our products typically is lengthy and subject to a
number of significant risks; including partners’:budgetary;constraints, inventory management ‘practices, regulatory
approval:and intetnal acceptance ‘reviews, all' of which- are beyond our eontrol: +As avtesult of this l’en‘g‘thy’and
unpredictable sales cycle;our-operating.resultsthave h1stor1cally ﬂuctuated srgmﬁcantly from quarter to quarter ‘We
expect thrs trend to. continue for the foreseeable future SR T o

VR sl e AN RS

:The:-‘vast v majorityfs'of our. system‘ : sales ;are: m‘a‘de “toour: $trategic: ‘partners:2Qur partners - typically ipurchiasé
instruments +in thrée: phases:during their .commiercialiZation®cyele: first; instruments hecessary to supportinternal
assay. development; ‘second instruments for. sales force:demonstrations; ‘and finally; instruments for-resale to:their
customers. As a tesult, most.of-our system placements‘are ‘highly:dependent on‘the'commercialization tithetables of
our strategic partners and-:can:fluctuate from:quarterto- quarter as-our strateglc partners move: from phase to: phase
We expect this: trend to contmue forthe: foreseeable future . 3 :

R EI ST T N TEe T

f~-':Because‘ of the effec‘t 'o-f:.b'ulk purchases,-wevcontmue: to iexperrence flictuations in the'percentage-of our quarterly
revenues derived from our highest:margin items, consumables and royalties:‘Qut-gross' margin is-highly dependent
upon the mix-of rev‘enue‘“c‘omponents each:iquarter. :These ‘fluctuations ‘contribute to'the"v‘arfiab‘i‘li’ty?randf"lack‘lof
predictability of both: gross miargin percentage and total gross proﬁt from quarter to quarter - We expect this trend to
contmue for the foreseeftble future s R S

Our success~depends largelv on the estabhshment and' mamtenance of successful relatlonshlps «wnth our
strategic: partners;: Currently, a limited numbéer of strategic partnersiconstitute a’ ‘majority of our reveriue
and the loss ‘of° any one of these partners could have a: materlal adVerse effecton the Company s

.,._“ .

N-X

The development and commercrahzatron ofour: xMAP technology is hlghlys dependent on ‘ot abrhty to estabhsh
succeSSful.s_trateglc relationships with a number of:partners.:As'of*December 31, 2005;.wé had: 24 strategic partners
who were paying royalties and had either commercialized products using the Luminex platform or were reselling
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our products. Furthermore, for:the-year énded December 31,:2005, two partners individually reépresented greater than
10% of the Company’s revenue and .collectively represented 39% of itotal revénue (Bio-Rad Laboratories; Inc. —

23%; One Lambda, Inc. — 16%). We had three additional partners who individually represented 5% or more of our
total revenue and collectively represerited 18% of the-Company’s:revenue for the year ended December 3.1,:2005. In
total, for the year ended December 31, 2005, we had five partners who represented 57% of our total revenue. For
comparative purposes for the.year ended (December:31, 2004, :two partners -individually represented greater-than
10% of the Company’s revenue and collectively represented 35% of our total revenue. We had two additional
partners who individually represented :5% or-more -of our. total: revenue and. collectively ‘represented - 10%:of the
Company’s revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004. In total, for the year ended December 31, 2004, we had
four; partners who represented-45% of our total revenue.- The loss of any.of our significant strategic partners;.or. any
of our significant customers, could have a material :adverse. effect on-our:growth-and. future:results of operations.
Delays in implementation, delays in obtaining regulatory approval, changes in strategy or the financial difficulty of
our strategic: partners_ for any.reason could:have a material adverse effect .on:our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Our ability to enter 1nto agreements wrth addmonal strategrc partners depends in part on convmcrng them that
our. technelogy can:help achieve: andi:accelerate their- goals or-efforts. We»will expend substantial®funds.and
management: efforts’ with no-assurance that any additional:strategic relationships will result. We. cannot:assure:you
that we will be able to.negotiate additional strategic agreemerits:in the.future-on acceptable terms,:if at all,.or:that
current or future strategic. partners’ will: not ‘pursue -or develop:alternative: technologies .either on- their .own:or in
collaboration with others. Some of the companies we are targeting as. strategic. partners offer products competitive
with our xMAP technology, which may hinder or prevent strategic relationships. Termination of strategic
relationships, or the failure to- enter. into; assufficient number of -additional..agreements on favorable terms, could
reduce- sales. of:-our products lower margms on: our products and dimit:.the creation. of | market demand and
acceptance. o ol v e oy S SISO LA 1 S Lo - :

» In addition; we:have entered:into: nonzexclusive rélationships with most: of our -existing strategic partnérs. The
lack of exclusivity could deter existing strategic partners from commercializing xMAP technology and may deter
new strateglc partners from entermg into agreements Wlth Lumlnex

The majonty of our future Tevenues w1ll come from sales of our systems and the development and sale of
bioassay kits utilizing our technology by our strategic partners and from use of our technology by our strategic
partners ‘in-performing sérvices offered to-third parties: We believe that-ourrstrategic: partners will have:economic
incentives to developtand market these products, but:we cannot predict.future sales and royalty revenues, because
most of our existing strategic partner agreements do not include minimum purchase requirements or royalty
commitments. In addition, we do not have the right or ability to provide incentives to our strategic partners’ sales
personnel-to sell preducts based ion. xMAP:technélogy or to:control:the timing-of thesrelease-of: products by: our
strategic’ partners: The amount of these.revenues:will dependion a variety -of factors that. are outside-our control,
including the amount and timing-of résources:that current.and future strategic partners devote:to develop and market
products incorporating our technology. Further, the development and mirketing of certain bioassay kits will require
our strategic partners to. obtain governmental approvals, which could delay or prevent their commercialization
efforts. If our current or future: strategic partners .do not. successfully develop. and.market: products:based-on' our
technology and obtain necessary government approvals our revenues from product sales and royalties will be
srgmﬁcantly reduced

If our technology and products do not become w1de]y uséd in the llfe sciences mdustry, it is unhkely that we
will ever become profitable

Llfe sciences compames have hrstoncally conducted brologlcal tests usmg a vanety of technologres mcludmg
bead-based analysis. Our xMAP technology is relatively new and unproven, in certain testing areas, and the use of
our technology by life sciences companies is limited. The commercial success of our technology will depend-upon
its- widespread: adoption. as.a- method to perforim bioassays. In order to be successful, we must-convince:potential
partners to.utilize our.$ystem mstead of compenng technologres Market acceptance will depend on. many factors

mcludmg our ability.to: w0 7 Tt : : T . . .
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- obtam and mamtam sufﬁcrent pricing and royaltres from partners on such Lumrnex products and R T

- :Werhave no control over the'timing or extent of product devel@pment marketmg orsale of our products by our

- Certaln strategrc partners may farl to dehver products that satrsfy market requrrements or such products may fail

‘have the resources. necessary to’ compete successfully :

=7 convince:prospective strategic. partners -and-customers thatcour technology is-an attractive: altematrve to other
technologres for pharmaceutrcal research chmcal and bromedrcal testmg and analysrs RS :

PG i R
ool : L :

encourage these partners to develop and market products usmg our technology, e

v TR TSI SRR I PRI 1 A S T FPCE “ EN
£ place and.service:: sufﬁc1ent quantmes ‘of our products, 1nclud1ng the ablhty to: provrde1 the level of servrce
' requn'ed in the mamstream chmcal dragnostlcs market segment T s -

[N

Because of these and other factors our products ‘may not gain: sufﬁc1ent market acceptance to achleve fproﬁtablhty
BETRTAHISE O

Our rehance on strateglc partners to market our products makes forecastmg dlfﬁcult

e v R
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Prrmarrly ‘as‘a result of our rehance on partner performance 1t 18 drfﬁcult to accurately» forecast futire: operatmg
results.-Qur.-operating expenses are largely based -onanticipated revenue ‘trends, and a*high percentage:of our
expenses :are, ‘and will continue to be, fixed:in the.short-term. The levelsof.our revénues will:depend upon the rate
andrtiming of the:adoption of our technology as-a: method to perform broassays Due to our hmrted operatmg hrstory,
predrctmg thrs t1m1ng and rate of adoptlon is dlfﬁcult L : o LY

e

In addrtron;'? we currently antrcrpate that the vast (majonty of future sales of our: products and products

mcorporatmg ourtechnology will be made by our strategic partners. For:the following reasons, estrmatlng the tlmmg ’

and amount of sales of these products that may be made by our strategic partners is particularly difficult: DI

“strategic'partnersi; i o

IR EhE SRR

incentives prov1ded by our strateglc partners to therr sales personnel et T

Ry T <ile
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= A srgmﬁcant numbcr of ‘our. strategrc partners 1ntend to produce cllnlcal dlagnostrc apphcatlons that may’ need to

- be-apptoved by the: Food and Drug Admlmstratlon or other regulatory bodles in; jurlSdtCthIlS out51de of the
UmtedStates : S BRI S ST ert TR ¢l

- Certam strateglc partners may have unique requlrements for thelr apphcatlons and systems Assistin'g' the
rivarious strategic partners may:§train-our research and:development and manufacturing resources. To" thezextent

“:that-we are:not: able to’ tlmely ass1st our: strategrc partners the commercrahzatron of thelr products wrll lrkely be
delayed P IR RS ) Tt RIS g o Shp

toperformproperly S e Wt UG HDL R T S e

- We have limited access to partner confidential corporate information. A sudden unexpected change m
ownership,.strategy or other! materlal -event could adversely: impact partner: purchases of: ourproducts*
)g_ﬂ H e

The life sciences mdustry is lughly competmve and subjeet to rapld technologrcal change and we may not

i soeeein anere s oy
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‘We compete wrth compames in the Umted States and abroad that are engaged in the development and productron
of similar: products. We will continue to face.intense competition*from existing: competitors:and othercompanies
seeking to develop newitechnologies::Many ‘of bur competitors have accessito greater financialy technical, scientific,
research, marketing, sales, distribution, service and other resources than we do. These compani€s may:‘develop
technologies that are superior alternatives to our technologies or may be more effective at commercializing their
technologies in products.




pxlS‘ ﬁg products as we await regulatory approvals and as customers .evaluate; these TEW: products We may also
encounter other problems in the process of delivering new products to the marketplace «including products from-our
' B1oscrences Group, such as problems related to design, development or manufacturing of such products, and as
result we may be:unsuccessful inselling such-products.»Qur. future success will-depend-on: -our ability to compete
: effecnvely against current technologies, as well as to respond effectively to technological *advances by developing
“and: marketmg products that are competmve in the contmually changmg technologrcal 1andscape
B SO L S PLEER L 2l
S Our'success depends on: our abrhty to service and support our products dlrectly or in collaboratlon w1th our
stra glc partners : y ; . : : ; > . "

wz the extent that the (‘ompany or. 1ts strateglc partners fall to mamtam a htgh quallty level of 'service and
support for xMAP technology products; there is a. risk-that the. percerved quality of our xMAP technology products
will be diminished in the. marketplace. - Likewise, the Company may. fail to provide the level, quantity-or:quality,.of
servrce expected byiithe marketplace.-.: This could result.in.slower adoption rates-and_lower than- antrcrpated
utahzatlon of xMAP products causmg al materral adverse affect on:ourbusiness:- -, an'n. > e

The intellectual property rlghts we rely upon to protect the technology underlylng our products may not be
adequate to -maintain market exclusmty -Inadequate intellectual property:protection could enable third
'partles to explort our, technology OF use very similar technology and could reduce our- ablhty to’ dlstmgursh
our products in the market.:. P ; ; SIS g :
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+;Qurisuccess:will-depend..in part,;on.our ability: to;obtain, protect @nd: enforce patents.on.our technology-and to
protect -our-trade;secrets. sAny:patents:weown may, not:afford. full protection. for,our technelogy and products.Others
may challenge our patents and, as a result, our patents could be narrowed or invalidated. In addition, our current and
future :patent .applications; may - niot-result-in- the: issuance: of, patents in the. United-States or. foreign -countries.
Compentors may-develop products that,are not-covered by our.paterits. Eurther, there:is a:substantial backlog of
patent.applications at the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, and the approval OF rejectron of patent apphcanons may
‘ take several ; years S . : it . e e e

LAt

We have obtamed 32 patents in- the Unrted States and- forelgn Jurlsdlctlons d1rected to various aspects and
appllcatrons of our technology. We have 62 pending applications in the United States and foreign jurisdictions. In
Japan, due to a procedural omission, we are unable to obtain patent protection.for our method of “real time”
detection and quantification of multiple analytes from-a single sample similar to the protection we have obtained in
the United States: Although weare ;pursuing patent protection in Japan for other:aspects of .our technology, we may
not be-able to prevent compentors from developrng and- marketmg technologres similar to our xMAP technology in
Japan VSN S . o . ; R L
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We requ1re our ernployees consultants strategrc partners and other thlrd part1es to execute conﬁdentralrty
agreements .Our-employees. and th1rd~party consultants -also.sign agreements requiring that they-assign to us’ their
interests; in inventions and. original: expressions and- any correspondmg patents: and-.copyrights arising from their
work for.us. ::In ;addition;: the. Company has .implemented a patent process to file-patent applications on its key
technology. ; However .We- cannot-.guaranteg, that these agreements. or..this: patent -process: will provrde us.;with
adequate protection against improper use-of:our intellectual property -or: disclosure of: «confidential, information. In
addition;- -in some situations;these agreements may. conflict with, or be subject:to, the rights:of third parties with
whom our employees, consultants or advisors have prior employment or consulting relationships. Further, others
may independently develop substantially-equivalent proprietary technology‘and. techniques; or otherwise gain access
0. our trade: secrets. Our failure to protect our proprietary’ mformatlon and techmques may inhibit or. limit our ab1hty
to exclude certain competitors from the market. . ~ ST - : L

. In, order to-protect: or enforce our; patent rlghts we may have to initiate legal proceedings against third parties,
such as infringement suits or interference procéedings. These legal proceedings could be expensive, take significant
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time and/or divert management’s attention from other business concerns. These proceedings may cause us to lose
thé:benefit of some of our intellectual property rights, the loss of which:.may: inhibit or- preclude -our -ability to
exclude certain. competitors:from the market: We also may provoke'these third parties to dssert claimis against us.
The. patent position of companies like ours- generally. is highly -uncertain, "involves ‘complex legal and factuil
questions and- has recently ‘been the subject of much:litigation. No consistent policy has -emerged:from the-U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office-or-the courts regarding the breadth of claims:allowed or the degree of protection
afforded under patents:like ours. - e T TR o
Our success will depend. partly on our. ability. to operate without infringing on or ‘misappropriating -thi
proprietary rights of others. . . -~ oot oae R T

We may be sued for infringing the intellectual property rights of others. In addition, we may find it necessary, if
threatened, to initiate a lawsuit-seeking a declaration from.a:court that we-do-not infringe ‘on thé proprietary rights:of
others or that their rights are invalid or unenforceable. Intellectual property litigation is costly, aiid, even‘if we
prevail, the cost of such litigation could affect our profitability. Furthermore, litigation is time consuming and could
divert management's atténtion and resources away from our business. If we do not prevail in any litigation, we may
have to pay. damages ‘and could be required to stopthe infringing activity or:obtain.a- license.-Any required‘license
may not be available to.us on ‘acceptable: terms; if at all; ° Moreover; some -licenses :may " e ‘nonexclusive, and
therefore, our competitors may have access to the:same' technology licensed to: us:-If we fail-to obtain a required
license or are unable to design around a: patent,: we may-be unable to-sell’some of our products, whiéh could have a
material adverse affect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

- We are-aware. of ‘a:European patent granted to Dr. Ioannis Tripatzié,’Which:‘cover's‘icertainét'esting agents: and
certain:methods. of their use.: Dr. Tripatzis has publicly stated: his belief that his ‘European patent‘covers -aspects:of
our technology if practiced in Europe. This European patent expired in November 2004~ 5 n7 = Lo he g o

We have only produced our products inlimited quantities and ‘we:may experience' problems: in scaling our
manufacturing operations or delays or component shortages that could limit the growth of our'revehue: -
-To:date;.:we have produced our products in-limited quantities: compared to’the quantities-necessary to. achieve
desired revenue growth.“We may not be able ‘to produce- sufficient quantities or’ maintain -consistency: between
differing lots of: consumables. 1f ‘we .encounter difficulties in-scaling our manufacturing operations ‘as a result of,
among other things, quality control and quality assurance and availability of component and raw material supplies,
we will likely experience reduced sales of our products, increased repair or re-engineering costs due to product

returns and defects and increased: expenses due to switching to alternate suppliers, any of which-would réduce our

. revenues and:gross margins. - .~

- We presently -outsource ‘certain aspects of the-assembly of our systéms‘to contract manufacturers: ‘Bécause of a
long lead-time: to-delivery, . we argirequired to place orders for a variety of-items: wellin advance ‘0f scheduled
production.runs:” We recently increased our flexibility to purchase strategic componentswithin‘shortér lead times by
entering into supply agreements with the suppliers of these components. Although we attempt to match our parts
inventory and production capabilities to estimates of marketplace demand, to the extent system orders materially
vary. from our estimates, we may experiencé continued ¢onstrainits- it our systems productioii-and-delivery capacity,
which could adversely impact revenue in a‘given fiscal period.” Should-the"Company’ s-need for-raw matetials and
components uséd in production” continue. to fluctuate; we' could ‘incur additional costs associated with: either
expediting or postponing delivery of those materials. In an effort to' control costs in"the Tast quarter ‘of 2005
manufacturing implemented :a lean_ production system.- Managing the change: from discréte’to continuous flow
production requires time and managemént’ commitment. Implementation of leaninitiatives and: our- supply:chidin
capabilities may. result in part shortages that delay shipments and causefluctuations id revenue in‘a‘given period. -«

~ Certain key ‘components-of our product line are currently purchased from' a limited number of outside’ sources
and may only be available through a'limited number:of providers:: We do not have ‘agréements ‘with'all of our
suppliers. Our reliance on our suppliers and contract manufacturers exposes us to risks inclading: .+ i

- - the possibility that one or. more of our suppliers of our assemblers that'do not have supply agreements with the
Company could terminate their services at any time without penalty; S T e




- he potent1al obsolescence and/or 1nab1hty of our supphers to obtam requrred components

=i *the potentlal delays and expenses of seekmg alternate sources: of supply or manufactunng services;

,,..‘ e

e

-+ the. mabrhty to quahfy altemate sources w1thout nnpactmg performance clarms of our products S

- reduced control over pncmg, quahty and trmely dehvery due to the dlfﬁcultles in sw1tchmg to alternate suppllers
'iorassemblers and A Lh Smey mELeE Lo R

. ’:"J
o

<. increases m pnces of raw matenals and key components ce e T e e
- Consequently;.in the event that supplles of" components or work performed by any. of our assemblers are delayed
or 1nterrupted for any reason, our! ablhty 10 produce and supply our products could be 1mpa1red

. L R St P o S S A . i

The capltal spendmg pohcres of our- customers has a srgmﬁcant effect on the demand for our products

RN ]

Customers 1nclude clmrcal dragnostrc, pharmaceuttcal brotechnologrcal chenucal and mdustrral compames and
the capltal spending policies of these: companies can have a significant:effecton: the demand for our:products::These
policies are based on a wide variety of factors, including governmental regulation or price controls, the resources
available for purchasing research equipment, the spending priorities among various types of analytical equipment
and the policies:regarding capital.expenditures duringrecessionary periodsisAny:decrease in:capital spending by life
sciences companies could cause our revenues to decline. As a result, we are subject to significant volatility. in
revenue. Therefore, our operating results can be materlally affected (negatlvely and posmvely) by the spendmg
pohcles and pnontles ofour customers A i, S : T RREs RN A
If we. fall to comply with. government regulatlons that affect our busmess, we: could be sub]ect to enforcement
actlons, lllj unctlons and civil and crumnal penaltres that could delay or: prevent marketlng of. our products.

»-'"!:- .' S o

The product1on testrng, labelmg, marketmg and dlstrlbutron of ‘our- products for some purposes and products
based on our technology are subject to governmental regulation by the United States Food and Drug Adrinistration
(FDA) and by similar agencies in other countries. Some of our products and products based on our technology for in
vitro diagnostic purposes ‘are subject to, approval or-clearance by:the FDAsprior toymarketing for commercialuse: To
date,8 strategic: -partneisi-haverobtained 'such :approvals:or: clearances. :Others are. anticipated. --The:procéss:of
obtaining necessary FDA clearances or approvals can be time-consuming, expensive and uncertain:tFurther,
clearance or approval may place substantial restrictions on the indications for which the product may be marketed or
to- whom -it:may be marketed.: In::addition, .because; some- of -our ;products- employ-:laser-technology, weharealso
required- to comply wrth E DA requrrements relatmg to: radlatxon perforrnance safety standards 21 CF R 104() als and
104011) : : Gronaaniing > e s in Bir o poE

Approved oricleared medical .device products are.subject to. continuing FDA requirements relating to; among
others, manufacturing quality control -and. quality-assurance, maintenance of records and:documentationy registration
and listing; import/export; adverse event-and -other reporting;’ distribution;:labéling and. promotion and advertising of
medical devices. Qur inability;'or the:inability’ of ourstrategic:partners,.to obtain required régulatory approwval or
clearance on a timely or acceptable basis-could -harm, our:business. In. addition,. failure to comply: with-applicable
regulatory requirements could subject us or.our strategic partners to regulatory enforcement action, including
warning letters, product seizures, recalls, withdrawal .of «clearances- or rapprovals;. restrictions .on. or sinjunctiohs
agamst marketmg our products or products based on our technology, and civil and criminal penaltles

ST ,-;:'; ,:'p'ut - T

Medlcal devnce laws and regulatlons ;are also in effect in ' many counmes outside the Umted States ’These .range
from-comprehensive device approval requirements: for someor:all of our medical device:products-to requests. for
product data or ceftifications. As part:of.the: Council Directive:2002/96 of Fébruary ‘13, 2003 -(WEEE), we are
expected to comply with certain-requirements regarding the labeling .of our:products containing electronic.devices
beginning on August: 13,2005 in-each of the EU member states:where: our regiilated products are distributed. While
we are taking steps to comply with the requirements of WEEE, we cannot be certain that we will comply with the
national stage implementation of WEEE in all:member-states. Our products are currently exempt from the-Council

o L



Directive 2002/95 of January 27, 2003, Restriction of Hazardous Substances (RoHS), which requires the removal of
certain specified hazardous substances: for certain products beginning July 1, 2006 in-each of the member states.
However, the European Union has indicated that it may include medical devices, including some of our products,
under the jurisdiction of RoHS::The number and scope of these requirements are increasing. Failure to comply: with
applicable federal, state and foreign medical device laws and regulations may harm our business, financial condition
and results of operations:-We. are also subject to. awvariety-of other laws and regulations relating to, ‘among other
thrngs envrronmental protectron and work place safety o

Our strateg1c partners and customers expect our orgamzatlon to operate on an estabhshed quahty managemeng
system compliant with FDA Quality System Regulations and industry standards, the In Vitro Diagnostic Directive
98/79/EC of 27 October 1998 (“Directive”) as implemented:nationally. in the -EU member  states and. industry
standards, such as ISO 9000. We became ISO 9001:2000 certified in March 2002 and self-declared our Luminex
100 and Luminéx 200 devices are.iniconformity with Article 1, Article:9, Annex I (Essential Requirements), and
Annex I, and the additional provisions-of [VDD 98/79/EC ‘as of December 7,2003.: Subsequent audits, are-carried
out annually to ensure we maintain our system in substantial compliance with ISO and other applicable regulations *
and industry standards..-We:became ISO:13485:2003 dnd Canadian: Medical Device. Conformity Assessment: Systetn
(CMDCAS) certified in July 2005. Failure to maintain compliance with FDA, CMDCAS and EU regulations and
other, medical: device: laws; ‘ot to-obtain. applicable: registrations where rtequired; could ‘reduce . our- competitive
advantage in ‘the: markets in: Wthh we: compete and also decrease sat1sfactron and- conﬁdence levels wrth our

If we become sub_]ect to product lrablllty clarms, we. may be requlred to pay damages that exceed our
insurance coverage i . S . D Ctel

Our business exposes us to potential product liability claims that are -inherent in- the testing, production,
marketing and sale of human diagnostic and therapeutic products. Although we believe that we are reasonably
insured against these risks and.we have:indemnity protections: in our:supplier agreements, there can be no assurance
that:we will.be able to.obtain insurance;in-amounts.or scopé:sufficient. to provide us with adequate coverage.against
all potential liabilities. A product liability claim in excess of our insurance coverage or claim that is outside or
exceeds. our indemmity protections in.our suppher agreements ‘or-a recall of one of our products would have. to be
pardoutofourcashreserves R A R LTI LT : St

Toie -,\ <

'If third- party payors i'ncreasingly restrict payments: for healthcare expenses or fail ‘to. adequately pay. for

multi-analyte: testlng, we may. . experlence reduced sales ‘which would hurt our busmess and our. business

»prospects

Thrrd—party payors, such as; govemment entities; health marntenance orgamzatlons and prrvate insurets, are

restrictirig payments for healthcare. These restrictions may ‘decrease: demand:for our products and the price:we-can

charge. Increasingly, Medicaid and other third-party payors are challénging the prices charged for medical services,
including clinical diagnostic tests. They are also attempting to contain costs by ‘limiting coverage and the
reimbursement level: of :tests-and -other healthcare  products. Without adequate coverage and . reimbursement,
consumer-demand for tests:will’ decrease. Decreased demand. could:.cause sales of our products;:and. salés and

‘services by.our strategic partiiers, to fall:‘In addition, decréased demand:could place pressure on us, or. our Strategic

partners; o' lower prices-on.these products or services, resulting in-lower. margins. Reduced. sales or: margms by us,

or’ our strategrc partne1 s, would hurt our business, proﬁtablhty and busmess prospects

We may be unsuccessful in. rmplementmg our acqursrtlon strategy

Acqulsrtrons of assets or entrtres desrgned to accelerate the rmplementatron of our strategrc plan are an element
of our long-term: strategy. We may:be unable to identify and' complete appropriate -acquisitions in a'timely manner

‘and no assurance.can be provided that the market price of petential business acquisitions. will be acceptable. In

addition, many of our competitors‘have:greater financial resources than:we have and may be willing to pay more for
these businesses or selected:assets.- Should -we . identify- Suitable acquisition targets,\we may-be unable to complete
acqursrtrons or obtam the ﬁnancmg, if necessary, for these acqursrtrons on terms. favorable to us:

Potentral acqursmons posea number of rrsks mcludrng, among others that
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- wemay not be able to accurately est1mate the ﬁnancral effect of acqursrtrons on'our busmess,

- future acquisitions may require us to issue capital stock or spend srgnlﬁcant cash or may result ina

"~ decrease in our future.operating incomie or operating margins; : e :

-7+ we may be unable to realize the anticipated benefits and synergies from acqulsmons as a result of mherent
risks and uncertainties, including difficulties.integrating acquired businesses or retaining their personnel,
" partners, customers or other key:relationships and risks: that acquired entities may-not operate proﬁtably or

.. -thatracquisitions may not result in- improved operating perfermance; and- : - .

it »acqursmons may d1srupt our busmess and drstract our’ management from other responsrblhtles

Our operatmg results may be affected by current economic and pohtlcal condmons

-+The continuing; events in:the Middle East and’concern for future terrorist.attacks,.leave many ecenomie -and
pohtrcal uncertainties. These uncertainties could adversely affect our business-and revenues in:the short-orilong:-term
in ways that cannot presently be predlcted

ST

Our success: w11] depend on our ablhty to attract and retam our management and staff

We' depend ‘on the prlnclpal members of our management and screntrﬁc staff mcludmg our. chlef executrve
officer, marketing, research and development, technical support, technical service and sales staff: The loss of
services of key members of management could delay or reduce our’ product:development, marketing and.sales and
technical support efforts. In addition, recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and other personnel to perform
research and development, technical support, technical service and marketing and sales work will be critical to our
success. There is a shortage in our industry of qualified management and scientifi¢ personnel, and competition for
these individuals is intense. There can be no assurance that we will be able to attract additional and retain ‘existing
pers‘onnel necessary to achieve our business objectives.

KA ‘ ; L Lo : A . S e

‘Our stock prlce has been and is hkely to contmue to be volatlle
The tradrng price of our common stock has been and is- l1kely to contmue to be hrghly volaule and subject to

wide fluctuations in price. This volatlhty is In response to vanous factors, many of whrch are beyond our control

including: : I S

= general econom1c condrtrons and inferest rates

= "7'1nstab111ty in the Umted States ands: other ﬁnanc1al markets and the ongomg and possible- escalatron of unrestin
7 the M1ddle East other armed hostrlmes or further acts or threats of terr0r1sm in the Umted States or elsewhere

K actual or ant1c1pated varlauons i quarterly operatmg results from hrstorrcal results or estlmates of results

py

- 'prepared by securmes analysts !
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- announcements of technologrcal 1nnovat10ns or new. products or servrces by us-or our competrtors SR

»
7 < i

A changes in ﬁnanc1al est1mates by‘secuntles analysts

“ie condmons or trends in the l1fe science, blotechnology and pharmaceutrcal mdustrres SRR T AE E A
- announcements by us of srgmﬁcant acqursmons strategrc partnershrps jomt ventures or caprtal commrtments

< addmons or departures of key personnel

- sales ofour common stock and A cthoa i ) S S s

- the potential adverse impact of the secondary trading of our stock on foreign exchanges which are subject to less
regulatory oversight than The Nasdaq National Market, without our permission, and the activity of the market
makers of our stock on such exchanges, including the risk that such market makers may engage in naked short

S
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sales and/or other deceptive trading practices whrch may artlﬁmally depress or otherw1se affect the pnce of our
common stock-on The Nasdaq Nanonal Market : i ; :

In addmon the stock market in general and The Nasdaq Stock Market and the market for technology compames
in particular,: has experienced -significant. :price: and.. volume - fluctiiations thathave -often ‘been+.unrelated of
dlspropomonate to-the operating performance.of those companies: Further, there Has been partrcular volatility in the
market. prices of securities of life sciences:companies: These broad-market-and industry factors may seriously ha

the market price of our common stock, regardless of: our .operating-performance..In the past, following; penodsmw
volatility in the market price of 'a company’s:securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted. A
securities class action-'suit against us could result in substantlal costs, potent1a1 l1ab111t|es and the drversron of
management s attention and:TesOUrCes, « .+, s, -« » ey notisn 28 Boan T ol L e

Anti-takeover provisions in our certificate of mcorporatmn, bylaws and! stockholder nghts plan and Delaware
law.could-maKe a:third:party acquisition of us difficult. : SR E R A AL T PV T - =¥

Our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and stockholder rights plan contain provisions that could make it more
difficult for a third party.to-acquire:us, even if doing so would:beibeneficial toiour stockholders:»We:are: also:subject
to certain provrs1ons of Delaware law that could delay, deter or prevent a change in control of us. These prov1sxons
could limit the pnce that investors mlght be w1llmg ter: pay in: the future for shares of our: comImon stock s A0

ITEM IB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None ’

ITEM2 PROPERTIES

PR .
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Our principal research and development, manufacturing and administrative facilities are currently located in
approximately 90,000 square feet of leased space ifi-Austin;’Texas: pursuant to alease agreement which-expires-July
31, 2010. The company maintains an additional 3,875 square feet of leased space at its European subs1d1ary,
Luminex, B.V.- We beheve these facdmes are. adequate for.our-current; needs G S

I TEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On April 26, 2005, the Company was served with a complaint, filed:by:Rules:Based Medicine, Inc.-(“RBM”) in
state district court in Travis County, Texas seeking a declaratory judgment that the formation of HealthMAP
Laboratories, Inc. (subsequently:renamed the Biophysical:Corporation):did-riot-constitute;a. usurpation .of-an. RBM
corporate -opportunity and:that.RBM has the necessary contractual licensesrightsiunder its:existing agreement with
the Company to perform certain testing services on behalf of BioPhysical Corporation. On May 19, 2005, we filed
an-answer to.this complaint denying:all claims_brought by -RBM. On: June:21,:2005,.thé:partiessentered:into an
agreement which was subsequently entered with the court on June 22, 2005. Pursuant:to, this agreement; the:parties
agreed that RBM would not file any claims related to this matter against the Company until August 1;2005, and that
the Company would. not file any claims related-to:this. matter -against-RBM: unfil ~August: '16; ..2005 in -order- to
continue to pursue settlement negotiations. The parties were unable to reach agreement on the terms of settlement.
RBM re-filed its lawsuit against us on August 12, 2005, seeKing; a- declaratory judgmient ‘againstius; as:set-forth
above. In response, we re-filed its answer and counterclaims against RBM;:as well as new claims against Mark
Chandler and Craig Benson, officers. of RBM on: August 19,,2005. The:parties; are--currently: proceeding with
d1scovery

In the opmron of management there are no pendmg legal proceedmgs that would have a matenal adverse effect
on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. -Adyversarial:proceedings:and litigation;
however, subject to inherent uncertainties, and unfavorable decisions and rulmgs could occur which could have a
material adverse impact on our consolidated financial positions, results of operat1ons jor. cash-flows for a period in
whrch such a decrston or rulmgs occeur, or future penods
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ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO. A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS. .
None.

Executive _,Cl:l“ficers‘olr the Reglstrant .

Name ;. .- _Age - Position
Patrick J. Balthrop -~ . 249 Pres1dent and Chref Executive. Ofﬁcer : g
Russell W, Bradley - .+ .42/ = * Vice'President, Business’ Development and Strategrc Plannmg-'
Harriss T. Currie R R:7 ‘ Chief Financial Officer; Vice President, Fmance and Treasurer
Gregory J. Gosch” S 43 Y T “Vice President; Marketing and Sales” ' ‘ ’
James W. Jacobson, Ph.D. 51 Vice President, Research and Developm"e‘nt
Rande! S. Marfin _ 49 Vice President, Luminex Broscrence Group
Oliver H Meek ' T84 Vice Presrdent Manufacturmg ST
‘David S:Reiter - - 39 \/lce Presrdent General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

L
wh

Patrtck J Balthrop Mr. Balthrop joined the Company in May 2004 as President and Chlef Executrve Ofﬁcer

and has served as a member of the Board of Directors and a member of the Executive Committee since Septembef,

2004. He served. as president of Fisher Healthcare a Fisher Smentlﬁc company, from 2002 to May 2004. Prior'to
Fisher'Scientific International, Mr. Balthrop - served fin - a number of leadershrp posmons “for over 20~ years' with
Abbott Laboratories, primarily in“Abbott's Diagnostics Division. Mr. Balthrop's most fecent positions- at: ‘Abbott
were ‘as head of worldwide’ commercral diagnostics opérations and as head of ‘Abbott Vascular.'Mz: Balthrop holds
an MB.A. from the Kellogg Graduate School of Management of Northwestern Unrvers1ty, and a B S 1n Brology
from Sprmg Hlll College L

Russell w. Brad[ey Mr. Bradley _;orned the Company i May 2005 as Vice Presrdent of Busrness Devél pment
and; Strateglc Plannmg Prevnously, Mr: Bradley spent: 17 years ‘at Beckmian Coulter Corp. ‘wheéré he' served as’ the
Director of the Beckman ‘Coulter- CARES initiafive, involved-in-the company’s- clinical” HIV/AIDS momtonng
business in developing regions around the globe. During his tenure at Beckmari Coulter, Mr:Bradléy was invblved
in the evaluation, market assessment and successful commercial launch of multiple life science technologies and
applications. Mr. Bradley holds a B.S. in Immunology and Biochemistry from Monash Universtity, Melbourne,
Australia.

Harriss T. Currie. Mr. Currie has served as Vice President, Finance, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer since
October of 2003. Since joining the Company in November of 1998, Mr. Currie previously served in the capacities of
Controller, Treasurer and Acting Chief Financial Officer. Prior to joining us, he was employed as the Chief
Financial Officer, Secretary and Treasurer of SpectraCell Laboratories from 1993 to 1998 where he also served as
Vice President of Finance for two subsidiary companies. Mr. Currie earned his B.B.A. from Southwestern
University and his M.B.A. in Finance and Marketing from The University of Texas at Austin. Prior to returning to
graduate school for his M.B.A., Mr. Currie was a certified public accountant with Deloitte & Touche LLP..

Gregory J. Gosch. Mr. Gosch joined the Company in October 2004 as Vice President, Marketing and Sales.
Previously, he served as Senior Director of Sales and Marketing for Nanogen from 1999 to 2004 where he was
responsible for worldwide marketing and U.S. sales. From 1997 to 1999, he served as Market Development
Manager for Chiron Corporation. In addition, Mr. Gosch has held various sales and marketing positions at Meridian
Diagnostics and Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc. Mr. Gosch holds an M.B.A. from the Carlson School of Management, a
Masters of Health Care Administration from the School of Public Health, both of the University of Minnesota, and a
B.A. in Molecular, Cellular and Developmental Biology from the University of Colorado.

James W. Jacobson, Ph.D. Dr. Jacobson joined the Company in May 1998, and he currently serves as Vice
President, Research and Development. From 1994 to 1998, Dr. Jacobson was Laboratory Director at Cytastar
Laboratories, Virus Reference Laboratories and SpectraCell Laboratories, Inc. in Houston, Texas. Following post-
doctoral work at North Carolina State University and Duke University, he was a faculty member in the Department
of Biology, University of Houston, Houston, Texas. Dr. Jacobson received a Ph.D. in Population Biology from
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Washington University in Saint<Louis, Missouri' and -obtained:B:S. *and- M:S-degrees in* Biology' from Utah ‘State
University in 1980 and 1982, respectively.

Randel S. Marfin. Mr. Marfin joined the Company in June 1998, and currently serves as Vice President,
Luminex Bioscience Group. Since joining the Company, Mr. Marfin previously”Setved”in' the ‘capacity 'of Vice
President of Marketing, Sales?and Business Development. Prior to joining_us, he worked. fof three years at
SpectraCell Laboratories, Inc., most recently as Vice President of Sales and Marketing where he was responsiblé for
business development, acquisitions, strategic planring and: sales and marketing. From 1990 to -1998, ‘he serve%' as
General-Manager of Texas for both:Damon Clinical Laboratories-and the Nichols Institute. In addition, Mr. Matfin

" held ,s_'ql‘@s_.,‘mane_{gemept;and business development positions for; Pamon Clinical Laboratories and, MPC Labs; Mr.

Marfin graduated from the University of, Houston-with a B.S. in Biochemistry and Biophysics .and served in the
United States Air Force from 1975 to 1978, : :

erved, ; ice President, Manufacturing since February 2000. During the;17
years prior to joining Luminex, Mr. Meck.was employed at_Abbott Laboratories. While at Abbott, he held various
management positions in the area of Technical Product Development, Reagent and Instrument Manufacturing and
Quality. Prior to joining Abbott Laboratories, he was the Technical Liaison for AMF Biological and Diagnostics
Company. Mr. Meek. graduated from Thé University of Texas.at Austin with a B.A. degree in Biology and is a
Certified Quality Engineer. . -~ 717 Ui e T AT T

Oliver H. Meek. Mr. Meek hasserved '

T

- David S-Reirer... Mr, Reiter has served as.the. Company’s, Vice President;, General Counsel and Corporate
Searetary since:October 2003., Prior tg becoming General Counsel, Mr. Reiter was in private practice,with:the, firm
of Phillips. & Reiter, PLLC, which provides outsourced general counsel services for.technology companies. . Before
co-founding the Airm, Mr. Reiter was Vice President and General Counsel. for: 724 Solutions. Inc., a provider .of
mobile commerce software solutions and applications (NASDAQ: SVNX). Earlier in his career, Mr. Reiter:served
as senior counsel for Compaq Computer Corporation, supporting the Worldwide Sales & Services, Supply Chain
Management and. Consumer Products Group..,Mr. Reiteris a,graduate of the, University of Southern California (Juris
Doctorate/Master. of International Relations), University: of Sheffield, UK (M.B,A.) and the, University, of Notre

Dame:(B.A.) in; Government. Mr. Reiter is a member of the Texas Bar and is-the chair of the Subcommittec on Law
Department Management for the American Bar ASS0CIation.. ¢ 5o 6 oo u i
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ITEM . MARKETFOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMONEQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER NN
o 0 e e i

SEL i : RS ' R I R A S ?
8 @urfcommon stock is traded on The Nasdaq Stock Market under the symbol “LMN X " N A AT

‘,. ¥ ; Lt

= The followmg table sets torth the range of high and low sale prices on The Nasdaq Stock Market for each quarter
dunng 2004 and 2005 On March 10 2006 the last reported sale price of our common stock was $13.49 per share.

FFISEQUATLET. . o e . 8 $
secondQuarter 8 1075 .8,..825
'Fﬁird'Quarter ' : LT ' ‘ $ $
EourthQuarter $ $
2005:: N

SRS CQUATter:: . e i e i i e e e e 8 9,08 8T 705
Second Quarter $ 1007 % 7.15
“Fhitd-Quarter:. . $ 1115778 885
Fourth Quarter . $ 1214 § 895

Holders

_ '_ "'As of March 10 ."2006 we had 257 holders of record of 'our common stock. Because many of our'."shares ‘are held
by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of beneficial
stockholders represented by these record holders

DiViHends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock and, while this policy is subject to:periodic
review by our board of directors, we cwrently intend;to retain any earnings for use in:our busmess‘ and do not
anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future L y B T R T

Recent Sales of Uniegistered Securities
Nohe. B S RS ) ) R R

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

There was no stock repurchase activity for the fourth quarter of 2005.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial .
Statements and Notes‘therété and with “Manidgement’s Discussion.and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resulfs.
of Operations” and other financial data included elséwhere in this Annual Report-on'Form 10-K: The censolidated -
statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 and the consolidated balance -

sheet data at December 31, 2005 and 2004 are derived from the audited consolidated financial statements included - -
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001 and the‘consolidated balance sheet*data at-Deéember 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 are

derived from audited consolidated financial statements not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

‘Year Ended Dé-cember 31,

Consohdated Results of Operatmns Data:
" .Total revenue.. ... ..c.coeeeeeinnnnnnn. e
" . Gross profit...... e e T
Loss from operanons ......................................

T Net1oss. e SUTTTUTTRR L

Shares vsed in computing net loss per
share bas1c and dlluted

“Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
. Cash and:cash equivalents. ...x... i v i,
Short-term InVestments. ......oviverereriineninnenens
Long-term investments..............cooovveieniiinnnnnn.
Working capital...........cooooiiiiiiiiiiii
Total @SSets....ccoovvviriiiiii e
Total stockholders' equity.........c.coevviiviiinnnn...

24

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 .
C (In thousands, except per-share data) -
42313 $ 35880- $ 26292 $ 13,008 $°201939
22,321 14,722 9,830 2,683 . 6323
(3,496) (4,164)  (6475) (24,117 (18484)
(2,666) (3,605 (4.209) 7 " (24,934) " (15,685)
(2,666) S (3,605) & (4209) ° $(24934) S (15,685)
009 § (012) $ (014) $ (0.85) § *‘(0‘.5‘5‘)
30,990 30,698 - 29.814 29,275 28,330
) Af December 31, R U

2005 2004 2003 2002

(In thousands) PR
25,206 $ 19,238 % 39480 . $ 40482 . $ 34930,
10,947 12,891 . oo Deen o 16,8220
5,466 3,991 - - .
39,364 40,823. .. 45522 ...+ 45321 .¢:7:7 63,0187
58,035 53,175 53,294 53,623 72,073
44710 44,546 44,835 45,571 67255




1T, EM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANAL YSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDI TION AND RESULTS.
. OF OPERATIONS -

The followmg mformatron should be read in. conjunctron with the, Consolrdated Fmancral Statements and the
accompanymg Notes 1ncluded below in Itemn 8 and. “Risk Factors” included above i inItem 1A of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. Thrs drscussron contains forward- lookmg statements.that involve rrsks and-uncertainties. Our actual
results may differ mater1ally from those anticipated in these forward- lookmg statements.

A Durmg 2005 a number of factors contrrbuted to our ﬁnanc1al performance i) we entered 1nto new agreements
with rket leaders m the1r respectlve spaces; (n) several of our ex1st1ng partnershrps gamed tractlon ‘during. the
year ,(111) we beneﬁted from industry consolrdatron that put our products and technology in the hands of maJor
miarket participants who have srgmﬁcantly more sales and marketmg resources to get our products in the hands of

“end users; (iv) we maintained our emphasis on product development and enhancement by our research and
development group including the rollout of the company s first new product in a number of years with the launch of
the Lumrnex LX200 (v) in terms ‘of 2 awareness we experlenced over a 90% mcrease in, articles placed in sc1ent1ﬁc
peer ev1ew )ournals whrch h1storrcally and across the healthcare market has been a good md1cator of growth rates

1ntel‘lectual property estate; and (c) a move towards the'i 1ssuance of restncted stock in lieu of stock opt1ons as a form
of long term 1ncent1ve »compensatron and {vii) mcreased penetratron of our target markets by our partners .

System sales for the § year ended December 31 2005 decreased shghtly to 698 (693 LX systems and 5 HTS) from
793 (788 LX systems and 5 HTS) in the year ended December 31, 2004. Although our total system sales are down
relatrve to the prior year, they fall within our expected Tange of 150 to 220. Systems per_quarter as previously
e currently expect our quarterly system sales to remain wrthm thrs range in 2006 The breadth of the

ecrse estrmate Durmg the thrrd quarter of 2005 the latest advancement of o our line of. m1crosphere based
rnultrplexed detectron mstrument the Luminex 200 (LX200) became avallable ‘The, LX200 is desrgned aroun the
same xMAP technology as the Lumrnex 100 (LXlOO) enabling customers who convert to th1s system to contmue to
use apphcatxons valrdated on, earher Lummex systems

Ko

mrlllon in royalty beanng sales’ by our partners reported durmg 2005. " As addmonal partners commercralrze and
expand their menu offerings, we expect royalty revenues will continue to grow. We believe that this increase is an
indication of the acceptance and utilization of our technology over a broader base. In addition, another key indicator
of technology acceptance is long terrn consumable purchases For the thrrteenth consecutrve quarter our 12 month
moving average of consumable sales’ Has increased. At December 31 2005 our 12- month movmg average of
quarterly consumable sales was $3 3 mrllron ‘

As a result of the varrabrhty of the revenue mix, we have experrenced some related var1ab111ty l[l both absolute
gross proﬁt and the correspondmg gross ‘margin percentage For comparatrve purposes, we had gross proﬁt in 2005
and 2004 of $223 mrlhon and $l4 7 million, respecnvely Addmonally, gross. margm percentage over the same

quarterly Basis can be pr1marrly attrrbuted to the varlablhty of the revenue mix and secondarlly to the i 1ncreases m
the average price of our systems in 2005. Total consumable and royalty revenue, our highest margin items,
accounted for 43% of total revenue for 2005 compared to 34% of total revenue for 2004

Research and development expenses increased to $5. 6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $3.8
mlllron for year ended Decémber 31, 2004. The increase is the result of an increased focus on development of our
system consumable and software products Our intent is to continue to expand ouir research and- development
efforts in the near- -term. These’ efforts” mclude the creation 'in 2005 of our’ Luminex Broscrences Group and its
Contrnumg efforts to assist in the expansion ‘of appl1cat1ons for use on our platforms and expanded focus on system
consumable and software product development
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During 2005, expenses related to sales and marketing increased 83%, or $2.1 million, as a reésult of ‘building our
infrastructure to accommodate the expanded marketing and business development functions necessary to execute
against our strateglc ‘plan “These expansrons were initiated by the hiring of Greg Gosch, our Vice President of
Marketmg and ‘Sales, in OctoBer 2004 ‘and Russell Bradley, our Vice Presidentof” Busmess Deve]opment ‘and
Strategic Planning; in May2005 and mcluded the related mcreases of mfrastructure in thetr orgamzatrons Pt

L T SO HEn P fod e

- During 2005, we incurred increased professional fees related to expandmg, supporting and defendmg our
1ntellectual property estate and strategic partnership relationships. For the year ended December 31, 2005 “the
Company mcurred approx1mately $782,000 of additional professional fees over the year ended December 31, 2004,

tarily sutable to the lltrgatron settlements and other mtellectual property matters Addmonally, as 1nd1cated
, y sn ﬁnancral statements for the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company settled a lawsult w1th
Dynal Brotech LLC on' June 30 2005 The Company recorded $322 000 of expense related to 1ts portton of the
settlement among Dynal B1otech LLC eralBro Corporatlon andus.

the company recorded $l ] mlllron and $675,000 of stock compensatron expense respectrvely, related to restrrcted
stock 1ssuanc 5 ; s‘and employees of the company. As a result of the trans1tron stock compensatron
expense related 10’ restrrcted stock 1ssuances mcreased by approxrmately $90l 000, for the year ended December 31
2005 compared to' the year ended ‘December 31, 2004, ‘Had the’ company “elécted fiot to miake ‘the transition to
restricted stock, no compensatlon expense would have been recorded for emp_loyee and drrector optrons xssued at the
prevallmg market pr1ce on the date of issuance in accordance w1th APB 25 R

partres usrng our technology or may buy our consumable products and then resell those products to the1r customersf
all “generating toyalties. At December 31, 2005, we had " over 50’ partners and 24 commercra]rzed partners
Commercialized partners are those partners who have either réleased ‘cotmercialized products “based ‘6n the
Luminex platform or are redlstrrbutmg our products and are reporting royalties. As of December 31, 2005, our
partners have obtamed 28 510(k) clearances for 154 assays and 2 software packages runnmg ‘on Lumln : xMAP
technology :

As we' contmue to strrve towards makmg xMap technology a standard for performmg bloassays‘ wrthm our key
market segme ts we belreve that we neéd to continue to concentrate 'on the followrng Ob_]CCthCS (1) sustam our
focus on the segments of the life “science and’ dragnostlcs markets where we believe ‘we have ‘a competrtlve
advantage, (ii) con tinue to make strategic investments in the technology through our reséarch and developmen{t
efforts, (iii) grow our installed base, and the related product line to drive increased utilization per system, (iv) forge
key partnershrps with mafket Ieiders'to broaden the use of and accelerate ‘market acceptance ‘of our te'chn logy, (v)‘
mamtam olir strong ﬂnancral posrtron and sound corporate govemance (vi) expand our footprmt in the mark tplace
in both bro defense and assay development mcludmg through opportunistic pursu1t of acqulsmons and (vii) to
contmue our progress toward proﬁtabllrty A crrtrcal component of these ob]ectlves Wwill be to contrnually enhan‘

our posmon vra a customer focused development process and a customer focused servrce strategy
TG

é Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates R
A

The dlscussmn and analys1s of our ﬁnanc1al condmon and results of operatlons are based upon our consohdated
ﬁnancral statements which have been prepared in accordance w1th United States generally accepted accountmg
prmc1ples The preparatron of these financial statements requrres us to make estlmates and Judgments that affect the‘_
reported amounts of .assets, rl1ab111t1es,,revenues and expenses, and related drsclosure of contingent assets. an)d
liabilities. We base our esfimates on historical experience and on vanous other assumptrons that are bel1eved to.be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making Judgments about the carrymg
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“be required. R . ‘,‘.‘;3

values of assets and liabilities: that -are . not readily -apparent from other sources. A summary of our significant
accounting policies is described in Note :1.of ‘otr Consolidated Financial Statements provided herein in Item 8.
Estimates and assumptionis'aré féviewéd periodically. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions. .,

Revenue Recognition. - .Revenue on sales of our: products is recognized when persuasive evidence. of:an
agreement exists, delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed and determinable and collectibility is probable. Generally,
these criteria are met at the time our product is shipped.:If the criteria for revenue recognition are:niot' met-at-the
time of shipment, the revenue is deferred until all criteria are met. Royalty revenue is generated when a partner sells
products incorporating our technology; provides testing services to third parties using our technology”ér résells our
consumables. Royalty revenue is recognized as it is réported to us by our partners; thetéfore, the undeflying end-
user sales may be related to prior periods.“We also sell eéxtended service contracts: for mainténance and support of
our products. Revenue for service contracts is recognized ratably over the term of the agreement.

Total deferred revenue as oi Decernber 3l 2005 was $6 9 mrlhon and prrmarlly consisted of (1) unamortxzed
license fees for non-exclusive licenses and patent rights ‘to certain Luminex technologies iri’ the “amount ‘of $4.3
million, (ii) unamortized revenue related to extended. service contracts in the amount of $1.7 million, and, (iii)
upfront payments from strateglc partners to be used for the purchase of products or to be applled ‘towards ‘future
royalty payments in the amount of $500,000. Upfront. payments from our strategic partners are nonrefundable and
will be recognized as revenue as our strateglc partners purchase products or apply such amounts againist royalty
payments Nonrefundable license fees are'amortized into revenue over the estimated life of the llcense -agreements,

Inventory Valuatzon Inventones arg valued at the Tower of cost or market- value and have been reduced’by=dn

for excess and obsolete inventory were (i) a specrﬁc reserve for mventory items that we no longer use in the
manufacture of our products or that:no longer:meet,our, specifications and, (ii).a reserve against slow- moving: items
for potential obsolescence. The total estimated allowance is reviewed on ‘a regular basis and ad]usted based on
management s review of'i 1nventor1es on.hand: ¢ mpared to estrmated future usage and sales.

we engage in product quality, programs and,iproc‘esses our warranty obligation is affected by product fa1lure rates,
matenal usage and serv1ce delrvery costs; mcurred in correctlng a product failure. Should actual product farlure rates,

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We continuously monitor collections and payments '

from our customers and ‘maintain allowances for doubtful accounts based upon our historical experience and any
specific customer collection issues that we have identified. While such credit losses historically have been within
our expectatlons there;can be:ng assurance that we will’continue: to.experiencg-the. same level of credit losses:that
we -have in-the past. A. s1gn1ﬁcant change in the: l1qu1d1ty or-financial, position .of  any one .of our significant
customers, or a detenorat1on in the.economic environment, in.general, could have a material adverse impact on the
collectrbﬂrty of our accounts recuvable and our. future operatmg results mcludmg a reductron in: future revenues. and
additional allowances for. doubtful accounts. e R TS TR S i L

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the percednta'ge of net sales of certain items in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. The financial information and the d1scussron below should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Notesthereto R

ey




: Year Ended Deceniber 31, :
- 2005 2004 2003 - .

FRE

Revenue o | '100% 100%_ C100%
Cost ofrevenue..'L’....»....i.'l ....... T ‘{’47 % cr 59 % 63 % .
Gross proﬁt ............ SURIRIB e e 153 %_/ S 4% L e '37 % e %

.Operatmg expenses Lo spe v reen war ot e TRV IR A O
- Research-and development ..... P A3 % . ll %»_ i 12%
Selling, general and adminiistrative: . SRR :.148 Yoo vin 0 42%0 . : 50 %

Total operating expenses ....... o 61% ‘ 53 % 62% »
: A T Bun o L R N o ey 4T L, e !
Loss from Operations,.............coouerspenone 8% (D% . @29%, o

Other incartie, net CBw 7% 2 %

Settlement ofl1t1gat10n..'_f.’;;(.L,v:; .............. "'(l)%' %’d_ ‘ :‘ i 7% B
Income taxes. ;0. PR e, L L O%»-s O% e 0%
Net 1oss...\..,d,..d....;-., ...... e Faeeanene i e (6)% 1 (10 e (16)%

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to Year Ended December 31 2004

~ Year'Ended December 31

2005 2004 Variance
S e ' SR (mthousands) G
ReVenue. !, ... oo i i e b B e w0 $ 423137708 35880 8 6,433 - SR
Gross profit... % LS8 22321 f‘~*“$ 14722 "'$'=7;599
Gross miargin percentage.. i 5.0 L0 ; CUS3Y ALY e 2% O
Operating expenses............ e, B $ 25,817 $ 18,886 $ 6,931
NELIOSS. .. cooooercr s e, -3 (2 666) $ (3605) $ 939 _

'Revenue. Total revenue increased to$42.3 million for-thé year ended December 315 2005 from $35:9 million in
2004. The increase in revenue was primarily attributable to incréased acceptance 'and“ut’ilization" of our'technology in
the marketplace as” evidenced by ‘our:-continueéd “increasé -in' toyalty réevenue.. We’ continue ‘fo have revenue
concentration in‘a limited number .of strategic partners, a8 two: cistomers accotinted-for 39.0% of ‘total revenue in
2005 (23.0% and 16.0%, respectively). The top five customers, by revenue; accounted for-57% of total revenue: No
other customer accounted for more than 10% of total revenue.

A breakdown of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 is as follows (in thousands):

Year E/n:ded?ﬁec‘ernber.}l’,_A_l Lo

2005 2004
System sales........ SR e v - $ 18,812 $. 18956
Consumable sales.........c.oooeviiiiiiiii 13,084 9,002
Royalty revenue. ..........ievieniisveiieneieiaieennss - 5,255 3,210
Service CONIACES. . ...vieriereeitenieeeiie e arerisanns © 2,444 1,565
Other revenue........... OO 2,718 3,147

§ 42313 $ 35,880




b SrS

System and peripheral component sales remained flat at $19.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005.
System sales decreased to 698 (693 L.X systems and 5-HTS): for 2005 -as-compared to 793 (788 LX systems:and 5
HTS) in the prior year, bringing total systen sales to approximately: 3,400 as’of December 31, 2005. During 2005,
five.of our partners accounted for 486; or 70%; of total system sales: for the period. These!five! partners jpurchased
476 or 60% of total system sales in 20045 rrin B o e e LRI S S E R e

--*Consumable sales; comprised of ‘microspheres and:sheath fluid, .increased 45%to.$13:1. million :during:-2005.
from $9:0 million in 2004.- We believe the'increase.is primarily: the result of the increased use and acceptancé:of our
technology and.the increased’ installed: base of our systems. ..-Partners-who reported royalty:bearing:sales accounted
for $10.9 million, or 83%, of total consumable sales for the year-ended Pecember-3t;:2005. -In: addition;. during
2005, we had 28 bulk purchases of consumables totaling approximately $9.2 million as compared with 23 bulk
purchases “totaling ‘approximately.'$5.4- mitlion in the prior. yedr. A :bulk purchase:is defined.as the purchase of
$100,000 or more of consumables in a‘quarter.”As the:number of applicatiofis available on our.platform:expands; wé
expect to see the overall level of consumable sales, and related bulk purchases, continue towise." .| = - vy it

" “Royalty - revenue increased: 64%t6 $5.3 - million for the year-ended December 31; 2005:fromi $3.2 million for the
year ended December-31;.2004. -We believe :this increase: is' also:primarilysthe result of the increased use:and
acceptance of our-technology.” For ithe:year, ended December 31; 2005; we :had. 24 commercial ipartners submit
- Toyalties ias compared with 22 for'the year ehded December 31, 2004. +Additionally, the.22 partners: fromrwhorniwe
recognized $3.2 million:in royalties in 2004 represented approximately. $5.1 million:of the total: royalties in 2003, an
increase of approximately:59% over their prior year:payments... Two ofiour partners reported royalties totaling:an
aggregate-of approximately $2.4 million; or 46%; of the total rToyalties-fori2005Ne.other:customers accounted for
more than 10%-of total royalty revenue for 2005 Total royalty bearing:sales. reported:to-us-by: our partners: were
approximately $86 million for.the'year-ended December 31,2005, - .« .. " s o ol oogien o L.

Dmpeone LR LR g R

Service contracts, comprised of extended Wwarranty contracts earned ratably over the term.of a contract, increased
to $2.4 million during 2005 from $126 million sin' 2004:-This. increase is attributable'to. increased sales of. extended
service contracts, which is a direct result of the increase in the commercial base of Luminex systems as compared to
the prior year period. At December:31; 2005,:we:had 551 Luminex systems covered under an extended service
agreement and $1.7 r_nil_],ioﬁ: in_deferred:revenue related:to those contracts. At December 31, 2004, we had 345
Luminex systems covered under an extended service agreement and $1.1 million in deferred revenue related to those
contracts. ‘ el o

&

Other revenue, comprised of training revenue, shipping revenue, miscellaneous part sales, amortized license, fee:
and special project revenue, decreased. t0.$2.7 million, for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $3.1 mllhon for
the year ended December 31, 2004: (i The; decrease wag primarily attributable to a decrease in special project rqyeligé
and a one time contractual adjustment of $245,000 related fo unfulfilied purchase commitments by one of our
partners that occurred in 2004. The decrease was partially offset by an increase in amortized license fees. For the
year. ended December,31,-2005, we_had $1.4, million of part sales, $528,000 of shipping revenue,. $415,000 in

; 40,000 of other misceflaneous revenue. -

amortized license fees, $187,000 in training Tevenue and:

R T T : i

$22

Gross Proﬁt Grossproﬁt increas 3 ~rmlhonfor theyearendedDecember 31,2095, ascomparca‘to

$14.7 million for the year é'rldé,(‘i"ljép;’:mbé,f_‘3’1\,,-‘._20()4.5 The gross margin percentage increased to, 53% for the year 1
ended December 31, 2005 from 41% for the year ended December 31, 2004, The increase in’gross margin was
primarily attributable to the jncrease, in the percentage of consumables and royalties, our highest margin items, as a
Percentage of total revenue and to a lesser extent an increase in average system sales price. For 2005, consumables
and royalties represented 43% of total revenue as compared with 34% for the prior year.

" Research aqnd Development Expense:Research and development expenses increased to $5.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005-from $3.8'million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The. increase was iprimarily
attributable to iricreases in personnel costs associated with the addition of employees in 2005;and increased.costs
related to direct materials and consumable supplies utilized in the research and development process-. Research :and
development headcount at December 31, 2005 was 42 as compared to 34 at December 31, 2004. - As a percentage of

(s
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revenue, research and development expense increased 13% in 2005 as compared with 11% in 2004. Our current
expectatlon is for research and development costs to remain between 10% and 15% of total revenue for 2006.

Selling, General and Admmzstratwe Expense Sellxng, general and admmrstratxve expenses mcreased to: $20 2
million for. the year ended December 31, 2005 from $15.1 million for. the.comparable period in 2004.. The increase
was. primarily. attributable. to building our-infrastructure to accommodate. the .expanded marketing and business
development functions necessary to execute our strategic plan; incredased professional fees-related to. tht
development and protection of our intellectual property estate; and an increase in incremental stock compensati(ﬁ
charges related: to ‘equity issuances to’employees as‘a result of the transition:to the issuance of restricted stock-in.lie
of stock options. As a.percentage of revenue,:selling, general:and-administrative expenses were 48% .in 2005: and

42% in-2004. We believe that our selling; general and admrmstratrve expenses -aret leverageable and can support
addltronal revenue with relatlvely mmrmal addltrons SN ; -

Other ]ncome net Other income. 1ncreased to $l 2 mrllron for the year ended December 31 2005 from $572; OOO
for the year ended December 31,2004, The average rate on current mvested balances was 3. 9% as.of December 31;'
2005 compared to 1.4%as of December 31, 2004 PR :

. Settlement of Litigation. On November.18,:2004, Dynal Biotech, LLC (“Dyndl?),.filed a complaint in Federal
Court in the Western District of Wisconsin against: Luminex, Corporation.séeking a-declaratory judgmient-to enjoin
Luminex from interfering with an agreement between Dynal and one of Luminex’s partners,-MiraiBio. Corporation,
which granted ‘development and distributiori rights to Dynal of certain ‘Luminex technology.- On January:18, 2005,
we filed an answer:to. the complaint.denying- Dynal’s -allegations- and séeking -dismissal.and filed counterclaims
against Dynal on the basis that Dynal improperly used Luminex technology:and.as a result; has damaged Luminex
and .its partner’s-position in: the marketplace. On-June 30, 2005, the parties.entered ‘into a confidential settlement
agreement; which was-subsequently entered with the:Court:on July 7, 2005, with a stipulation signed by, the parties
dismissing all claims with prejudice. Luminex recorded $322;000 of expense. related to. Luminex’s portion of the
settlement among Dynal Biotech, LLC, erarBro Corporatron and Lummex Corporatron

PR ¥ TN I
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Year Ended December 31 2004 Compared to Year Ended December 31 2003

Year Ended December 31
2004 e 2003 Vanance:
‘ : : : : Co : (m thousands) sL i
REVENUE. ..ot e, $ 35,880 $ 26,292 $ 9,588
Gross profit.................. RO UTP TR UPPPI $ 14,722 $ 9830 $ 4,892
Gross 'margin’ percentage SUUEETOPURPEI S 41% T BT Y
Operating expenses”....4......'...,..’:..,',; ..... : $ 18,886 ' $ 16,305 T 2,581

Net loss.. g (3* 605 “(4:309) 04T

" ‘Reveriue. Total revenue 1ncreased to $35.9 million’ for the year ended December 3l 2004 from $26 3 mrlhon in
2003. The increase in revenue was primarily’ attributablé to increased acceptance and tilization- of our technology in
the marketplace as evidenced by increases in all revenue line items, - We continued to have revenue concentration in
a l1m1ted number of strategrc partners as’ two custoniers' accounted for 35.0% of ‘total revenue in’ 2004 (24 0% and
ll 0%, respectrvely) No other customer accounted for more than 10% of total revenue;' c

‘ ‘A breakdown_of revenue"for the year ended December 31, 2904 and2003 rs as foll s ’("i'nrthousand.s): - s

‘ Year Ended Dece‘m‘b'er”jl,. “

S s o e . : 2004 e 2003

- System sales.:......... U Ll Vil $ 18; 956;' L% 15,577

“ Consumable sales.”................. AT - .9,002 - o 6,078 0 oy
Royaltyrevenue.....‘...'................4...,......"—.‘.....’.'..». ........... "’."'13;2‘10': s e 1,400 -8

SEIVICE CONLLACKS ...\ oot e oo VoanrwNOL565 0 e w32 e v
OthEr TEVENUE. .. ...ttt 3,147 2,105

$ 35880 $ 26,292
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System and. peripheral component sales increased to $19.0 million for the-year ended December 31, 2004 from
$15.6 million in'2003. ‘System sales increased to 788 for 2004 as compared to 655 in the prior year,-bringingtotal
system.sales:to’ 2,709 as of December 31, 2004. -During 2004, five of our partners accounted for.549 or.70%, of the
total system sales for the period. Thése five partners purchased 375, or 57%, of the total system sales in 2003:.-. -

Consumable sales, comprised-of microspheres and sheath fluid, increased to $9.0. million during 2004:from $6:1
million in 2003. We believe the increase was primarily the result of the increased use and acceptance of our
technology and thé increased installed base of our systems. Partners -who:reported .royalty bearing-sales accounted
for $5.5 million, or 62%, of total:consumable sales for the year ended December 31, 2004.. In addition; during:2004,
we had 23 bulk purchases of consumables totaling approximately $5.4 ‘million asccompared with 17 bulk purchases
totaling approximately $3.2 million in the prior year.

~Royalty revenue increased to'$3.2 million for the year ended December31, 2004 from $1.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2003.- We believe - this increase was also primarily the: result--of the increased use and
acceptance of our technology. For the year ended December 31, 2004; we-had 22 cemmercial partners:submit
* royalties as compared with 20 for the year.ended December 31, 2003. - Additionally, the-20:partners- from: whom.we
recognized.$1.4 million in royalties in 2003 represented approximately $3.1 million of'the total royalties in 2004, an
increase of -approximiately 126% ‘over their:prior year payments. : Five of ‘our-partners reported royalties totalingran
aggregate of approximately $2.3 million, or 71%, of the total royalties for 2004. Total.royalty bearing sales by-our
partners were over $52 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to over $22 million for the year
ended December 31, 2003. . e g gyt

Service contracts, comprised of extended warranty contracts earned ratably  over the term of the. icontract,
increased to $1.6 million during 2004 from $1.1 million in 2003. This increase was attributable to increased:sales:of
extended service contracts, which is-a direct result of the increase in the commercial base of Luminex Systems as
compared to the prior: year period. ., At December 31, 2004, we had 345 Luminex Systems covered under an
extended service.agreement and $1.1' million in deferred revenue related to those contracts. At December 31, 2003,
we had 200 Luminex Systems covered under an extended service agreement and $778,000 in deferred revenue
related to those contracts. : : - :

Other revenue, comprised of training revenue, shipping revenue, miscellaneous part sales, amortized license fees
and special project revenue, increased to $3.1.million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $2.1 million-for
the year ended December 31,:2003. The contributors to the increase, in other revenue over prior year were spread
over the range of items in other revenue, including increases in part sales to our partners who have assumed the field
service obligation on our systems of $318,000, a contractual adjustment of $245,000 related to unfulfilled purchase
commitments by one of our partners and contractual adjustments of $228.,000 related to the forfeiture of prepaid
royalty deposits;that were not:utilized:prior to their contractual expiration.; For the year ended December 31, 2004,
we had $1.6 million of part sales, $465,000 of shipping revenue, $343,000 of special project revenue, $473,000 of
contractual adjustments and $252,000 of other miscellancous revenue.

Gross Profit. Gross profit increased to $14.7 million for the year;ended December 31, 2004, as compared to $9.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The gross margin. percentage increased to 41% for the year-ended
December 31, 2004 from 37% for;the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase in the gross margin percentage
was primarily attributable tozan;ihcrease in the high margin items (consumables and royalties) as a percentage of
total revenue and the allocation of our fixed costs over a higher revenue base. However, these factors were partially
offset by margin compression resulting from the higher cost of the new laser configuration beginning in the second
quarter of 2004. For 2004, consumables and royalties represented 34% of total revenue as compared with 28% for
the prior year. : :

.Research.and.Development Expense. Research and, development expenses-increased to. $3.8 million for.the year
ended December-31, 2004 from. $3.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase was: primarily
attributable to increases .in- personnel, costs associated with the addition of employees in_.late 2003 and 2004,
Research and development headcount at December 31, 2004 was 34 as. compared to 33 at December, 31,-2003 (and
28 at September.30, 2003). As a percentage. of revenue, research and development.expense-was 11% in 2004 and
12% ln 2003' o T R L o . K [ 'r.gj‘ L e e i 1 .
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.- Selling, General and Administrative Expense. Selling, general-and administrative expenses-increased - to $15.1
million for the year ended December 31,2004 from $13.1-million for the conmiparable-period in 2003 ./ The increase
was primarily -attributable to-increases in personnel costs:associated with the net.addition of: eight.employees. over
our December 31; 2003 selling,- general and administrative headcount. of 45;!incremental stock: compensation
charges related to equity issuances to employees and expenses associated with Section 404 compliance As a
percentage of revenue, sellmg, general and admrmstratrve expenses ‘were 42% In 2004 and 5{)% in 2003 .

OIher ]ncome net. Other ‘income: mcreased to $572 000 for the year ended December 31 2004 from $426 000
for the year-ended December 31 2003.. The avérage rate on current-invested: balances :was 1 4% as-of, December 31¥;
2004:compared to 1.0% as-of December 31,2003. | . sl e NP :

Settlement of Litigation. On January 31, 2000, the Company filed a lawsuit in Travis County, Texas state district
court alleging riegligence and breach of-contract on the part of thé Company’s: prior-patent. counsel regarding a
procedural omission whereby:-the Company is-unable to. pursue:a patent:in-Japan, which corresponds-te: some of the
Comipany’s:issued U.S: patents related. to the Companys.method :of 'real time” detection’-and quantification: of
multiple-analytes- from a single samplé. On March 7; 2003 the.parties executed a-full, final and complete release
regarding: such':action;: without- an admission of liability .or wrongdoing :on the part: of the defendarits. ‘As
consideration-in connection-withsthe settlement and release the Companyi recerved approx1mately 31. 8 rmlhon net
oflegalandrelatedcostsandexpenses F N N T TR LR T S TV ST PRI o

Quarterly Results

The followrng table sets forth certarn quarterly ﬁnancral data for the penods rndrcated (m thousands except per
share data) EUHERAY . ;7 o ‘

AR s QnarterEnded T A TR I P R
March 31, Juiedo, September30" " December 31,

K 2005 - 2005 s 2005 2005
Revenue...."........ e, 9320 % 10,652 $ 10, 764 $ 11577 e
Grossprofit...............ccooinn. 4,842 16,358 5,470 5,651

Loss from'operations: 514y 280y SOy e (T T
Netloss. .0, .. DU T (298) "‘-'(3'6;3) “657) - (1;348)

Basic loss per share: B (21005 S (105 ;(002)( T 0.04)

“Marchat,  Decenbér 31, Cn

SO T a00d L2004
Revenue , 9,295 ) $ 9171 3 8,359 $ 9 055
Gross profit. ;1 ... DIngi009 | il b 3381 L L 23,5410 o 3,791

Loss from opération o (246) : (1,313)?‘;,'..’ -”'1,17“(71;388)’_ R
Netloss..-..-.:.-..r;.;.’:. 143) - (1 126) : t":‘*’(1 156) Lone U180y
i¢*1oss-per share (0.00) HO04) ! 004y

L o IR B C S R VAN O M R

Liquidity and Capital Resources

"' At Décember 31, 2005, we held cash and- cash équivalents of '$25.2° mrlhon short—term investments ‘6f $10 9
million ‘and- Jong-term' 1nvestments of $5:5 million;"for-afi aggregate Of $41:6° milliofi! At Decembet 31,52004; ‘we
held cash and cash equivalents of $19.2 millior, short-term investmentsof'$12.9 million and'lohg:term investiments
of $4.0 mrlhon for an aggregate of $36:1 mllhon ‘A¥ of December 31,2005 4nd:2004, working capital ‘was $39.4 -
million and $40.8 million, Tespectively.”We have funded our operatronsf fo’daté primarily through’the isshance of
equity securities. Our cash reserves are held directly or indirectly in a variety of short-term and long-term ‘interest-
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bearing instruments, including obligations of the United: Stafes government or agen01es thereof and U:S. corporate
debt securities with maturities of two years-or less.

Cash provided by operations was $7.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Significant-items affecting
operating cash flow for the period were net inventory decreases of $3.4 million, net deferred revenue increases of
$2.7 million and net -increases of accouiits, payable of $1.8 million. Based on-the current ﬁnanmal posmon and
improvements in 2005 we-expect: operating; cashﬂow for 2006 to resultiina modest use of cash '

Cash used in investing was $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2()05 as compared wrth $17 5 mllhon
for the year ended December 31, 2004. In 2005, we made purchases of property, plant and equipment of $2.8
miilion primarily for leaseheld improvements .Currently, exclusive of changes in investments, we expect cash used
in investing activities fo- be prlmarlly for purchases of property plant and equlpment and to be approx1mate1y
equrvalent Wlth 2005 e . . . ‘

~ Our operating expenses during the year-ended December 31,2005 were $25.8 million, of Wthh $5 6 mrllron was
research and development expense and $20.2 million was selling, general and administrative expense. We currently
expect that increases in operating expenses for 2006 would be substantlally offset by increases in gross profit.
Additionally, we.expect research and development expenses to remain-between 10% and 15% of total revenue in
2006. Our expected increase in research and dévelopment expenses for 2006 relative to 2005 is a result of our
content strategy and expanded ‘focus on product development. Our expected increase in selling, general and
administrative expenses over those of 200518 primarily a result of increased stock compensation expense related'to
the required adoption of FAS 123(R) and mcreased professional fees related to the development and protection of
our intellectual property estate.

oWe presently outsource:certain aspects of the assembly of out-systems-to contract-manufacturers. -We have non-
cancelable purchase requirements. - with -certain oft our-component suppliers that requrre us.to take delivery of a
minimum, number; of component parts for our:products .or:the: cost per unit will increase;which would adversely
impact our gross margin. We are not otherwise committed to scheduled purchase requirements. However, because
of a long lead-time to delivery, we are required'to place orders for a variety of items well in advance of scheduled
production runs. ‘ P

-~..Our future capital:requirements will depend on a number of factors, ;including our-success-in developing:and
expanding markets for.our-products;;payments-under possible future strategic arrangements, continued progress -of
our research and development of potential products, the timing and outcome of regulatory approvals, the need to
"acquire licenses to new technology, costs associated with strategic acquisitions, the status of competitive products
and potential cost associated with both protecting and defending our intellectual property. Additionally, actions
taken based on recommiendations of ourstrategic consulting study or the ongoing internal evaluation of our business
could-result-in expenditures.not currently contemplated in-our estimates for 2006. ..We: believe, however, that our
existing cash and cash equivalents;are sufficient to fund: our operating .expenses, capital equipment requirementsand
other “expected liquidity requirements through 2006. Based upon our current operating ‘plan. and’ structure,
management anticipates total cash use for 2006 to be approximately $3.6 to $5.6 million, giving us an anticipated
balance in cash, cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments at December 31; 2006 of $36.0:t0 $38.0
million. Factors that could affect this estimate, in addition to those listed above, include: (i) continued collections of
accounts . receivable: consistent . with- our -historical experience, - (ii)-our ability to manage- our .inventory
levels consistent: with past practices; (iii) our ability. to.maintain our net loss; at levels comparable:to 2005; (iv)
settlement of other accrued lrabrlmes and . (v) srgnmg of partnershlp agreements which: include significant. up
front 11cense fees.:- R : 2 - ‘ g C

1_We ha_ve no.,credit facility or other committed sources of capital, To the extent capital resources are insufficient
to meet future capital .requirements, we will have to raise.additional -funds to continue the development and
deployment of our technologies. There can:be no assurance that debt or equity funds will be available.on favorable
terms; if at all. To the extent that additional-capital is raised through the sale of equity or-convertible debt securities,
the issuance of those. securities could result in dilution to our stockholders. Moreover, incurring debt financing could
resultin a substantial portion.of our.operating cash flow being dedicated to the payment of prmc1pa1 and interest on
such: mdebtedness icould render us:mofe vulnerable ‘to, competmve pressures and economic downturns and could
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impose restrictions on our operations: If adequate funds are not available; we'may be required to curtail ‘operations
significantly or to obtain funds through entering into agreements on unattractive terms. R S A

1 L

Contractual Obligations” -

obligations are included in ‘our estimated cash:usage during 2006.  The following-table reflects the Company’s.to

-« We currently-have approximately $2.6 million in non-cancelable obligations for-the next.12 months. - Thes
current non-cancelable obligations by period (in thousands): {

ST - e - PaymentDue By Period . v o
N , Less Than wOEET T ST i More Than'
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years S Years *

Non-cancelable rental
“obligations: '

i

an-bancélé@ﬂblé;purchase O B
obligatons 0.0 L ieae e U

o oo ‘ Sroas L, o N . , oE . ‘L_' “““
TOtal i o8 S885 . S 2601 - $ 2047 s 337 s . T

- These-obligations are: primarily a-result of normal inventory purchases:: ‘Purchase obligations do-not extend
beyond a.year; however; we would expect future years to- have ‘purchase’ commitmerits “that-will<arise: in: the
ordinary’coursé:ofbusinessand -will generally: inétease -.or decrease according!to* fluctuations in- overall:sales
Lvolume. 0 Trotoe o T e b s s T et e e

»»»»»»»

Employment Contracts

“+-The company- has entered into employmént contracts ‘with'ceitain"of its key executives . ‘Generally certain
amounts may become payable in the event the Company terminates-the:executives’ 'employment‘without:cause. * =~
Inflation R ST R N

~ ~We do not believe that inflation has had a direct adverse:effect on: our operations: - ‘However,~a sibstantial
increase in product and manufacturing costs and. personnel related ‘expenses could ‘have: art ‘adverse impact on- our
results of operations :in:the event these: expenses.‘increase: ‘at- ar faster: ‘pace ‘than”"we -can 7increase ‘our system,

consumable and:royalty rates:. ‘ I RN S R
Recent Accounting Pronouncements - fo S T A

*"In December:2004, the- FASB. revised SFAS No: 123,:"Accounting - for " Stock-Based Compensation," which
established - the' fair-value-based method: of accounting as: ‘preferable ‘for share-based compénsation awarded to
employées.and encouraged, but: did not require ‘entities to:adopt it: until July™1, 2005:- Ori April 14, 2005, the
Securities and Exchange Commission announced that it would provide for a phased-in implementation process that
allowed non-small business registrants with a fiscal vear ended December 31, 2005 an extension until January 31,
2006- to- adopt SFAS No." 123(R).- SFAS No. 123(R) eliminates-the alternative to. use APB> Qpinion-'No. 25,
"Accounting for Stock Issued:to Employees," which -allowed: entities to: acéount- for-share-based ‘compensation
arrangements-with employees aécording to the intrinsic valiie method.>*SFAS No. 123(R)-tequiires the ine€asurement
of'the cost of employee setvices réceived in exchange for-an.award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair
value of the award. - The cost will be recognized over the period' during ‘which an"employee. is-required to-provide
service in exchange for the award: No compensation cost is recognized for .equity instruments for'which‘employees
do not render service. The Company has adopted SEAS No.123(R) as of Jariuary 152006} requiring:compensatiori
cost to be recorded as expense for the portion of outstanding unvested awards, based on the grant-date fair value of
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those awards. We will use the modified prospective method for transition which requires that compensation expense
be recorded for all unvested stock optioris:beginting onithe adoptich-date’: ~Asipermitiéd by SFAS No. 123, the
Company currently accounts for share-based payments to employees using APB No. 25’s intrinsic value method
and, as such, generally recognizes no compensation cost for employeé stock options. Accordingly, the adoption of
SFAS No. 123(R)’s fair value method will have a significant impact on the Company’s results of operations,
althotgh it will have no impact on the Company’s overall financial position. The impact of adoption of SFAS
No. 123(R) cannot be predicted at this time because_it will depend on levels of share-based payments granted in the
future; however, as of January.1, 2006 there' was approximately $5.2" million of estimated future’ option ‘expense
re]ated to unvested stock optlons . ;

T T

Chapter 4,” which clanﬁes that abnormal amounts of 1dle fac1hty expense frelght handhng costs and wasted
materials (spoilage) be .recognized as.current period charges. It also-requires -that" allocatior:of fixed -production
overheads to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities.  SFAS 151 is
effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15,2005, The adoption of SFAS No.
151 will not have a material impact on-our results of operanons or financial position: . S gean

- IniMay 2005,.the FASB. issued SF.AS No. 154, “Accounting Changesand Error: Corrections ~ a replacement of
APB Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes” (APB 20), and FASB Statement No. 3, “Reporting Accounting
Changes in Interim Financial Statements” (SFAS 154). APB 20 previously required that most voluntary changes in
accounting principles be recognized by including in net income of the period of the change the cumulative effect of
changing to the new accounting principle. SFAS 154 requires retrospective application to prior periods’ financial
statements of changes in accounting principles, unless it is impracticable to determine either the period-specific
effects or the cumulative effect of the change. SFAS 154 also requires that retrospective application of a change in
accounting -principle be limited- to the direct effects. of the change. Indirect effects of a change in an accounting
principle, such as a change in nondiscretionary profit-sharing payments resulting from an accounting change, should
be recognized in the period-of the accounting change. SFAS 154 also requires that a change in depreciation,
amortization, or depletion method for long-lived, nonfinancial assets be accounted for as a change in accounting
estimate effected by a change in accounting principle. SFAS 154 is effective for accounting changes and corrections
of errors made in fiscal years beginning -after December 15, 2005. We will adopt the provisions of SFAS 154
effective January 1, 2006. The impact of SFAS 154 will depend on an accounting change, if any, in a future period.

ITEM 74. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVEDISCLOSURESABOUTMARKETRISK

- Our interest income received on our cash balances is sensitive to changes in the general level of domestic interest
rates, particularly since the majority of our investments are in instruments that meet the definition of cash
equivalents or in short-term investments and are held to maturity. A 50 basis point fluctuation from average
investment returns at December 31, 2005 would yield an approximate 13% variance in overall investment return.
Due to the nature of our investments, we have concluded that there is no material market risk exposure. All
payments for our products, including sales to foreign customers, are required to be made in U.S. dollars; therefore,
we do not engage in any foreign currency hedging activities. Accordingly, our foreign currency and currency market
risk is limited.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Luminék Corporation™

We ‘have ‘audited management § ‘assessmerit; inchided in-the - -dccompanying Management s’ Report on “Iiternal
Control 'Over Financial! Reportmg, ‘that Luminex’ Corporation maintainéd éffective internal control over financial
réporting as°6f December 31, 2005, baséd'on criteria established in Internal Control—lntegrated Framework: issued
by ‘the :Committee of- Sponsoring ‘Organizations ‘of the Treadway: Corimission’ (the .COSO ' ¢riteria). Luminex
Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control ovér financial reporting'a'nd"for
its assessment of the effectiveness of 1nternal control over financial reporting. Qur responsibility is to express an
oplnlon on’management s ‘assessment and an opmlon on the effectrveness of the company ‘s ‘internal’control over
ﬁnanc1al reportmgbased onout'andit. - e e '-: G B T thoen

¢t R0

We conducted our” audrt in: accordance With- the standards of the Pubhc Con‘xpany Accountmg OVer31ght Board
(United States) iThose standards requlre that we plan‘and’ perform the ‘audit to obtam téasonablé dssurance ‘about
whether effective “fiternal control’ overfinancial: reporting» wis- maintained” in ‘all‘matetial tespétts!Our - sudit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessmént; testing and evaluating: the de51gn and opetating effectiveness of‘intérnal control; and’ performing such
other procedures as 'we con51dered necessary ‘in the c1rcumstances ‘We beheve that our audlt prov1des a reasonable
basis‘for- our-opinion. Sl T : R A

A company’s internal control over financial reportmg is a process desrgned to provrde reasonable assurance
regardmg ‘thie. reliability of 'fi nancial réporting and the’ preparanon ‘of finari¢ial statements for: extemal purposes in
accordance with”generally accepted accountmg ‘principlés:i A company’s’ ‘internal: ‘control- over ‘finafcial reporting
includes those- policies and procedures’ that' (1) pértain 1o the mamtenance of- records that, i -reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions-and ‘dispositiotis of' the ‘assets of the‘company;(2)- provrde ‘reasonablé
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. :

IS

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements,
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policie$ or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Luminex Corporation maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria.
Also, in our opinion, Luminex Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of Luminex Corporation as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related
consolidated statemeénts of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three fiscal
years in the period ended December 31, 2005 of Luminex Corporation and our report dated March 10, 2006
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Austin, Texas
March 10, 2006
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The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Luminex Cerporation . -~ ...i1

We haye audited the accompanymg consohdated balance, sheets of, Lumrnex Corporatlon as, of December 31,.2005

eachlvo_‘f;the three _ﬁscal‘ years __1n ‘_the penod_.ended December 31 2008. These ﬁnancral statements are the
responsibility- of - the ;«.-_C;gmpany’s,rnanagement.v Our responsrbrhty is to, express an -opinion on these. ﬁnancral
statements based on-ouraudits. . " o e - ST TN I LR SN PRI ' S

3

(Umted States) Those standards requlre that we plan and perform the audrt to obtarn reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examlnrng, on a test basis,

evidence: supporting; the.amounts .and. disclosures;in ithe financial staterents. -An audit also includes .assessing the
accounting -principles; used and- significant. estimates -made by- management, -as.well.-as evaluatrngt the overall
ﬁnanclal statement presentatron We believe that,our audlts prov1de a reagonable basrs for our opmxon

In our) oprmon the ﬁnancml statements referred to above present farrly, in all matenal respects the consohdated
financial position. ,of Luminex, Corporation- at. December-31,.2005, and. 2004;. and -the, consolidated results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended December 31,.2005,.in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accountmg prlncrples

We also have audrted m accordance wrth the standards of the Pubhc Company Accountmg Over51ght Board (Umted
States),. the cffectlveness of Lunnnex Corporatron S rnternal contro] over. financial reportlng as..of: December 31

Sponsormg Organlzatrons rof the Treadway Cornrmssron and ‘our, report dated March 10 2006 e)tpressed an
unqualified opinion thereon. : - - o

NEE ST L Lonal n

/s/'ﬁnﬁtf&»Yéﬁng'LLPz e
Austin, Texas ”
March 10, 2006
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LUMINEX CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31,

2005 2004
¢
R ASSETS §
Current assets: L e lA oo : : ’
Cash and cash equwalents ..... e e e $ 25,206 $ 19,238
ShOTt-termn INVESIIMENTS. .. ..\ttt sttt eiat et ettt eeae et enearereateaaaennes 10,947 12,891
Accounts receivable, (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of L .
$366 and $278 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectlvely) ................... 6,580 5,864
Inventories, Net .. ... o vereeiiveers. e e et e i - 4,281 7,650
Prepaids and other .......... ST J PP PP PPPUTORN 1,170 841
Total current assets ...... SRRSO T U UU USSR SR UTONS 48,184 . . 46,484
3,222 - 1,383
) seense ' 5,466 3,991
Othe“r:'...t..’". ...... e e e e TR e e e L SUVIROSIRNS 05 £ X SINRRC V- S s A
TOAFRSSEUS . 25t o T ] DOTTRUOUURR e § 58 035 $53175
) LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY o
Current liabilities: T ' o o
Accounts payable.................. S T TTTCRTTTIS PR IR S SPPTP e §03412 008, .1,642.
Accrued Habilities. . ... e 2,970 2, 702
Deferred TEVENUL «.ovvvvnniiinnnes e e 2,438 o 13170
TOtALEUTTENt KABIHES ... v oo 8820 51661 7
Defe;:'req TEVENUE.....cevennnnnne., rrraeeeeas PO P T U U P PPN " 4505 . . 2968
Total liabilities ....... e PO  p SSUPPT 13,325 - .- ..8,629. .
Stockholders' equity: e e I L E A R
Common stock, $.001 par value 200, OOO 000 shares authonzed xssued and
outstanding: 31,655,683 shares in 2005; 31,169,692 shares in 2004............ 32 31
Preferred stock, $.001 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized; none
issued and outstanding. ..o - -
Additional paid-in capital ..............ccooiininnlL e, 135,440 131,833
Deferred COmPensation. . ... .....o.eueeinin ittt i aeeenaaeaaeans (4,219) (3,335)
Accumulated other comprehensive 108S ... 18 (88)
Accumulated deficit ... ... e e (86,561) - (83,895)
Total stockholders' €qUItY ........ouveiuiiiii e s 44,710 44,546
Total liabilities and stockholders' @qUItY ............cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e $ 58,035 $ 53,175

See the acompanying notes which are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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. LUMINEX CORPORATION L
(,ONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
!
Year Ended December 31, .. ... - g
2005 2004 _2003“‘
Revenue.......o....ooorroo. B S 23138 3580 526292
Cost-ofrevenue ........ ....... ' _19,992 ; 21 158 16 462 E
GOS8 POTIL™ ..11-2....1 2575 oo w2 1 """9,”8‘30"
Operating expenses: * | o |
Research and deveiopmem..A, .......................... e 5,600 3,802 - f_..;.-s;i3,2b;7—,». ,
Selllng, general and adnumstratlve et 20217 15084 13,098
Total Qgeratlng expgn‘sgs ...................................... IO 25,817 18,886 16,305 -
Lc{s's’"fr’érﬁ“éﬁé\ratiéﬁs‘fﬁ'..;‘..'.f‘..f. ........... e e (3, 496) (4,164) (6, 475)”‘ |
Other income, net ................ ‘ ' 1174' | 572 oo 426
Settlement of lmgatmn ‘ L Lo (322) - !'\‘1:;\_840
Income taxes..... “ ....... ........... . ............ o :QZl : ,.,(,1‘3)‘.'v"» -
Netloss............... rerdeceeiine PP P PPN e $ (2,666) $ (3,605). $ (4,209)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted .......... SUTUURUURURURO SO $° (009 $ (0.12) 5 (014
Shares used in computing net loss per share, basic and diluted ... .~.... 30,990 30,698 - 29,814~

See the accompanying notes which are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements..; - .;
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- . Inventories, net..

‘Purchases of held-to-maturity secuntles e (15,450) ‘(22,856)?:.; . -
- Maturities of held-to-maturity securities... 15,919 5973 -
- Purchase of property and equlpment..........._........A.....'...b.. (2,830) (345) - (325)

LUMINEX CORPORATION
CONS OLIDATF_]) STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

e
i

Year Ended Decerdliér.}l,
2005 2004 2003

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATJNG ACT IVI'T[ES

Net loss.. : .
Ad)ustments to reconcﬂe net loss to net cash prov1ded
by (used in) operating activities: ,
* Depreciation and amortizatiot expense.. e 1,048 880
. Amortization of deferred stock, restncted stock

* and stock compensatlon expense :

1

’$ @ 666)“: s G605

675 835 %

‘Imputed interest. . (13) (15)
' (Gain) loss on d1sposalofassets . 83 G = i
Other.. e : i9 9 E =

Changes in operatmg assets and hablhtles
. Accounts receivable, net ~(716) (638)
3369 (2:882):
Otherassets . (332) 7
: Accounts payable 11,770 (125)'¢
PACOTIEd BADIHHES . ...oocovoeedevs oo C 137 574

1~ Deferred revenue.. i .2,658 (278): ~ .
Net cash pr0v1ded by (used 1n) operatmg act1v1t1es 7,022 . (5,272)

e

CASH FLOWS FROM [NVESTINGACT IVITIES: .

* Proceeds fromsale of assets.. ... 21 49 26 :
" Acquired technology rights.. L (72):¢ 13 (250) .
“ Notes receivable - related partles i - Sy 43 =
Net cash usedi in mvestmg act1v1t1es e {2,340). . . 17451y  _i¥ (506)
CASH FLOWS: EROM F]NANCING ACT IVIT[ES I S : o
Proceeds fromissuance ofcommon stock... ; 1,180 _ 2;495 3,228
‘Net cash provided by financing activities... e 11,180 2,495 : 3,228
Effect of foreign curfency exchange rate on cash ........... 106 (14 5

Change in cash and cash equlvalents celvee e 5 968 - (20,242) (1,002)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning ofyear . .ﬁ 19,238 . 139,480 40,482
Cash and cash:equivalents, end of year........oivuen .3 25 206_ 17§ 19,238 $ 39480
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o o+ LUMINEX CORPORATION. . o
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1-DESCRIPTION OF. B USINESS AND SUMMARY OF. SIGNIFICAN TACCOUNTING POLICIES

Descrlptwn of Busmess _

Lummex Corporatlon develops manufactures and sells proprretary brologrcal testmg technologres wrth
applications throughout the life sciences industry. Our xMAP® technology, an open architecture, multiplexing
technology, allows our Luminex systems to simultaneously perform up to 100 bioassays on a single drop of fluid by
reading biological tests on the surface of microscopic polystyrene beads called microspheres. xMAP technology
combines - this miniaturized - liquid array :bicassay capability with. small lasers;: digital signal processers and
proprietary software.to create a system: offering- advantages: in; spe&d, :precision, flexibility..and cost: Our. xMAP
technology is currently being used-within-various segments of the-dife.sciences industry. which includes the fields of
drug discovery and development, clinical diagnostics, genetic analysis, bio-defense, protein analys1s and b1omed1cal
research. o LT BT £ RS

Prmcrples of Consohdatlon

The consohdated ﬁnancral statements mclude the accounts of the Company and: 1ts wholly owned sub51d1ar1es
All significant intercompany: transactions and balances have:been eliminated upon consohdatlon e e

Use of Estimates it e e bemeeedec gl

. - The. preparation of financial statements in conformity with -accounting principles generally -accepted .in the
Umted States requires management to make .estimates. and. assumptions: that affect the amounts reported.:in. ithe.
financial statements: and,accompanying notes:: Actual amounts: and-results- could- differ. from those estimates;:and

such. d1fferences ‘could:be material to the financial statements.. . .. 0 e b

Cash Eqmvalents Lo

Cash equivalents consist of cash deposits and investments wrth original maturities of three months or less when
purchased. e e e T s e T e g W

Investmentsr e

- In accordance wrth Statement of Flnancral Accountmg Standards (“SFAS”) No 115, “Accountmg for.
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” the:Company’s investments;are classified-as. held-to-maturity srnce(the
Company: has the intent and ability. to -hold: the securities to maturity, Held-to-maturity, securities are.stated-at- Cost,
adjusted for:amortization of premiums.and accretion of discounts to maturity. Such arnortlzatlon is; mcluded in,other
income. Interest on securities classified as held-to-maturity is also included in other; i income:: Do ey

Fair Value ofFinanc_iallnstm'ments- s et s LALUT

. The carrying, amounts reflected.in the balance sheets for: cash, cash-equivalents; accounts receivable;.accounts
payable, ‘and -inVe.stments approximate fair value due to the-short-term nature. of the-instruments. . | : <

ST

Concentratlon of Credlt RlSk

F 1nancra1 instrumerits Wthll potennally subject the Company to: concentratlons of credlt nsk consrst of short-
term investmients and-trade receivables: The Company’s short-term investments consist of investments in-high' credit
quality financial institutions and corporate issuers.

The Company provides credit, in the normal course of business, to a number of its customers geographically
dispersed-primarily throughout the U.S. The Company attempts to limit:its credit risk by performing ongoing credit
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evaluations of its customers and mamtarnmg adequate allowances for potentral credrt losses and does not require
collateral. A R B R e RN X i I <

In=2005; two 'customérs:each accounted for-more: than' 10% of our-total revenués. Bio-Rad Laboratories, ‘Inc.
accounted for 23%, 24% and 16% of our total revenues in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. One Lambda, Inc.
accounted for 16%, 119 and 11% of our total revenues in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Biomedical
Diagnostics and MiraiBio Inc. accounted for 12% and 10%, respectrvely in 2003 No other customer accounted for
more than 10% oftotal revenues in 2005 2004 or 2003 (- B B O S EE '

Inventones R

Inventones consrstrng prrmanly of raw: matertals and purchased components :are stated at. the lower of: cost,
determmed using ‘average’ cost; or market. The ' Company -routinely. ‘assesses-its onhand- mventory for trmely
1dent1ﬁcatton and measurement of obsolete slow-movmg or otherwrse 1mpa1red 1nventory TR

e [nRd RS N ' N r v N 1 P N L b
R RIANI I Lo b . SR e O T Lol Lo

Property and Equlpment

Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated amounts for amortizationand:depreciation:Property
and equipment are generally amortized or depreciated on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the assets,
which range from two to’seven years. - Leasehold-improvements:are amortized on a ‘straight-liné: basrs over the
shorter of the remaining term of the-lease or the estimated useful-life of the improvements: - S e

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets R N S

:#*The:Company evaluates itslong-lived @ssets in accordance with SFASNo: 144,‘Accounting for the;Impairment
of Long:Lived:Assets.” Long-lived assets held and-used-by the Company are reviewed: for impairment.whenever
events or‘changes:in circumstances indicate-that their net'book value may not:be recoverable. When such factors and
circumstances exist, the Company compares the projected undiscounted future cash:flows associated with the!related
asset or group of assets over their estimated useful lives against their respective carrying amounts. Impalrment if
any, is based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of those assets and is recorded:in.the:pefiod in
which the determination was made.

R, EEAEFET SRR F S N S SR AR IS S PP IEF NS SIS B [ JIm e st R I PRSI LR S SV PRLEE R PR
Revenue Recognition and Allowance For Doubtful Accounts
Revenue from sales of the Company’s products is recognized when persuasive evidence of an agreenient:éxists,
delivery of the product has occurred, the fee is fixed and determinable and collectibility is probable Generally, these
criteria are met at/the trme ‘the product is’ shipped.: If the Criteria for revenue recognition:are fiot met atithe: time of
shrpment the revenuéis' deferred -untilall- ctiteria: are met. Revenués from ifoyalties related to-agreements with
strategrc ‘partners are recogmzed when” such ‘amounts‘are reported-to thé: Company;’ therefore; ‘the-underlying;end-
usei-sales may be: related:to prior s penods Revenue from extended erv1ce agreements s deferred and recognlzed
ratably over the term of the'agréemerit: =* "o 0 o o Tl ST AR T L L LT

Amounts billed or collected in excess of revenue recognized are recorded as'deferred revenue. . 7 ‘& uis™ i

“*Wecontinuously monitor-collections and payments from>our-customers and mairitain allowances for:doubtful
accounts based upon-ourhistorical iexperience -and-any specific customer collection issues that have been identified:
While such credit losses have historically been within our expectations, there can be no assurance that we will
continue to experience the same level of credit losses that we have in the past. A significant change in the quutdtty
or financial position of any one of our significant customers, or a deterioration in the economic environment, in
genetal; could have a ' material adverse -impact on. the: collectibility . of ouri:accounts -receivable; and. our; future
operating results, including a reduction:in future revenues and addmonal allowances for doubtful accounts
Warranty Programs “

. 5’:,,'“ TR TP ._’—-

We provtde for the estrmated cost .of product warranttes at the trme revenue is. recogmzed Whtle we engage in
product quality programs and processes, our warranty obligation is affected by product failure rates, material usage

L ek 8




and service delivery costs incurred in:cotrécting a product failure.:Should attual product'failur'e' rates, material usage
or'service dehvery costs drffer from our estnnates revrsrons to the’ estlmated warranty llabrlrty would be requ1red‘ :

Research and Development Costs

,..Researchfan'd de' élopment costs are-expensed in the period incurred.

Vin

Advertlsmg Costs

CEp Ty

The Company expenses advertrsmg costs as rncurred Advemsmg expenses ‘were-not s1gn1ﬁcant for any-of the
years presented. : i

I_ncentive Compensation )
Management incentive plans-are tied to various ﬁnancral performance metrics. Bonus aceruals made throughout
the “yearrelated to” ‘the’vafious ‘incentive plans are based on management’s best estimate of the achrevement of the
specific financial metrics. Adjustments to the accruals are made on a quarterly basis as. forecast
performance are updated At year-end the accruals are adjusted to reﬂect the actualr results achreved

IR S AR

S e Income Taxes

““The Company accounts for incomé taxes in accordance with-SFAS No. 109, “Accountlng 'for Income Taxes
Thrs statement prescribes the use of the lrabrhty ‘method* whereby deferred tax asséts’dand liabilities are deterrmned
based on differericés ‘between the- basis for- ﬁnanc1a1 repofting- purposes and" the “tax “bases of suclyassets 'and
liabilities; ard:: are measured usmg enacted tax rates and laws that wrll be m effect when the drfferences are expected
toreverse f ST e : e o : ‘ :

Net Loss Per Share . ' , PR

SFAS No. 128, “Eamings Per Share” prescribes standards for computing net income (loss) pér’share: Basi€ fiet
income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) for the perrod by the werghted average
number’ 6f common shares outstandmg during the" period. Dilufed- riet “income (loss) per ‘share 'is computed by
dividing the net income (loss) for the period by the weighted average' ' mimber of common-and- conittioh’ eq ivalent
shares outstanding during the period. Potentiaily dilutive securities cormposed ‘of ificremental ¢ommor “shares
issuable upon the exercise of stock options and warrants, and common shares issuable on conversron of preferred
stock, were excluded from historical diluted loss per share because of their anti-dilutive effect:* e

Stock-Based Compensanon

SFAS No 123 and SFAS No 148 prescrrbe accountmg and reportmg standards for all stock based compensatron
plans, .including employee stock options. As allowed.by: SFAS:No. 123::the Company. has ‘elécted: to: account: for its
employeé stock-based ‘compensation using the intrinsic value:method. in-accordance with Accountrng Prrnc1ples
Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting:for Stock Issued'to Employees” (“\APBi257). w1 vt .0 o = :

E ‘As required by SFAS No 123 dnd SFAS No. 148, we have detérined the pro forma net income and earnings
. Te-oper common. share as if comperisation® ¢gst had beén determified Based on the fair value of the options granted and
__then recognized.ratably over the vesting period. The fair value of each option grant was estimated using the Black
Scholes Option-Pricing model’ based ‘on the date ‘of grant and the following- we1ghted average assumpt1ons »at
ecember31 : S ROt -

2005 2004 2003

‘Dividend vield...................ccc..... -~ 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
‘Expected volatility....................... 0.6 0.7 0.9
Risk-free rate of return................... 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%
- Bxpected life...........ooooveiiiiiiiii, 7 yrs. 7 yrs. 10 yrs.
Weighted average fair
value at grant date................. $ 4.68 $ 6.89 $ 4.86
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. For,purposes. of pro:forma disclosures; the estimated fair wvalue of the.options-is expensed;over:the options’
vestmg periods. Because, for pro forma purposes, the estimated farr value;of the Company’s employee:stock-options
is treated as if amortized to expense over the options’ vesting perrod the effects of applying SFAS No. 123 for pro
forma disclosure are not necessarily indicative of future amounts (in thousands, except per-share amounts): .,

.Year Ended:December 31,

2005 2004 2003
P S T SR B
Net 1088, a8 TEPOTtEd. ... oovnini e $ (2 666) $ (3,605) $ (4,209

- 'Add: Stock-based employee compensation éxpense: . ot e s et o]
included in reported net loss..............coooiviii . 1 575 675 s s

‘Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense’ ' ‘

determined under fair value based method for all awards...... (4.834) 2 (5307) 1 (5,697
% Pro ' forma net os: A 8 gs 925) = 'g9§906}

A Eammgs per | share ' T ‘ o e .
' Basic and Drluted as reported .......... $ (909) -9 (O 14)
Basic and Diluted - pro forma............ e, e $ (0.19) $ (0 27) $ (O 33)

The Black-Scholes option.valuation model was developed. for use in gstimating. the fair value of traded;options,
whrch have no vestmg restrrctrons and .are. fully transferable. In. addmon this option valuat1on model requires, the
mput of . hlghly subjective assumptions including the. expected stock. price. volatility. . Because the -Company’s
employee stock -options. have -characteristics s1gmﬁcantly different from these..of, traded options, .and because
changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management’s opinion;

the Black-Scholes 'model does not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of the Company ]
employee stock options. :

,.S,@gm.ent R_,e,portmg -

. .1431,; Drsclosures About Segments of an- Enterprlse and Related Informatlon requrres the use of a
management approach in- 1dent1fy1ng the business. segments of an enterprrse Management has determined that the
Company operates in one business segment. : fr e

NOTEZ—INVESTMEMTS,,A-_-,,.

Held-to-maturity securities as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 consisted of $16.4 million-and $16:9 million-of
federal agency debt securmes respeetrvely Amortlzed cost approx1mates farr value of these mvestments

The amortlzed cost of held-to matunty debt securmes at December 31 2005 and 2004 by contractual maturlty,
are'shown below. (in thousands).<Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because the issuers. of
the securities may have the right to prépay obligations without:prepayment penalties:.-

December 31,

2005 - RS S Teed T
< “Aceraed” - CAmortized © © - - - ' Accrued - Amortized
RAEEC IR R T R : . " Cost -Interest ~ . «Costii-wv i Cost 't -.tiIntérest -+ Cost
Due in:one year or less..:f‘.-:' ..... LT i 0 $ 710,947 o8 . 93 08 11,040 4 $.:12,891 0§ 66 $. 12957
Due after one year through two years ............... 5,466 23 5,489 3,991 ‘28 ¢+ 4019

$ 16,413 $ 116 $ 16,529 $ 16,882 $ .94 $ 16,976
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NOTE 3 - ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE T
Accounts receivable consisted of the following at Décemiber 31 (in thousands):: < ° -« = SRR
)—\ccouhts receivable..................ccooennnn.. : ...... $ 6946 $ . 6 142 g
_~Less Allowance for doubtful accounts .............. e (366) (278) PR
BN ' : : : e $ 6,580 ' § 5864 G '

. .;‘The following _table summarizes the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts,(in thousands):

_»vij_._llBalance at December 31 2002 e e $ 400
Reductrons charged to costs and (4 015 (- S P U P P U (58)
Write-offs of uncollectible accounts. ..............c.coeiiiiiiiiiinii et 3)
Recoveries of uncollectible aCCOUNES. ...............ciiveiiiiiieiieiineiieieeieenen e U |

Balance at December 31, 2003.......... BT S UL R SOOI SRR RO S 9340
- ‘Reductions charged to cOsts and eXPENSES.............cevririiiieiiiiiiiiiesieee e e e, (34)
Write-offs of uncollectible aCCOUNES. .......covmiuruipriresieriensieniiis cheeenaae popreees -0 (28)

: Recoveries_ of uncollectible accounts " s -

"é"BalanceatDecemberSI 2004........... ST e, SRS PRR PR TR SO 278

i Additions'charged to COSts and EXPeISES. ... vt ittt 90

o Write-offs’of uncollectible aCCOUNtS. ... .vvuvniiie v eiianann s, e e iiiiedaanl LT (2)

.. Recoveries of uncollectible accounts. ...
Balance at- December 31, 2005 , § 366

NOTE 4- INVENTORY, NET. .

_ 2004 L
Toapoll o 8 . 5504“-"*' :
526 - 1985

' Parts and supphes L
Work-in-progress

Finished g00ds..........coooviiiiiiiii 203 698

a7 . sl
Less: Allowance for excess and obsolete inventory............ S @6y (537)
o e S 4281 . .S _7650-

+The Company has non-cancelable ‘-purchase‘.cc'mmitments with certain of its component suppliers-in the amount
of approximately $1.6 million for 2006. Should production requirements-fall-below the level of the Company’s

commitments, the Company could be requlred to take dehvery of mventory for which it has no munedlate need or
incur an increased cost per unit going: ferward: - SREERNE :
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NOTE 5 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the following at.December 3.1 -(in thousands):

2005 20064
B ‘; Laboratory equipment................ $ 3954 § 3,063 d
ik Leasehold improvements.....................ios OIS PR ORI 2,102 964 6
: l Computer equipment. . .... e e e e Ve AR 1,237 075 ;
: h Purchased software and 1ntang1bles 1,901 1,722
1 Furniture and fixtures.... . .............. o) 438 387
| 9632 71211
; " Less: Accumulated amortization and depreciation...:..... 7. 7 0 nin b - (6,410) L (5,828)

$ 30222 ..8 . 1383

NOTE 6 - OTHER ASSETS

i ; Other assets consisted of the following at December 31 (in thousands): T o
il - 12005 2004

‘ ’ : ’lbl.)\urchased technology rights (net of accumulated amOrtiZation’of ' o ‘ o

it $308,000 and $222,0001in 2005 and 2004, respectively)... DS 7689 8 T7TS
r‘t- ORI, ...ttt ettt e e 560 628
i g . . UL . oo
ki f'ﬁié’" . .. L S o v e e, 2890 e 1,403
" . eSS CUITERE POTLION ., 1. totitt it ere e et e e iie s en e e e e g nsen e s s E i e seivie sy (80) o (86)
4 } e ‘ i - : $ 1,163 $ 1,317
‘il .

H

“g }1 ARSI S i . :

i In March 2001, the Company entered into an agreement that provides the Company with a license to

commercialize products incorporating certain patented technology. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company
made $800,000 in milestone payments through December 31, 2003, none in 2004 and has agreed to make additional
payments of $200,000 in the aggregate upon the achievement of additional milestonés." In addition, the Company
will make royalty payments based on sales of the developed products mcorporatmg the licensed- technology The
costs of the technology rights acquired were capitalized and ‘aré béing ‘amortized on a’ strarght “lifie' basis Gver their
estimated useful lives of five to fifteen years. For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company
recognized amortization expense related to the amortization of these acquired technology rights of approximately
$86,000 and $84,000, respectively. Future amortization expense will be $86,000 in 2006, $75,000 in % 20()7 $59,000
in 2008, $59,0600 in 2009, $59,000 in 2010 and $351,000 thereafter. R

NOTE 7 - ACCRT]ED WARRAN_TY'C'OSTS

! Sales of the:Company's systems’ are subject'to a warranty. System warranties typically extend for a period of
il twelve months from the date of installation or no more than 15 months from the date of shipment. The Company
estimates the amount of warranty claims on sold product that may be incurred based on current and historical data.
The actual warranty-expense-could differ from:the:estimates made by the Company based on product performance
Warranty expenses are ev. aluated and adjusted perrodlcally : 5 T = ;

The followmg table summarizes the changes in the warranty accrual (m thousands)
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-Accrued warranty costs at December 31 2003
T Watrality eXpenses. ... sl i
Accrual fOr WaITANtY COSES. ... euveteerereiireeetaaiiieeeeeeaiaiiiiareeeeaannens
Accrued warranty costs at December 31, 2004

NOTE 8 - INCOME TAXES.. . =~

I

The components of the provision for income taxes attributable to contmumg operatlons are a follows for the
years ended December. 31 2005 and December 31, 2004 (in thousands)

- 2005
Current”’ e i

2

As of December 31 2005 the Company had federal net opera ing loss carryforwards of approxnmately[_ $94 6
million and research and development credit carryforwards of approx1mately $1.7 million that will begin to expire in
2010 if, not-utilized - prior to that time. Utilization.of the net. operatmg losses. and tax credits may be subject to
substantral annual hmrtatlon due to the change in ownershlp prqmsrons of, the Intemal Revenue.Code of. 1986

The annual limitation may result in the explratlon of net operatmg losses -and Eresekarch and development credlts
before utrllzatron ¢ e

cntlg L



Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts . used for income.tax -purposes. Significant
components of the Company’s deferred tax liabilities and assets as of December 31 are as follows.(in-thousands):

The Company-has established. a .valuation allowance equal to the. net deferred.tax-assets due to uncertainties
regarding the realization of deferred tax assets based on the Company’s. lack:of*earnings-history.» The valuation
allowance increased by approximately $600,000 during 2005, due:to. operations, Approxunately $11.7 million of
the valuation alloWatice telates to. tax benefits for stock option deductions included in the net operating loss
carryforward, which when realized, will be allocated directly to contributed capital to the extent the benefits exceed

amounts attributable to deferred stock compensation expense.
2005 2004+ o 02003

Deferred tax assets:
~..Current deferred tax assets

‘Accrued liabilities and other. .| o s 645" t$ 1,117

Gross current deferred tax assets...........ccocoeerere - L eds T T
Valuation allowance.............. et (425) (892) (1,134)
Net current deferred FAXABSSOLS b vt T i e 220 225 163
“Noncurrent.deférred tax asg
Net' operatmg loss and credit carryforwards e 35,031 32,699 ...

Deferred revenue.................. R U OPPY 1,568 1,674""“ '
Dépreciation and amoritization. ........ . S S 197 - - 295
Investment basis..... oo ceeieiinineicnnnns . . 1,637 SR
Gross Noncurrent Deferred Tax Assets . s, _ 38,433 £
Valuation allowance....': ................. LT RO (38,433) (36,305).

Net noncurrent deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities:
Current deferred tax liabilities

Prepaid eXPenses. ..........ovvreniieerie et ariiaannens e 20 (225
Total current deferred tax habxlmes . e v . .- et - : -

The Company s pro isibn eﬁt) -for incoine -taxe attrlb able 10 contmr}mg operatlons dlffers from the
expected tax expense (beneﬁt) ‘amotnt computed by applymg the statutory federal mcome tax rate of 34% to mcome

before income taxés as'a result of the' folIowmg L

Year Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003
Statutory tax rate...... e S ORI (34.0)% (34.0)% (34.0)%
State taxes, net of federal benefit............cooiiiiiiiiiviiiiiiici, 3.0)% 2.7% (3.0)%
Permanent IteIMIS. ... vttt ittt v eten ettt er et as 1.4% 0.8% 0.1%
Research credit generated.........o.coviiiiniiiiiiiiniii s 0.0% 0.0% (3.5)%
Deferred assets not benefited..........oocoviiiiiiiiiiiii 36.4% 36.3% 40.4%
0.8% 04% . 0.0%

NOTE 9- NET LOSS PER SHARE .

The Company has excluded all potentially dilutive securities such as unvested restricted stock, outstanding stock
options to purchase common stock and shares subject to repurchase from the calculation of diluted loss per common
_share because such securities are anti-dilutive for all periods presented. The total shares excluded from the
calculations of diluted net loss per share, prior to application of the treasury stock method for options, were
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1,692,591, 1,665,381 and 2,242,816 for the years:ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Such
securitiés,-had they been dilutive, would have been 1ncluded in the computations.of dlluted net loss per share.

NOTE 10 - STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY PO R
Preferred Stock

The Company 5 Board of Drrectors has the authorrty to issue up- to 5 000 000 shares of preferred stock in one or
more series‘and to.fix the rights, preferences; privileges and restrictions thereof, including dividend rights, dividend
rates, conversion rights, voting:rights; terms of redemption, redemption- prices, liquidation preferences and-the
number of shares constituting any series or the designation of such series, without further vote or action by the
Company s stockholders At December 31, 2005 and 2004 there was no preferred stock issued and outstandmg

Stockholders Rrghts Plan

On June 20, 2001 the Company S Board of Dlrectors declared a d1v1dend of one nght for each outstandmg share
of the Company’s common: stock to:stockholders of record at the close  of -business on July:2; 2001.. Each right
entitles the registered holder to purchase from the Company. a unit consisting of one one-hundredth: of a share -of
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par.value $0:001 per share, at a purchase price of $100 per. fractional
share, subject to adjustment The rights are not currently exercisable and will become exercisable only in the event a
person or: group acqulres bencﬁcral ownersh1p of 20 percent or more of common stock. The r1ghts explre on June 20,

2011

NOTE 11.- COMPREHENSI VE Loss‘
In accordance with the dlsclosuret requlrements of SFAS No: 130 "Reportmg Comprehcnsrve Income v the
Company s:comprehensive loss is compnsed ‘of .net loss and :foreign currency translation. - Comprehensive: loss for

the years ended December 31 2005 and 2004 was approx1mately $2 6 million and $3 6 mrlllon respectrvely

NOTE 12 - EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Equrty Incentlve Plans s

pnieeyg

Under the Company s 1996 Stock Optlon Plan (the “1996 Plan”) the 2000 Long Term Incentrve Plan (the “2000
Plan”) and the 2001 Broad-Based Stock Option Plan (the “2001 Plan”), certain.employees, non-employees and non-
employee directors have been granted options to purchase shares of common stock. The stock options generally vest
in installments over a multi-year period and expire either five or ten years-after the date of-grant. Since.approval of
the 2000. Plan in-February 2000, no further option shares are authorized for issuance under the 1996 Plan. At
December :31; 2003, there were -options: for approximately 20,000 shares of :common stock outstanding under the
l996 Plan :

The 2000 Plan allows the Company to grant a varlety ‘of incentive awards to key employees, d1rectors and
consultants of the Company. A maximum of 3.6 mllhon shares of common stock were authorized for issuahice under
the 2000 Plan‘and can be awarded in-the form of noni- quahﬁed stock options, stock appreciation rights; restricted
stock and other stock-based awards. A total of approximately 491,000 shares are authorized and available for future
issuance as of December 31, .2005. To date, approximately 238,000 shares have been issued pursuant to option
exercises under this plan and approximately 620,000.shares have been issued in the form of restricted stock awards
as further described below under Restricted Stock::Awards. At December 31, 2005, there ‘were options for
approxrmately 2.2 million shares of common stock outstandmg under the 2000 Plan ,

The 2001, Plan allows the Company " to grant non- quahﬁed stock options to employees and consultants of the
Company. Difectors and officers of the Company are not eligible to participate in the 2001 Plan or to receive grants
thereunder. The number of shares of the Company s-common stock authorized for issuance undet the 2001 Plan, is
determined by calculating 5% of the maximum number of all issued and outstanding shares-of the: common-stock
plus all shares of the common stock which may be directly issuable upon the exercise, exchange or conversion of
any outstanding rights, warrants, options or other derivative securities convertible into shares of common stock. As

51

P YR




of :December 31,7 2005, the- maximum. number of. shares authorized for® issuance under the”2001.Plan was
approximately ‘1.8 million’ A total: of approximately 622,000 shares are authorized and available fot future issuance
as of December 31, 2005. To date, approximately 187,000 shares have been issued pursuant to option. exercises
under this plan. At December 31, 2005, there were options for approximately 980,000 shares of common: stock
outstanding under the 2001 Plan.

The 1996 Plan, the 2000 Plan and 2001 Plan are administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of

Difectors -which -has ‘the ' authority to' determine the:terms: and:conditions under which:options willtbe’ grinted,

including the:number of shares; option price; vesting schedule:and term.-Under certain dircumstances; the Company
may repurchase prevrously granted opnons or; shares rssued upon the exercrse of a prevrously granted optron o

i

Dunng the years ended December 31 ’2005 2004: and 2003 the Company recorded deferred stock» compensatron
expense of $1.6 million, $849,000 and $240,000 in connection with certain stock options and restricted stock
granted. The amounts represent the difference between the exercise price of stock option grantsiand'the deemed fair
value of the common stock at the time of such grants amortized over the vesting period of the grant or, for restricted
stock, the fair value of the shares:at the time of issuance:amortized-over the vesting period. . The:Company.recorded
approxrmately $45,000;:$174,000 and $240,000: of stock comperisation expense related to option issuances during
the year to:certain’ nonzemployees performing: services' for; the’ Cortipany: duririg 2005 2004 and 200 respectively.
Unamortrzed deferred stock eompensatron was- $4 2 mrlhon at December 3 L, 2005 IhE : T

In connectlon w1th‘ hlS hmng as our. Chlef Executrve Ofﬁcer ‘the,: Company 1ssued Pamck J Balthrop a non-
quahﬁed stock option grant for the purchase of 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock dated May 15,
2004 at an exercise price of $9.36 per share (the “Balthrop Option”). The Balthrop Option vests 25% on the first
anniversary of the date of grant and ratably on a monthly basis for the three!yéars following the: initial vesting date.
This award was not pursuant to any of the Company’s existing equity incentive plans. As previously reported, at a
méeting ofthe compensation comimitteé of the Board.of Directors on February-10,-2005; the committee approved
reSolutions *to-increase. the :exercise price” of the Balthrop- Option from:$9:36 .per share to. $10:10 per: share :(the
closing market:price.ton‘the date immediately: preceding thecoriginal ‘grant date). This modification°was made. in
order to eliminate the potential application of certain adverse tax implications in light of tax law changes created as a
result of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. In connection therewith, the compensatiori committee-approved-a
cash bonus payable to Mr. Balthrop to be paid consistent with the vesting period of the option grant, subject to Mr.
Balthrop’s continued employment, equal to $370,000. According to the vesting schedulé’.and::assuming: :nd
acceleration event contemplated by the Plan, one quarter of the cash bonus was paid as of May 15, 2005 (the first
vesting date.and consistent with: the equity: vesting)’ and the balance of such- payments are bem 4 made Ane equal
monthly 1nstallments over the 36 months thereafter - ST

: , Rangeiof Exercise. Welghted Awrage
) -,Shar'es*'!:‘u oy o YPricest sy v . v Bxercise Price.

s

Options outstanding, December 31,2002.............. 3,845,666 $1.96-841.75
.. Granted

: Exercrsed L
Surrendered

‘Options outstandmg, December31 2003-..«:.- e 442018 7 183,92 $35.630
i Grantéd - : v L T "'21060586 ~80100-81247 . L v
i $3:92-88:22: 1y B

Exercised -
: rr;Surrendered SN 2$0.00.5-$30.82:
Options outstanding, Decemberdél,lz'(')()i. LT 406 ‘,w o $400 $35 63 ©
 Granted $735-57.90,
‘ Exerc1sed 4689822
Surrendered

o

) .-’Optrons outstandmg, December 31, 2005.;

e fus o s o |on b @ o enlenice

. 13,727,830+ $400 $3563‘

AR
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The following table summarizes outstanding and exercisable options at December 31, 2005:

Optlons Qutstanding. ) S .. Options Exercisable -
. . Weighted Avérage .= e T A
Number ~© ' Remaining Weighted Average~ Numbei Exercisable  Weighted Average™
Exercise Price Outstandmg __ Contractual Llfe Exerc\se Price and Vested Exerclse Pnce _
U5400-$497 959498 721 years s 7 gma T agogast s A
$5.01 - §7.51 747,872 6.89 years Cds T T eToar e T g
$7.53 - $10.10 1,093,425 8.19 years 9.19 563,293 9.04
$10.14 - $24.81 747,035 5.16 years 16.97 739,222 17.03
$24.88 - $35.63 180,000 4.89 years 25.95 180,000 25.95
) 3,727,830 .. 6.91 years 8 9.86 2,643010 % 10.96.; -

Total exercisable optlons as of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were 2,643,010, 2,241, 659 and 2 444 854
respectively. R

Reserved Shares of Common Stock

At December 31, 2005 and 2004 the Company had reserved 4,833,563 and 5,319,554 shares of common stock,
respectlvely, for theé- 1ssuance of common stock upon the exermse of opt1ons issued pursuant“”'o"the Company s
equity-plans and-arrangements. The following table surhmaries the reserved shares by plan as of December 31 2005

Shares Available

Options for Future TotalShares - o
’ _Outstanding _ Issuance Reserved ’
1996 Plan............ ... 20400 . -, . . - . . .. 20400 . - - ..
2000Plan........... . ., .. 2237053 . . 491,059 . 27181124y . s
2001 Plan............ 980,377  ini . 621,638 ., 1,602,015 .
Other* .......... 500,000 ’ 500,000
3,727,830 1,112,697 4,840,527

* Balthrop Optlon

Employee Savings Plans

Effective January. 1, 2001, the Company bégan sponsoring a retirement plan authorized by section 401¢k) Ofithe
Internal Revenue Code .In accordance with the 401(k) plan, all employees are eligible to participate in the plan on

the first day of the month following the commencement of full time employment.-For 2005, 2004 and 2003, e4ch

employee could contribute a percentage of compensation up to a maximum of $14,000, $13,000 and $12,000 per
year, - respectively,. with'.the-sCompany ‘matching '50%  of :-each’ employee’s. contributions.- The .-Company’s
conmbutlons for 2005 20()4 and 2003 were, $345 000, $287 OOO and $242 OOO respecnvely LI L v

Restrlcted Stock Awards PR A

Restrlcted stock awards -may be granted at the dlscretlon of the Board of Dlrectors under the 2000 Plan in
connection with the hiring or retention of kéy employees and are subject to certain conditions. Restrictions expire. at
certain dates after the grant date in*accordance with.specific’ provisions in-the employee’s:agreement: During- the
year ended December 31,:2005; the Company awarded 307,428 shares of restricted comton: stock; which had a fair
value at the date of grant ranging. from $7.53 —$10:40. - Puring theryear ended December-31,2004, the Company
awarded 312;535:shares of restricted common stock, which had 4 fair-value atthe date of grant ranging from $7.78 -
$16.00.-Compensation under these restricted:stock awards‘was charged to-expense over the restriction period and
amounted to-$1.6 million, $675,000:and $0 inn 2005,:2004 arid 2003, respectively.  :As of Decembér:31;, 2005 and
2004, the Company had $4.2 million and $3.3 million of deferred stock compensation relating to these restricted
stock awards, respectively.
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NOTE 13 - COMMI TMEN TS AND CON T. INGENCIES

Lease Arrangements

f The Company has’ operating leases related-primarily to its-office facrlmes Rental éxpense for -these ‘operating
leases for the years 2005, 2004 and 2003 totaled approximately $842, 000, $878 000 and $810,000, respecuvely

Mlmmum annual rental connmtments as of December 31 2005 under nonﬁcancelable 1eases for each of the next
five years and in the aggregate were as follows (m thousands) o ‘ _

.ty

TSR

1.

thermlmmum‘ annual rental cornmltments shown above These amounts are recorded to expense on a strarght lme
basrs over the life of the lease.

3t .

Non-Cancelable Purehase Coniini

: As of December 31, 2005 the ympany had approxrmately $1 6 rmlhon in purchase commitments with several
: of its inventory suppliers. These ‘commitments requiré delivery of mmxmum amounts of components throughout
i 2006. None of the Company’s current commxtments extend past 2006. L : -

I Employment Cou_tracts

o . ‘ . KN I S
The company has entered into employment contracts with certain of its key executives. Generally certain
F amounts may become payable in the event the Company terminates the executives” employment without cause:. - . -

Legal Proceedings .

. On:April 26, 2003, the Company: was-served-with-a complaint, filed by-Rules Based Medicine, Inc. (“RBM™) in
state district court in Travis:County, Texas seeking :a"declaratory judgment that the formation.of HealthMAP
Laboratories, Inc. (subsequently renamed the Biophysical Corporation) did not constitute a usurpation of an RBM
corporate opportunity and that RBM has the necessary contractual license rights under its-existing agreement with
the Company to perform certain testing services on behalf of BioPhysical Corporation. On May 19, 2005, we filed
an -answer. to this complaint. denying all claims brought by RBM. On. June 21, 2005, the parties entered into an
agreement, which was subséquently:entered with:the:court on June 22, 2005. ;Rursuant to this’ agreement, the parties
agreed that RBM would not file any-claims related to this matter against the Company until August.1, 2005, and that
the Company would; not.file _any:claims ‘related;to. this/matter :against RBM until ‘August 16,:2005; in order to
continue to pursue:settlement negotiations.- The-parties-were unable to réach agreement-on the terms:of settlement.
RBM re-filed. its- lawsuit-against us:on August 12, 2005, seeking a declaratory” judgment against’ us: as set: forth
1 above. . In response, we re-filed its -answer. and -counterclaims against. RBM, as, well as new claims-against Mark
| Chandler and-Craig. Benson, ofﬁcers of, RBM -oh August 19;.2005. The partles are currently proceedmg wrth

discovery. . G s e . C e A Lo
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NOTE 14 GUARANTEES

The terms and condmons of the Companys devel0pment and supply and lrcense agreements«wrth its strategrc
partners generally provide for.a 'limited ‘indemnification of such partners; arising from-the sale of Luminex Systems
and consumables;- against losses, expenses and liabilities resulting” from - third-party claims: based on an alleged
infringement on an-intellectual property right. of ‘such third party: The terms of such indemnification’provisions
generally limitithe‘scope of and remedies. for such indemnification obligations:*To date; the Company-has not had to
relmburse any of its. strategrc partners for any losses arising from such mdemnrﬁcatlon obhganons S

i1 : TR AU LRV . e oA . PR GO

NOTEI5 GEOGRAPHICINFORMATION R e RRTE

We operate in one. busrness segment blologrcal testrng in the llfe sciences: 1ndustry The table below provrdes
1nformat10n regarding product: revenues: from ‘our- sales to customers w1th1n thek Umted States and 'in? forergn
countnes for the years ended December 31 (in thouSands) e R o

2005 2004 2003

[ R A T

826965 § 18243

L e

) s710 1020
Toas T T
L 2073 . .59

NOTE 16 SETTLEMENTOFLITIGATION R A CRRER D (PR
E_L)ll. N l S Ey ) ‘; i A .-{ w o N ’ . < o L ‘.Js‘ 0o ;:' S :

As a result of a procedural omrssmn ‘the Company is- unable to'pursue.a’ patent in. Japan which corresponds 1o
some: of "the:/Company’s :issued:U.S; ‘patents; related . to.the. iCompany’s method of: freal time” :detection:and
quantification‘of multiple analytes from a.single sample. On-January 31,2000, the Company: filed a-lawsuit'inTravis
County; Texas: state-district:court. alleging imegligence-and breach :of contract-onthe part of. the defendants -ini<this
matter. On March:7;:2003, the parties’ executed a-full] final and complete release regarding such. action, without:an
admission’:of liability-or. wrongdoing oen-the part:of the ‘defendants. ‘As. consideration 'in connection .with:the
settlement: and. release the Company recelved approx1mately $l 8. mllllon net of legal and related ‘costs” and
expenses Sy e e i T Ll stk ‘

: On November 18 2004 Dynal Blotech LLC (“Dynal”) ﬂled a eomplamt in Federal Court in. the Westem
District -of . Wisconsim against-Luminex::Corporation seeking 'a= declaratory-judgment to-enjoin Luminex ‘from
interfering with an agreement between Dynal and one of Luminex’s partners, MiraiBio Corporation, which granted
development and distribution rights to Dynal of certain Luminex technology. On January 18, 2005, we filed an
answer to thé ‘complaint. défiyinig Dynal’s allegations‘and ‘seeking dismiissal and: fited countetclaims agdinst Dyial on
the basis that Dynal improperly used Luminex technology and as a result, Has:damdaged  Luminex 'and’its partner’s
position in the marketplace. On June 30, 2005, the parties entered into a confidential settlement agreement, which
was subsequently entered with the court on July 7, 2005, with a stipulation signed by the parties dismissing all
claims with prejudice. Luminex recorded $322,000 of expense in the second quarter of 2005 related to Luminex’s
portion of the settlement among Dynal Biotech, LLC, MiraiBio Corporation and Luminex Corporation.

NOTE 17 - RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In December 2004, the FASB revised SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," which
established the fair-value-based method of accounting as preferable for share-based compensation awarded to
employees and encouraged, but did not require entities to adopt it until July 1, 2005. On April 14, 2005, the
Securities and Exchange Commission announced that it would provide for a phased-in implementation process that
allowed non-small business registrants with a fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 an extension until January 31,
2006 to adopt SFAS No. 123(R). SFAS No. 123(R) eliminates the alternative to use APB Opinion No. 25,

535880 ..3,.26297
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"Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees," which allowed entities to account for. share-based: compeiisation
arrangements with employees according to the intrinsic value method. SFAS No. 123(R) requires the measurement
of the cost of employee services. received in exchange for anaward of.equity instruments based on: the grant-daté fair
value of the award.. The cost:will be, recognized over the:period during which an employee is-required:to.provide
service in exchange for the-award: No; compensation-costis fecognized for equity instruments for which- employecs
do not-render service. The Company-has adopted SFAS, No:; 123(R) as of January 1, 2006, requiring compensation
cost-to be recorded as  expense for the portion of outstandmg unvested awards, based on the grant-date fair: value of
those awards. We will use the modified prospective method. for transition which requires-that compensation-expense
be recorded for all unvested stock options beginning onthe adoption date. As permitted by SFAS No. 123, the
Company currently accounts for share-based payments to employees.fusing:APB No. 25 s“intrinsic value, mgthod
and, as such, generally recognizes no compensation cost for employee stock options. Accordingly, the adoption of
SFAS No.. 123(R)!s fair value.method will have’ a significant impact on::the;-Company?®s- results ;of -operations,
although it will, have no,;impactionithe.Company’s overall.financial position.. The:impact.of adoption, of;SFAS
No.123(R) cannot be predicted at this time because it will.depend on levels of share:based payments. granted.in:the
future; however,.as of January 1 2006 there was approximately $5.2 million of estimated future option expense

‘rélated to unvested stock options. ~

In November 2004 the FASB 1ssued 'SFAS No. ‘151, “Inventory Costs — An Amendment of ARB No. 43,

. Chapter 4,” which clarifies that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handlmg"costs and wasted
"materials (spoﬂage) be recogmzed as cutrent period chatges. It also requires that allocation of fixed production

overheads to the costs of conversion be based on'the normal capacity of the production’ facﬂmes SFAS 151 is

- _effective. for 1nventory costs. 1ncurred during fiscal years beginning’ after June 15, 2005. The' adoptlon of SFAS No.
151 Wlll not have.a material 1mpact on-our results of operations or financial position.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections - a replacement of
APB Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes” (APB 20), and FASB; Statement No.: 3, “Reporting Ac’eonntiﬁ‘g
Changes in Interim Financial Statements” (SFAS 154). APB 20 previously required that most voluntary changes in

accounting principles be recognized: by:including. in net iricome.ofithe period-of the change the:cumulative effect of

changirig to-the new accounting-principlé. SFAS 154 requues\retrospectlve ;application topriorpétiods’ “financial
statements: of .changes. in :accounting principles, unless:it is:impracticable sto-deterniine: either: thesperiod-specific
effects or.the. cumulative effect-of the:change.  SFAS 154 also requires:that retrospectiveapplication-of aichange:in
accounting principle: be:limited to: the! direct effects.of ithe change.i-Indirect-effects. of a4 ¢change’inzan aCcounting
principle, such as-a change innondiscretionary: profit- -sharing payments resulting from-an accournting.change; should
be.-recognized in the.period of the accounting:change.:SEAS: 154 also're_qulres,_ that-a change. in..depreciation,
amortization, or depletion method for long-lived, nonfinancial ‘assets be accounted for as a change in accounting
estimate effected by a change in accounting principle. SFAS 154 is effective for accounting changes and corrections
of-errors made in:fiscal years beginning. after December:15, 2005 We:will ladopt the!provisions -of-SFAS:154
effectwe January 1, 2006 The. 1mpact of:SFAS 154 w111 depend on:an accountmg change, Af any in a fiture period.!
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ITEM 94. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluatron of Dlsclosure Controls and Procedures

STt

! -We maintain drsclosure controls and' procedures as deﬁned in Rule 13a—15(e) promulgatedj nder the Secuntres
Exchange:Act of 1934:(the “Exchange A¢t”), Which are designed to ¢hsure that'information required tobe disclosed
by-us-in the:repotts’that wefile ot sibmit under the Exchange Act is recorded; processed; suminarizéd: *and reported
within the time periéds: speCified’ in the Securities and:Exchange: Cotnmission’s niles. a#d ‘forms-and-‘that’such
information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including Giir Chigf Executive-Officef and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. We carried out an
evaluation, under :the: supervision “and: with"the ‘participation of our managementw 1ncludrng ‘ottr: Cliief Execlitive
Officer and Chief Financial:Officet; of the effectiveness of the design and' operation of our’disclosure controls-arid
procedure as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on the evaluation and criteria of these disclosure
controls and procedures, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finanéial:Officer: conclided that-éur disclosure
controls and procedures were effectrve

S o RIS EE P Loy
fhu 7w T, . S TR

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Fmancral Reporting g

Our'‘manageinent .is responsible: -for "establishing and” mdintaining ‘adequate”intérial control-*ever-financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a1%5(f) ‘and: 15d-15(f) Undér- thet supervision and with
the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we
conducted an evaluation’of the effectiveness of out initernal Control over financial reportlng asof Décember 31, 2005

el

based: on the framework in *Internal: Control—l‘ntegrated Frathework - lssued by the Commxtteex of Sponso n

internal contro!l over financial reporting was effectrve as of December 31, 2005. Because of its 1nherent hmrtatrons,
internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect mistatements. Projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject’to the risks that ‘controls may become‘ iadeqiiate becatse of changes in

condmons or that the degree of comphance wrth the pohcres or procedures may deterlorate

N DREEEE Tt . MR
ST IELN v R AT FEREC AN S PR

as stated in their report which is provrded at Item'8; page 37.

Changes in-Internal: Control Qver: Frnancral Reportmg N T ot IS LIt I I PR LB SR SRR T ST S

LT

There were no changes in our 1nterna1 control over ﬁnancral reportrng rdentlﬁed in connectlon w1th the
evaluation required by Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(d) during the fourth quarter of 2005 that have materially affected,
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART I
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this Item concerning our dtrectors aud1t commnttee and audrt comm1ttee ﬁnanmal
experts, code of ethics' and comphance with Section 16(a) .of the ‘Exchange Act is incorporated:by, reference to
information;under.the caption “Proposal 1 - Election of.Directors” and to the information under: the caption. “Section
16(a) Beneficial Ownership. Reporting: Compliance™ in our definitive, proxy: statement;for our 2006, annual meeting
of stockholders to.be held. on.or.about May 25, 2006 (the “Proxy. Statement”) Our Proxy Statement will be filed
with the Securities and- Exchange Commlssmn not later than Aprll 28, 2006 ToneroniL o A

Pursuant to General Instructmn G(3), certam 1nformatlon w1th respect to our, execuuve ofﬁcers I8 set forth under
the captlon “Executlve Off icers; of the Regxstrant -in Item 4 of this Annual Report on’ Form 10 K

ITEM II- EXECUTIVECOMPENSATION:Z

Information required by this item is 1ncorporated by reference to the sectxon of the Proxy Statement entntled
“Executive Compensation and Related Matters B T Y S T I LIPS T

ITEM 12.- SECURI TY OWNERSHIP. OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMEN T AND
RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS . ‘ o e

“Security Ov‘vnershln of Cer‘tam‘ Beneﬁc1al Owners and Management” and “Securmes Authorlzed for Issuance
Under Equ1ty Compensatlon Plans » : i,

fp b

1 TEM 13 CERTAIN RE, 'TIONSHIPS AND RELA TED T RANSAC TIONS

Information required by thls Item is mcorporated by reference‘ to the sectlon of the Proxy Statement entrtled
“Certain Relatxonshlps and Related Party Transacttons s oo : S

ITEM 14 PRINCIPLE ACCOUN TANT FEES AND SER VICES

Information required by thlS Item is incorporated by:reference to*the section of the Proxy Statement-entitled:-
“Ratnﬁcatlon of Appomtment of Independent Reglstered Pubhc Accountants

e
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ITEM 15, EXHIBITS AND' FINANCIAL STATEMENTSCHEDULES e

(a) The followmg documents are ﬁled asa part of thxs Annual Report on Form lO _K

’(1) Financial Statersiefits: ©~

Py

| ";(2) F1nanc1al Statement Schedules

All; schedules ‘are omitted because, they are not. apphcable or:the, requxred mformahon is shown inthe Financial
© Statémeénts-or:in the notes thereto Sn b , R Co . L

(3) Exhibits:

EXHIBIT , L o g - L
NUMBER B DESCRIPTION OF DOCUMENT

2»'.'1‘- i Asset Purchase Agreement effectrve as: of September 5 2002 by andiamong Rules-Based Med1c1ne
Inc., Lumiiex Gorporation ‘and- RBM- Acquisition; Inc. (Pursuant to Item ‘601 (b)(2):6f'Reégulation S-K,

_the schedules to this agreement are omitted, but will be provided supplementally to the Commission

17 upon requiest) (Prey"' " filed as‘an’ b't‘to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K- dated
‘Sépternber 10 2002): :

3.1  Restated Certlﬁcate of Incorporatron of the Company (Prevrously ﬁled as an Exhlbrt to the Company $
‘i‘-Regrstratron Statement on Form~S-l (Frle No 333 96317) ﬁled F ebruary 7 2000 as amended) "

32  Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (Prev1ously ﬁled as an® Exhrblt to’ the Company ]
Regrstratlon Statement on F orm S 1 (F 1le No 333 96317) ﬁled F ebruary 7 2000 as amended)
4E nghts Agreement dated as of June 20 2001 between Lummex Corporatlon and Mellon Irivestor
Services, LLC, as Rights Agent which inclides 4s Exhibit A the form of Certificate of Designations of
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock setting forth the terms of the Series A Junior Part1c1pat1ng
“+7 A Preferred: Stock, as Exhibit B the form of nghts Certificate and as Exhibit C the Summiary of Rights* -
. "’(Prev1ously ﬁled ‘as Exhlbrt 4 to the Company s Current Report o Form 8 K dated June 21 2001).

10.1# 1996 Stock Optlon Plan of the Company, as amended (Prevtously ﬁled as an Exh1b1t to the Company s
! "Regrstration Staternent on Form 8- l (Flle No 333 96317) ﬁled February 7, 2000 as amended)

10.2# Form of Stock Optron Agreement for the' 1996 Stock Option Plan (Prev1ously ﬁled as an; Exhlbrt to the
Company’s Regrstratron Statement on Form S 1 (Frle No 333 963 17) ﬁled February 7 2000 as
:‘*vamended) ok EARN

10.3# Form of Incentlve Stock Opt1on Agreement for the 1996 Stock Optron Plan (Prevrously filed as an
Exhibit to the Company s Reglstratron Statement on Form S 1 (Flle No 333 963 l7) ﬁled February 7
s 2000 ‘as amended B

10.4# 2000 Long Term Incent1ve Plan of the Company, as amended (Prevrously ﬁled as an Exhlbrt to the
Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10 -Q for the quarterly penod ended March 31 2002)

105# ‘H-Form of Stock @ptlon Award Agreement for the: 2000 Long~Term Incentlve Plan (Prev1ously ﬁled as an
Exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No.:333-96317), filed February 7,
2000, as amended).




10.6#
10.7#

10.8+
10.9+

©10.10

10.11+

10.12+

10.14#

10.15#

'10.1,{5:#‘\,
10.174 -
10.18%

10.19%

10.20#

10.21#

2001 Broad-Based Stock Option Plan of tlie Company (Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal:year:ended December 30, 2001).

Form of Option Grant Certificate for the:2001 Broad-Based Stock.Option:Plan (Previously filed as an .
Exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2001)

Development and Supply Agreement dated as of March 19, 1999 by and between the Company and
Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc. (Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Reglstratlon Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-96317), filed February 7, 2000, as amended).

Amendment to Development and 'Supply'Agreement dated as of 'Jéﬁu'ai?y 13, 2000 by and betwéer the
Company and Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc. (Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company s Reglstratron
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333- 96317) ﬁled February 7, 2000, as ariended). -

“Second: Améendmetit to Development arid Supply Agreemerit dated as‘of June 12; 2000 by and between

the Company and Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc. (Previously filed as an Exhibit to-the’‘Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000)

Distribution, Development and Supply Agreement dated as of August 6 2001 by and between the '
Company and Miraibio, Inc (Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30 2001) . .

Agreement for Electronic Manufacturmg Serv1ces dated as of January 1, 2000 by and between the

* Company-and-Sanmina Coerperation (Previously filed as.an Exhibit to the Company’s Regrstratron
- Statement, on Form.$-1 (File No. 333 -96317), filed February-7,.2000, as-amended). .

,_Form of Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between the Company and each of Randel S.
.= Marfin, James W. Jacobson; Ph.D. and Oliver H. Meek (Previously filed as an Exhibit to the

Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the perlod ended June 30, 2002).

Management Serv1ces Agreement effectrve as of August 12 2002 by and between Lummex
Corporation and Thomas W. Erickson (Previously filed as an Exhrbrt to the Company $ Current Report

..on Form 8- K dated September 10, 2002)

Flrst Amendment to Management Servmes Agreement by and between Lumlnex Corporatlon and

- Thomas W. Erickson; dated March 1, 2003, (Previously filed as an:Exhibit to the Company s Annual
)Report on Form.10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31;-2002). -

Second Amendment to Management Serv1ces Agreement by and between Lummex Corporanon and
Thomas W. Erickson, dated September 1, 2003 {Previously filed as.an Exhrbrt to\the Company’s

- Quarterly Report of Form 10-Q for the quarterly period endmg June 30 2003)

‘iAmendment to Second Amendment to Management Servrces Agreement by and between Lummex

Corporation and Thomas W. Erickson (Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company s Quarterly

o Report of Form 10- Q for the quarterly perlod endmg September 30,.2003). -

Third Amendment to Management Servrces Agreement by and between Lummex Corporatron and

Thomas W. Erickson, dated December 11, 2003 (Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company s
Annual Report on; Form 10-K for the ﬁsoal year ended December 31, 2003) .
Fourth Amendment to Management Serv1ces Agreement by and between Lummex Corporatlon and
Thomas W. Erickson, dated March 12, 2004 ( Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company s
Quarterly Report on-Form 10-K for: the ﬁscal year ended December 31, 2003) Coa

Consultant Agreement effectxve as of September 5 2002 by and between Mark B Chandler Ph.D. and

- Luminex Corporation (Previously filed asan: Exh1b1t to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K
- dated September-10, 2002). ; ‘ P,

Form of Indemnification Agreement dated May 22, 2002 between the Company and each of the

Mty R,



10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26#

10.27#

10.28#

10.29%

10.30#

10.31#

10.32#

10.33#

10.34#

10.35#
21.1
23.1
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directors and officers of the Company (Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company s Quarterly
Report.on-Form 10-Q for; the perxod ended June 30; 2002) . L e o

Lease Agreement between Aetna ere Insurance Company, as Landlord and Lummex Corporatron as

. Tenant, dated October 19, 2001 (Previously filed asan Exhrbrt to the Company s Form 10- Q for the

quarterly penod ended September 30,.2001).

_First Amendment to Lease Agreement between Aetna Life Insurance Company, as Landlord, and .

Luminex Corporatxon as Tenant, dated July 25, 2002. (Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company )
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2002).

Lease Amendment between McNexl 4 & 5 Investors, LP as Landlord and Lummex Corporatlon as

Tenant, dated January 27, 2003 (Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on

Form 10 K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002).

Sublease Agreement dated as of May 2 2002 by and’between the Company and AAmeri'c’ﬂarf.inhoyations :

-Ltd., for facilities situated at 12112 Technology Boulevard, Austin, Texas 78727 (Previously filed as an
Exhxbrt to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10 Q for the perrod ended June 30 2002)

'Employment Agreement, effective as of October 1, 2003 by and between Luminex Corporatlon and
Harriss T. Currie (Previously filed as an Exhibit to 'the Company s Annual Report on form 10 K for the
fiscal year ended Deceémber 31, 2003). 2 : :

Employment Agreement effective as of October 1, 2003, by and between Luminex Corporation and
David S. Reiter (Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2003).

Employment Agreement effective as of May 15, 2004, by and between Luminex Corporation and
Patrick J. Balthrop (Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
May 17, 2004).

Employment Agreement effective as of October 25, 2004, by and between Luminex Corporationband
Gregory J. Gosch (Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form §-K dated
October 22, 2004).

Employment Agreement effective as of May 23, 2005, by and between Luminex Corporation and
Russell W. Bradley (Prevrously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8-K
dated May 23, 2005)

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for the 2000 Long-Term Incentive Plan and 2001 Broad-Based
Stock Option Plan (Previdusly filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarterly period ended September 30, 2004).

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement dated as of May 15, 2004, by and between Luminex
Corporation and Patrick J. Balthrop (Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated May 17, 2004).

Director Compensation Policy (Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’ s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004).

Executive Officer Compensation Summary (Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Company’ s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2005).

Form of Amendment to Executive Employment Agreements.
Subsidiaries of the Company.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Power of Attorney (incorporated in the signature page of this report).

i
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311 Certification by CEO pursuant to Securities afid Exclisnge Act Rules 13a14(a) and 15d — 14(a), as
adopted pursuant to Sectlon 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 B

312 - Certlf‘catlon' by CFO pursuant to Securmes and Exchange Act Rules 3a—14(a) and 15d - 1‘-4(a) as’

adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- -Oxley/Aét of 20027 © i Hi

the Securities Act and Rule 24b-2 promulgated ‘under the Secuntles Exchange Act w h"pomons are
..omitted and- ﬁ],ed‘separately w1th the Securmes and Exchange, Commxssmn T P
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. SIGNATURES,
Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant
has duly: caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on March 16,
2006. .

LUMINEX CORPORATION =

By: /s/ Patrick J. ‘Balthrop
Patrick J. Balthrop . v
President and Chief Executlve Ofﬁcer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENT, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes
and appoints Patrick J. Balthrop and Harriss T. Currie, each his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full
power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign
any and all amendments to this Report, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and
agents, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done
in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that said attomeys-in-fact and agents, or their substitutes or substitute, may lawfully do or cause to be
done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

SIGNATURES TITLE DATE

/s/ Patrick J. Balthrop President and Chief Executive Officer, March 16, 2006
Patrick J. Balthrop Director (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Harriss T. Currie Chief Financial Officer, VP - Finance and  March 16, 2006
Harriss T. Currie Treasurer (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Kristi M. Richburg Controller March 16, 2006
Kristi M. Richburg (Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Robert J. Cresci Director March 16, 2006
Robert J. Cresci

/s/ Thomas W. Erickson , Director March 16, 2006
Thomas W. Erickson

/s/ Fred C. Goad, Jr. Director March 16, 2006
Fred C. Goad, Ir.

/s/ Jay B. Johnston Director March 16, 2006
Jay B. Johnston

/s/ Jim D, Kever Director March 16, 2006
Jim D. Kever

S-1




/s/ G. Walter Loewenbaum I Cﬁ'ﬁii‘ﬁi&ﬁ*é‘fﬁféBoard of Directors, ‘ March 16, 2006
G. Walter LoewenbaumIl ~ ~ Director

S

. /S/KevinM, McNamara' - Dirctor .. oo March 16,2006
Kevin M. McNamara ' i

i /s/J. Stark Thompson .. . . Director - ‘ March 16, 2006
J. Stark Thompson o - o

L Y

s/ Getard Vaillaat "~~~ " Ditectors | March 16, 2006

Gerard Vaillant - 5. -~
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I, Patrick J. Balthrop, certify that:

CERTIFICATION

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10 K of Lummex Corporatron
2. Based on my knowledge, this’ annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a materral fact or omit to

statea materidl ‘fact necessary:to: hake the  statements ‘made, - in* light - of -the | crrcumstances urider whrch such
statements were made, not’ mrsleadmg with respect to the perrod covered by thrs annuali report Dawthor o

Wy A PR L TR ; . T LUFTYE L

3. Based on my knowledge the financial statements, and other ﬁnancral information included in this report
fairly present in-all material respects the:financial condition, results of operatrons and cash ﬂows of the regrstrant as
of,:and for, the periods-presented in thrs annual report; © 0 sk ca bR $

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing andmaintaining disclosure
controls ‘and: procedures (as :defined in Exchange “Act:Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and’ internal - control over
financial: reportrng (as deﬁned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(r) and 15d 15(1)) for the regrstrant ‘and have

a) Desrgned such drsclosure controls and procedures or caused such dlsclosure controls and procedures to be
désigned:sunder our. supervrsron to'-ensure * that: material “informatioiv- relating” to: thé: régistrant;- thcluding 1ts
consolidated subsidiaries, is' made’ known: to us: by others wrthrn those entltres part1cularly durrng the perrod in
whiclrthis annual report is being prepared; - N T ; o

¥

ST T R S LR
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supérvision; to. provide-reasonable assurance regarding ‘the reliability-of financial
reporting :and the preparation’of: ﬁnancral statements for extemal purposes in’ accordance w1th generally accepted
accounting principles;  © U ane oo ST SN S R SRR :

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in thrs report
our.conclusions-about the effectiveness of: the drsclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the penod covered
by-this report based on suchievaluation; and: 1, 5 o 0w prmsiaat o » LT

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the régistrant’s'most recent fiscal quarter(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in'the ‘casé of an-annual‘réport)
that has materially affected ‘oris reasonably hkely to materrally affect the reglstrant ’s 1ntemal control over ﬁnanC1al
reporting; and oL et uiia ol s LAt wloar e e e L L : RS :

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting; to-the registrant’s auditors: and the audit- ‘committee- of the regrstrant s board of
directors (or-persons performing the‘equivalent.functions): : » LS

! Lo P T

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial -reporting rwhich: are” reasonably" lrkely to. adversely affect the regrstrant 5 abllrty to record process
summarize and report financial information; and?> : ~ : s RAE A

TR

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a srgnrﬁcant role

in'the registrant’s .internal control over financial reporting;

Date: March 16, 2006

By: /s/ Patrick J. Balthrop
Patrick J. Balthrop
President and Chief Executive Officer

B -8




CERTIFICATION

I, Harriss T. Currie, certify that:

l I have revrewed this annual report on Form lO K of Lummex Corporatlon
2 Based on my knowledge thrs annual report does not contarn any untrue statement of a matenal fact or om1t to
state a material fact necessary:to: make -the -statements: made; in: light:of the. cncumstances ;under which :such

statements were made not mrsleadmg with respect to the perlod covered by this annual Teport;
S Sy ol e L el ooty : S
3. Based -on my knowledge the ﬁnanc1al statements and other ﬁnanclal mformatlon mcluded in, thrs report,
farrly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of. operations and cash flows:of. the registrant as
of, and for the perrods presented in this annual report

e

4 :The regrstrant s other~ certxfymg ofﬁcers and 1 -are: responsrble -fot establrshmg and mamtammg dlsclosure
controls and procedures (as-defined ‘in. Exchange Act'Rules 13a-15(e)-and 15d-15(e)) ‘and internal control over
financial reportmg (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(t) and 15d-1 S(t)) for the reglstrant and have:

LTI S

: a) De51gned such dlsolosure controls and procedures 0T caused such dlsclosure controls and procedures to.be

desrgned under-iour supervision, .t0; ensure that -material information-relating -to- the -registrant, 1nc1ud1ng its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly .during the:period. iin
Wthh th1s annual report is bemg prepared

o b) Des1gne, uch nternal control ;OVer.: ﬁnanc1al rcportmg, or; caused rsuch mternal control -over ﬁnanctal
reporting to. be: desrgned under our. supervision, to previde reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally- accepted
accountmg prmc1ples

‘,? - . . . L . s RFE

c) Evaluated ther eﬁ’ectweness of the regrstrant s: drsclosure controls and procedures and presented in th1s report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures; as of the.end of the perrod covered
by this report based on such evaluatron and

STy

e T S e Do By

d) D1sclosed in- thrs report any. change mn the reglstrant S. mtemal control over. ﬁnancral reportmg that occurred
durmg ithe-registrant’s'most recent.fiscal-quarter-(the registrant’s fourth: fiscal quarter in the-case of an.annual report)
that has materxally affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reportmg, and :

- The. reglstrantrs other certxfymg ofﬁcers and I have d1sclose¢ based on our most recent evaluatlon of mternal

“control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors:-and:the :audit committee of the:registrant’s board of

dlrectors (or persons performmg the equlvalent functlons)

a) All 51gn1ﬁcant deﬁc1encres and matenal weaknesses in the des1gn or operat1on of mternal control over
ﬁnancral reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability. to,record. ‘process,
summarize and report ﬁnancral mformatlon and

£y

b) Any fraud whether or not materlal that mvolves management or other employees who have A srgmﬁcant role

. inthe registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2006

By: /s/ Harriss T. Currie
Harriss T. Currie
Vice President - Finance
Chief Financial Officer

Treasurer

e v




CERTIFICATION RURSUANT TO
18 U.S,C.-SECEION 1350,
S + AS; ADOPTED PURSUA T:TO " ok
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT OF 2002

o,

Patrick J. Balthrop, Presxdent and Chlef Executwe Ofﬁcerj of the Cornpany, certxfy, pursuant to 18 U S C §1359 as
adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, that

G dviiry i enad aaT (0
(l) The Report fully comphes thh the requlrements of Sectlon 13(a) or lS(d) of the Securmes Exchange
Act of 1934; and
e (2) The 1nformat1on contamed in the Repon falrly presents in all matenal respects the ﬁnancxal condmon
and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ PATRICK J. BALTHROP
Patrick J. Balthrop :
President and Chief Executive Officer
March 16, 2006
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
"~ 18US.C- SECTION 1350, % -
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT- TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Lummex Corporatron (the “Company ) on Form 10-K for the period ended
Décember 31; 2005, as filed with the ‘Securities-and ‘Exchange ‘Corimission -on the date heréof {the “Report”), 11,
Harriss'T! Cume Vrce Président - Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of the Company, cemfy pursuant
to 18°U’S.C- §1350; as adopied- pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 that :

(1) The Report fully comphes wrth the requrrements of Sectron 13(a) or 15(d) of the Secuntres Exchange
Act'of 1934i'and "7 -

(2) The information contained in the Report farrly presents m all materral Tespects, the ﬁnancral condmon
and résults of operations’of the Company. P b :

oot

/s/ HARRISS T. CURRIE
Harriss T. Currie

Vice President — Finance - o SR o
Chief Financial Officer o i A
Treasurer :

March 16, 2006
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United States Hea;dquartérs

Luminex Corporation
12212 Technology Boulevard
Austin, Texas 78727
512-219-8020

Europe
Luminex B.V.
Krombaak 15
4906 Oosterhout
The Netherlands
+31-16 240 8333

Independent Registered Public Accountants

Ernst & Young L.L.P;
Austin, Texas

Annual Meeting of Stockholders
The annual meeting of stockholders wiil be held on

Thursday, May 25, 2006, at 10:00 a.m. local time at the
Hilton Austin Airport Hotel, Austin, Texas.

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Mellon Investor Services, L.L.C.
480 Washington Boulevard

Jersey City, New Jersey 07310

866-635-6965

Form 10K/Investor Contact
A copy of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10K, filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission, may be
obtained from the Company at no charge. Requests for the
Annual Report on Form 10-K and other investor informa-
tion should be directed to Investor Relations at the
Company’s corporate office or www.luminexcorp.com or
by e-mail to: investor@ uminexcorp.com

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking

Statements
This report contains forward-looking statements (all
statements other than those made solely with respect
to historical fact) within the meaning of Section 21E of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933. These forward looking
statements are subject to known and unknown risks’
and uncertainties (some of which are beyond the
Company’s control) that could cause actual results to
differ materially and adversely from those anticipated
in the forward-looking statements. See the Company’s
10-K filing for more detailed disclosure regarding for-
ward-looking statements and associated risks and

uncertainties.
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